
 
AGENDA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
5000 CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 
 

October 10, 2017 
 
 
 
ADJOURNED MEETING:  Mayfair Park Water Capture Project 6:00 p.m. 
 EXECUTIVE BOARD ROOM 
 
CALL TO ORDER 7:30 p.m. 
 
INVOCATION:  Dr. Fardad Mogharabi, The Bahá’í Faith Community 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Boy Scout Troop 65 
 
ROLL CALL: Mayor Diane DuBois 
 Vice Mayor Steve Croft 
 Council Member Ron Piazza 
 Council Member Todd Rogers 
 Council Member Jeff Wood 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS: 
Presentation by Karen Harmon, Committee Chairperson, Lakewood Rotary Club Regarding Project 
Shepherd 
 
ROUTINE ITEMS: 
All items listed within this section of the agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion without separate discussion.  Any Member of Council may request an item be removed for 
individual discussion or further explanation.  All items removed shall be considered immediately 
following action on the remaining items. 
 
RI-1 Approval of Minutes of the Meetings held September 12, and September 26, 2017 
 
RI-2 Approval of Personnel Transactions 
 
RI-3 Approval of Registers of Demands 
 
RI-4 Approval of Establishing Fees for Wireless Telecommunications Related Permits, Resolution 

No. 2017-53 
 
RI-5 Approval of Agreement with Tyler Technologies Inc. “MUNIS” for Accounting Software Licenses 

and Support 
 
RI-6 Adoption of Resolutions No. 2017-54 and No. 2017-55; Affirming Budgeted Projects Funded by 

the Road Maintenance Rehabilitation Account 
 



City Council Agenda 
October 10, 2017 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Any qualified individual with a disability that would exclude that individual from participating in or attending the above meeting should contact the City 
Clerk’s Office, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, CA, at 562/866-9771, ext. 2200; at least 48 hours prior to the above meeting to ensure that reasonable 

arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting or other reasonable auxiliary aids or services may be provided. 
 

Copies of staff reports and other writings pertaining to this agenda are available for public review during regular business hours 
in the Office of the City Clerk, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, CA  90712 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
1.1 Review of the Decision of the Planning and Environment Commission on Conditional Use Permit 

No. 948, 6741 Carson Street, Resolution No. 2017-52 
 
1.2 Award of Bid for Public Works Project No. 2017-6; Entry Gate Improvements to the Existing 

Equestrian Center, 11369 East Carson Street 
 
1.3 Introduction of Ordinance No. 2017-8; Pertaining to the Date of the General Municipal Election 
 
REPORTS: 
3.1 Master License Agreement for Telecommunications Wireless Facilities on Public Rights-of-Way 
 
3.2 Support of Taking Back Our Community Coalition, Resolution No. 2017-56 
 
 

AGENDA 
LAKEWOOD HOUSING SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

1.  Approval of Register of Demands 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 RI-1 

 Routine Item 1 – City Council Minutes 
 
 will be available prior to the meeting. 





RI-2 

  COUNCIL AGENDA 
                                                                                                                         October 10, 2017 
 
 
TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Report of Personnel Transactions 
 

Effective 
Name Title  Schedule Date     

 
1.  FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 
A. Appointments 

 None 
    

B. Changes 
 Michael Cracium Park Maintenance Lead Worker 18A 09/24/2017 
  Environmental Resources Supervisor 27B   
  
C. Separations 
 None 

      
2. PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 
A. Appointments 

 Daniel Lopez Gonzalez  Maintenance Trainee I B 09/24/2017 
 
B. Changes  

None 
   

C. Separations  
 Daniel Pulido Maintenance Trainee II B 10/06/2017 
 Drake Jasso Maintenance Services Aide IV B 10/06/2017 
 Jeff Jones Maintenance Trainee II B 09/22/2017 
 Michael Meadow Maintenance Trainee I B 10/06/2017 
 
 
 

   Thaddeus McCormack 
   City Manager 





jmayberr
Typewritten Text
RI-3

















 





RI-4 

 COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 10, 2017 

 
 
TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Wireless Telecommunications Fees 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
On June 13, 2017, the City Council adopted Ordinance 2017-6, regarding wireless 
communication facilities in the public rights-of-way.  The attached resolution allows the city to 
adopt fees for the recovery of overhead costs associated with the processing of wireless 
telecommunications related permits. 
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
An applicant that wishes to install wireless communication facilities in the public rights-of-way 
on city-owned poles will be subject to the following fee: 
 
Master License Preparation Fee – this fee is to recoup city staff costs to review and execute the 
Master License Agreement between the city and the applicant. 
 
Pole License Processing Fee – this fee is to recoup costs incurred by city staff to review a pole 
license application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that the City Council adopt the proposed resolution establishing a fee for the 
recovery of overhead costs associated with the processing of wireless telecommunication related 
permits. 
 
 
Paolo Beltran     Thaddeus McCormack 
Assistant to the City Manager   City Manager 



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-53 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD ADOPTING FEES FOR THE RECOVERY OF 
OVERHEAD COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROCESSING 
OF WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS RELATED 
PERMITS 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES RESOLVE AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The City Council of the City of Lakewood finds that applicants for Wireless 
Telecommunications related permits should pay sufficient fees to reasonably recover the total 
costs associated with the processing, storage and retrieval of Wireless Telecommunications 
related permit applications and that these activities should not be subsidized by funding from the 
City’s General Fund. 
 
SECTION 2.  The City Council finds and determines that the fees established by this Resolution 
do not exceed the amounts reasonably required to administer or process such permits, certificates 
or other forms or documents or to defray the cost of enforcement of the provisions of the 
pertinent Codes, and that the fees do not exceed the estimated reasonable costs of providing such 
services.  Such finding and determination is applicable to present fees as well as potential future 
increases. 
 
SECTION 3.  Pursuant to Chapter 7 in Article VII of the Lakewood Municipal Code, the fees 
and charges set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof, are hereby adopted. 
 
SECTION 4.  The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution and henceforth and 
thereafter the same shall be in full force and effect until amended or repealed by the City 
Council. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 10TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2017. 
 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
City Clerk 



Resolution No. 2017-53 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Wireless Telecommunications Facilities Fees 
 

Master License Preparation Fee $2,000 
Pole License Processing Fee $500 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





RI-5 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
      October 10, 2017 

 
 
TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 

 
SUBJECT: Agreement with Tyler Technologies Inc. “MUNIS” for Accounting Software 

Licenses and Support 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Annually the City contracts with Tyler Technologies for accounting software licensing and 
support for fifteen (15) modules and disaster recovery and off-site support services 
 
STATEMENT OF FACT 
Tyler Technologies licensing fees have increased by five percent for all but one of the modules 
from the prior year, while support services charges have remained constant.  Cost increases are 
offset by the elimination of the utility billing modules.  The Agreement includes the following: 
 

   



Council Agenda 
October 10, 2017 
Page 2 
 
 
The water utility billing and interface modules will not be renewed this fiscal year since this 
function will be transferred to Fathom later this month.  Staff will work with MUNIS to retain 
historical data in the utility module. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
It is respectfully recommended that the City Council approve the Agreement with Tyler 
Technologies, Inc. in the amount of $163,094.95 for accounting software licensing and support. 
 
 
Diane Perkin  Thaddeus McCormack 
Director of Administrative Services           City Manager 
 





RI-6 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 10, 2017 

 
TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Adoption of Resolutions No. 2017- and No. 2017-; Affirming Budgeted Projects 
Funded by the Road Maintenance Rehabilitation Account 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
The Governor of California on April 28, 2017 signed Senate Bill 1, the Road Repair and 
Accountability Act of 2017, also known as the Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account 
(RMRA), to address basic road maintenance, rehabilitation and critical safety needs on highways 
and local streets, which is funded though a per gallon fuel tax and vehicle registration fees. 
  
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
On August 8, 2017, staff presented a resolution to the City Council for approval that confirmed 
the use of RMRA funds for specific budgeted projects.  As the rulemaking and reporting 
requirements have evolved for the use of this funding, staff recommends that we now revise the 
previous resolution to include a different project that meets more defined criteria set by the CTC. 
 
Pursuant to Street and Highways Code (SHC) Section 2034, each eligible city or county prior to 
receiving an apportionment of RMRA funds is required to have identifiable capital projects in a 
budget adopted or amended by the governing body that monies provided by RMRA will fund. 
 
The City of Lakewood is projected to receive $452,279 in RMRA funds in Fiscal year 2017-
2018, which represents a partial funding year.  The following fiscal year, the amount is 
estimated at $1,356,757.  The previously approved resolution identified hardscape repair for 
$400,000, as well as two other projects, Stormwater drainage screens for $34,100 and Pavement 
Management System for $75,000.  The hardscape repair project is certainly eligible for RMRA 
funds under the category of Street Maintenance, and this was confirmed by a CTC official.  The 
other two projects would also likely have been eligible, once our Pavement Condition Index is 
certified at 80 or above.  This will be done through the preparation of a new Pavement 
Management System that Council approved on September 12th and now underway.  This 
activity will be funded with other restricted transportation funds.  
 
Once the Pavement Management System is complete and a new PCI certified at 80 or above, 
the City will have greater latitude on how to spend the RMRA funds. 
  
The proposed revised resolution now calls out the following projects for the use of the RMRA 
funds: 
 
 



RMRA Resolutions 
October 10, 2017 
Page Two 
 
 

 
 Hardscape repair in the amount of $400,000 for sidewalk and curb projects (as in 

the previous resolution) 
 Downey Avenue Overlay Project in the total amount of $200,000, to be partially 

funded with the remaining $52,279 of RMRA funds and the balance in Measure 
R funds. 

 
The Capital Improvement Budget for FY 17-18 appropriated substantial Measure R funds for 
local street overlay projects, which included Downey Avenue from Del Amo to Clubhouse.  
The recommendation is to appropriate the balance of the first year of RMRA funds to Downey 
Avenue, since it is an unquestionably eligible project.  This street segment will be included with 
the Woodruff Avenue Overlay Project which will be advertized for bid shortly. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that the City Council approve the following: 
 

1. The attached resolution rescinding Resolution 2017-45 addressing the use of RMRA 
funds, and  

2. The attached revised resolution affirming the Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Budget for the use 
of funds provided by the Road Repair and Accountability Act 

 
 
Lisa Rapp      Thaddeus McCormack 
Director of Public Works    City Manager 



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-54 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD RESCINDING RESOLUTION NO. 2017-45 
WHICH AFFIRMED THE FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 BUDGET 
FOR THE USE OF FUNDS PROVIDED BY THE ROAD 
REPAIR AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT OF 2017 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES RESOLVE AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 6.  Resolution No. 2017-45 entitled 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD AFFIRMING THE FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 
BUDGET FOR THE USE OF FUNDS PROVIDED BY THE 
ROAD REPAIR AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT OF 2017 

 
is hereby rescinded. 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 10th day of October, 2017. 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-55 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD AFFIRMING THE FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018 
BUDGET FOR THE USE OF FUNDS PROVIDED BY THE 
ROAD REPAIR AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT OF 2017. 

 
WHEREAS, The Governor of California on April 28, 2017 signed Senate Bill 1, the 

Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017, also known as the Road Maintenance and 
Rehabilitation Account (RMRA), to address basic road maintenance, rehabilitation and critical 
safety needs on highways and local streets, which is funded though a per gallon fuel tax and 
vehicle registration fees; and 
 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Street and Highways Code (SHC) Section 2034, each eligible 
city or county prior to receiving an apportionment of RMRA funds is required to have 
identifiable capital projects in a budget adopted or amended by the governing body that monies 
provided by RMRA will fund; and 
 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to SHC Section 2030, RMRA funds are to prioritized for 
expenditure on basic road maintenance and rehabilitation projects, and on critical safety projects, 
railroad grade separations, complete streets components including active transportation purposes, 
pedestrian and bicycle safety projects, transit facilities, and drainage and stormwater recapture 
projects in conjunction with any other allowable project, and traffic control devises; and 

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to SHC Section 2037, a city or county may spend its 

apportionment of RMRA funds on transportation priorities other than those outlined in SHC 
2030 if the city or county’s average Pavement condition Index (PCI) meets or exceeds 80; and 

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to SHC Section 2036, a city or county may spend its 

apportionment of RMRA funds for general fund transportation expenses in excess of the 
maintenance of effort as calculated in the Street Report as the average general fund 
expenditures for  street, road and highway purposes in fiscal years 2009-2010, 2010-2011 and 
2011-2012; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Lakewood is projected to receive $452,279 in RMRA funds in 

Fiscal Year 2017-2018. 
 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LAKEWOOD THAT: 
 
   



Resolution No. 2017-55 
Page 2 

SECTION 1.  The City of Lakewood has General Fund expenditures for roads, streets 
and highways exceeds the Street Report maintenance of effort by $1,267,059; and 

 
SECTION 2.  The City of Lakewood has the identified the following RMRA capital 

projects in the adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2017-2018: 
 Hardscape repair in the amount of $400,000 for sidewalk and curb projects 
 

The City of Lakewood has added the following RMRA funding to the Local Street Resurfacing 
capital project in the amended budget for Fiscal Year 2017-2018: 

 Local Street Resurfacing Project #60021 in the amount of $52,279, specifically:  
for the overlay paving of Downey Avenue from Del Amo Blvd. to Clubhouse 
Drive. 

 
SECTION 3. The City of Lakewood will submit to the California Transportation 

Commission for their review a list of proposed projects to be funded by RMRA by October 16, 
2017, in the format prescribed. 
 

SECTION 4. The Director of Public Works is hereby authorized to undertake such acts as 
are necessary to carry out this Resolution. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City Clerk is directed to certify to the adoption of this resolution. 
 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 10th day of October, 2017. 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 





 



1.1 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 10, 2017 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council  
 
SUBJECT: De Novo Hearing on Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
  Proposed Carwash, 6741 Carson Street 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
On July 6, 2017, the Planning and Environment Commission (PEC) adopted Resolution No. 14-
2017 approving Conditional Use Permit (CUP) No. 948 on a 4-1 vote.  CUP 948 is for the 
establishment of both a carwash with covered outdoor vacuum stations and a car service building 
on a property in the C-3 (Intermediate Commercial) zone located at 6741 Carson Street.  A 
timely appeal of the PEC’s decision was filed in accordance with Section 9407 of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code (LMC).  The appeal consisted of two letters from Arthur Pinette requesting to 
bring the matter before the City Council to overturn the decision of the PEC as well as petitions 
objecting to the project based on potential noise, traffic congestion and other issues.  The 
petitions were collected and submitted by the appellant.  
 
At its September 12, 2017 meeting, the City Council considered the appeal and voted to continue 
the hearing to conduct a hearing De Novo.  A De Novo hearing allows the City Council to 
consider new and/or additional evidence as it relates to this application rather than be limited to 
only the evidence received by the PEC.  Pursuant to LMC Section 9407.5, the City Council set 
the new hearing De Novo of CUP No. 948 for October 10, 2017.   
 
On October 2, 2017, the project proponent submitted a letter stating that he would be out of state 
and unable to attend the De Novo hearing.  He requested that the hearing be postponed and 
rescheduled to either November 14, 2017 or November 28, 2017.  It is at the discretion of the 
City Council to honor the applicant’s request to postpone the hearing to a future date or to 
proceed with the hearing as noticed. 
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
The request for CUP No. 948 was made pursuant to Section 9341.B, 9 of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code (LMC) which requires all uses to be conducted wholly within a building but 
exempts vacuums, vacuum stations, and other outdoor equipment and activities normally 
associated with a carwash as permitted in conjunction with such facilities from this requirement.  
LMC Section 9347.A allows uses permitted in the C-1 zone in the C-3 zones under the same 
specified conditions. 
 
LMC Section 9347.D.11 requires a (CUP) to establish a carwash in the C-3 zone.  That Section 
allows for “…vehicle wash racks, carwashes, or any permanent facility offering hand and/or 
mechanical washing, which includes detailing, waxing, or cleaning of non-commercial vehicles, 



De Novo Hearing - Staff report for Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
October 10, 2017 
Page 2 
 
and whether self- or full-service.  Carwash facilities may include outdoor vacuums, vacuum 
stations, and other outdoor equipment and activities normally associated with a carwash.  Other 
activities and uses may co-locate with a carwash as deemed acceptable by the Planning and 
Environment Commission.” 
 
The project site is on the north side of Carson Street, approximately 350 feet west of the 
intersection of Los Coyotes Diagonal and Carson Street.  To the north and west, across a 20-foot 
wide public alley, are single-family residential dwellings in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) 
zone.  To the east is a commercial strip center in the C-3 zone.  To the south, across Carson 
Street within the City of Long Beach, is the Heartwell golf course.  The portion of Carson Street 
adjacent to the site is within the City of Long Beach (see Vicinity Map and Aerial View).  The 
closest residential properties are approximately 20 feet north and east of the site.  The following 
table lists the land uses and zoning designations for the site and the surrounding properties. 
 

AREA EXISTING LAND USE ZONE DESIGNATION 
Subject Site Commercial C-4 (General Commercial) 

North Single-Family Homes R-1 (Single-Family Residential 
East Commercial C-4 (General Commercial) 

South Heartwell golf course P (Park - City of Long Beach) 
North Single-Family Homes R-1 (Single-Family Residential 

 
The project site is rectangular in shape and is approximately 1.11 acres in area and will have a 
net area of 1.06 acres after dedicating both an additional five-feet for alley right of way along 
portions of the north and west property lines and a 10-foot by 10-foot truncation of the northwest 
corner of the proposed carwash property.  These dedications are required by the LMC in order to 
increase the width of the alley.    
 
The site is accessed primarily from Carson Street and has 173 feet of street frontage.  The 
easterly 20 feet of the property is a vehicle easement used to access the adjacent commercial site 
and related parking spaces.  The site is developed with a former 4,888 square-foot, single-story, 
McDonald’s drive-thru restaurant.  There is also a freestanding sign (but lacking a sign face), 
three flagpoles, a trash enclosure, a paved parking lot, a fenced playground area, and ornamental 
landscaping.  The existing freestanding sign and flag poles adjacent to Carson Street will be 
incorporated into this project. 
 
The existing restaurant building will be converted into a self-service style of carwash.  Most of 
the former restaurant building will be demolished, but the west wall of the former restaurant will 
be incorporated into the new carwash building.  The existing trash enclosure will be demolished 
and replaced with a new trash enclosure. 
 
The carwash building will be about 3,100 square feet and includes the main car wash tunnel, an 
equipment room with openings in the wall to support vending machines for carwash customers, a 
storage room, bathroom, office, electrical equipment room, a canopy above the tunnel entrance, 
and a canopy above the customer waiting/viewing area.  The carwash building will have an 



De Novo Hearing - Staff report for Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
October 10, 2017 
Page 3 
 
overall height of 30 feet.  A new 3,900 square-foot car service building will be built at the north 
portion of the site. The car service building will include a reception area, bathroom, storage 
room, and five service bays. Potential auto services may include auto repair, oil and lube 
services, tire installation, window tinting and any other automobile service or services.  LMC 
Section 9347.B.3 permits automobile repair garages in the C-3 zone but prohibits body and 
fender work or auto painting businesses. 
 
The site will have two driveways on Carson Street, one serving as an entrance and exit, and the 
other as an exit only.  Two additional access points will connect the site with the alley on the 
west side of the property.  As noted above, there will be five-foot alley dedications along 
portions of the north and west property lines and a 10-foot by 10-foot truncation of the northwest 
corner of the property as part of the alley dedications.  The dedicated alley must be improved and 
paved to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works. 
 
There will be two carwash queue lanes.  The queuing lanes will have a self-serve pay station 
where customers will select the type of wash and make their payment.  The two lanes converge 
to the entrance to the carwash tunnel.  The carwash tunnel will include a blower to dry cars as 
they exit.  After exiting the carwash tunnel, drivers may exit directly onto Carson Street, or turn 
to the left to gain access to the self-serve vacuum stations. 
 
The project will have 27 parking spaces including two ADA accessible parking spaces.  There 
will also be one 10’ x 25’ loading zone space near the northwest corner of the building.  A 
covered trash enclosure and vacuum equipment enclosure will be located on the east side of the 
site.  The 16 spaces on the east side of the carwash building will be used as covered outdoor 
vacuum stations.  The vacuum stations will be covered with fabric canopies.  The overall height 
of the vacuum canopies will be less than 14 feet.  An 88 square-foot vacuum enclosure will be 
constructed at the east side of the site at the north end of the vacuum canopies.  The enclosure 
will be of masonry construction to reduce noise.  The applicant’s proposed hours of operation are 
shown below and are incorporated into the proposed Resolution of Approval. 
 

Building Monday-Saturday Sundays 
Carwash 7:30 AM to 8:00 PM or 

30 minutes after dusk, 
whichever comes first 

8:00 AM to 8:00 PM or 
30 minutes after dusk, 
whichever comes first 

Car service building 7:30 AM to 7:00 PM 9:00 AM to 7:00 PM 
 
The Development Review Board reviewed DRB Case No. 8607 on January 25, 2017 for the 
proposed project and recommended approval of the project to the PEC, subject to proposed 
conditions which were included in the PEC Resolution of Approval. 

The Sheriff’s Department submitted a letter dated June 1, 2017 commenting on the proposed use.  
The Sheriff’s Department reports that they conducted a review of calls for service for a two-year 
time period for the project site and did not find any incidents that directly reflect negatively on 
the proposed business.  However, based on past histories with these types of businesses, the 



De Novo Hearing - Staff report for Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
October 10, 2017 
Page 4 
 
Sheriff’s Department requested certain conditions be placed on the proposed business should the 
CUP be approved.  Those conditions were incorporated into the PEC Resolution of Approval. 
 
LMC Section 9401, et seq., establishes the basis for approval or denial of a CUP.  Subsection A 
of Section 9401 sets forth the principles and standards that each case must comply with in order 
to be granted a CUP.  A review of the subject application, in light of Subsection A, reveals the 
following: 
 
1. The proposed conditional use shall not be in substantial conflict with the General Plan. 

 
The site is in the C-3 (Intermediate Commercial) zone and is designated as Commercial by 
the General Plan.  The proposed use is commercial in nature and therefore compatible with 
both the General Plan land use and designations of the site.  Potential conflicts with the 
General Plan relating to specific areas, such as air quality, noise, and traffic, have been 
addressed in the Environmental Checklist and Initial Study prepared for this project and 
mitigation measures were identified and are included in the proposed Resolution of 
Approval. 

 
2. The nature, condition, and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures shall be 

considered, and no CUP shall be granted where such use will adversely affect or be 
materially detrimental to said adjacent uses, buildings, or structures. 

 
Air Quality 
During the demolition and construction phase, fugitive airborne dust may impact adjacent 
uses, however such an impact will be less than significant following implementation of the 
mitigations measures included in the Environmental Checklist and Initial Study prepared for 
this project. 
 
Hazards and Hazardous Materials 
An Asbestos and Lead Paint Survey and Hazardous Building Materials Inventory Report 
were prepared for this project (see Appendix “F” for report and summary memo).  The 
analysis detected asbestos in some of the roof penetration mastic, 264 fluorescent light tubes 
and four compact fluorescent light tubes throughout the structure, and a refrigerator and an 
ice machine.  The report includes measures by which the roof mastic should be removed, 
handled, and disposed of, as well as the fluorescent lighting and refrigerants.  These 
measures have been included as mitigation measures for the project. 
 
Noise 
The carwash will include various pieces of mechanical equipment including blowers for 
drying automobiles, motors, vacuums, and pumps.  Blowers for drying automobiles are 
capable of producing excessive levels of noise.  The closest residential properties are single-
family homes that are currently 20 feet to the north and south as measured from property line 
to property line.  They will be 25 feet away after the alley dedications.  The blowers will be 
inside a building and approximately 50-feet or more from the nearest residential use.  A noise 



De Novo Hearing - Staff report for Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
October 10, 2017 
Page 5 
 

study was prepared for this project (see Appendix “I” contained in the Environmental 
Checklist and Initial Study).  
 
The noise study found existing off-site traffic noise levels range between 68.5 to 76.63 dB(A) 
CNEL.  Existing traffic noise plus the project levels resulting from additional traffic 
generated by the project is estimated to be in the range of 68.53 to 76.64 dB(A) CNEL, 
which is an increase of 0.01 to 0.03 dB(A) CNEL.  Therefore, a change in noise from 
increased vehicle traffic would not be audible. 
 
The noise study found that noise levels from on-site operations of the project could exceed 
65dB(A) at nearby residential property lines.  That study found that project noise would be 
reduced to a less than significant level with implementation of the mitigation measures 
contained in the Environmental Checklist and Initial Study.  With mitigation, worst case 
noise levels at the residential property lines would range from 43 dB(A) (north of the car 
service building) to 60 dB(A) at a point along the rear property line of 4112 Ostrom Avenue, 
which is west of the site.  Worst case noise levels include 1) all components of the carwash 
operating including the dryer, 2) all vacuums being utilized, 3) activity in the parking lot 
such as conversation, doors slamming, engines starting and stopping, and vehicle passage, 
and 4) use of the car service building as a tire store with all five bays operating and 
generating noise associated with the operation of air compressors, air impact wrenches, car 
lifts, tire balancer machines and a variety of other tools. 
 

3. The site for a conditional use shall be adequate in size and shape to accommodate the yards, 
walls, fences, parking and loading facilities, landscaping and other development features 
required by this Chapter, or as required as a condition in order to integrate said uses with 
the uses in the neighborhood. 
 
The project will have a 50-foot front yard setback, a four-foot setback at the car service 
building’s east side, and 11’-6” west side yard and 10-foot rear yard setbacks after dedication 
of the required additional five-foot alley right-of-way.  The project does not propose any new 
fences or boundary walls.  The project will have 27 parking spaces including two ADA 
accessible parking spaces.  There will also be one 10’ x 25’ loading zone space near the 
northwest corner of the building.  The 16 spaces east of the carwash building will be used as 
self-service vacuum stations.  The LMC does not contain a specific parking standard for 
carwash customers or employees. 
 
For service stations, LMC Section 9490.X requires one parking space for each bay plus two 
additional spaces for employee parking and that standard was used for the proposed car 
service building.  The car service building will have five service bays. The applicant has 
indicated that the total project will have a total of six to eight employees (see Architectural 
Sheet A2.0).   
 
Applying LMC Section 9490.X of one parking space for each service bay plus two additional 
spaces for employees would yield a total of seven parking spaces for the car service use.  



De Novo Hearing - Staff report for Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
October 10, 2017 
Page 6 
 

Providing an additional two employee parking spaces for the carwash would require a total of 
nine parking spaces.  The project proposes 11 open parking spaces, 16 vacuum station spaces 
and anticipates up to eight employees.  There will be adequate parking to accommodate the 
project whether it is based on the number of employees or service bays.  

 
LMC Section 9490.1 provides that “where the parking requirements for a use are not 
specifically defined in this chapter, the same shall be determined by the Director of 
Community Development or may be referred to him by the PEC for such determination.  Any 
determination made by the Director of Community Development shall be subject to review 
by the PEC.  All such determinations shall be based upon the requirements for the most 
comparable use specified herein and within the spirit and intent of this chapter.”  The entire 
project (both carwash and car service use) proposes to have 16 vacuum station spaces 
(including one ADA space), 11 open spaces next to the car service building (including a 
second ADA space), and one 10’ x 25’ loading zone space. 
 

4. The site for the conditional use shall be served by highways or streets adequate in width and 
improved as necessary to carry the kind and quantity of traffic such use would generate. 

 
The site is served by Carson Street and a public alley.  The portion of Carson Street adjacent 
to the site is within the City of Long Beach and the alley is in the City of Lakewood.  The 
traffic study prepared for this project found that the project will have a less than significant 
impact with respect to traffic and site queuing.  Five-foot alley right-of-way dedications are 
required along the site’s north and west property lines to comply with current City standards.  
The dedicated alley must be improved and paved to the satisfaction of the Director of Public 
Works. 
 

5. That all other conditions and limitations imposed by this Chapter in connection with the 
proposed application for a CUP have been made.  LMC Sections 9347.D.5 and 9350.B.2 
allow Commercial Recreational uses provided that a CUP has been obtained and that the 
following conditions and standards are met and maintained at all times: 
 
The analysis which appears above has covered all relevant LMC requirements. 

 
SUMMARY 
The applicant submitted an application for CUP No. 948, or the establishment of a carwash 
facility with covered outdoor vacuum stations and a car service building located at 6741 Carson 
Street.  The PEC approved the CUP on July 6, 2017.  Subsequently, a timely appeal was filed 
requesting that the decision of the PEC be overturned.  On September 12, 2017, the City Council 
considered the request and appeal and set a date to hold a Hearing De Novo to consider new 
and/or additional evidence. 
 
  



De Novo Hearing - Staff report for Conditional Use Permit No. 948 
October 10, 2017 
Page 7 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The City Council has the following four possible action options regarding the Planning and 
Environment (PEC) decision to approve Conditional Use Permit (CUP) No. 948 and the appeal 
thereof:  
 
1. Adopt a resolution to UPHOLD the PEC decision to grant CUP No. 948 and DENY the 

appeal, including findings to justify the actions. 
 
2. Adopt a resolution to UPHOLD the PEC decision to grant CUP No. 948 and DENY the 

appeal, but modify the conditions of approval for CUP No. 948, as discussed in the hearing, 
including findings to justify the actions. 

 
3. Adopt a resolution to UPHOLD the appeal and DENY CUP No. 948, including findings to 

justify the actions. 
 
4. CONTINUE the public hearing as requested by the applicant. 
 
 
Sonia Dias Southwell, AICP      Thaddeus McCormack 
Director of Community Development    City Manager 



Analysis of objections 
 
Letter from Mr. Pinette 
 
1. Noise – The environmental review found that project noise would be reduced to a less than 

significant level with implementation of the mitigation measures contained in the 
Environmental Checklist and Initial Study. 
 

2. Air Quality/Fumes/Smells - The environmental review found that the project will not violate 
any air quality standard or contribute significantly to an existing or projected air quality 
violation.  The project will not result in excessive airborne dust during construction following 
implementation of the mitigation measures listed below.  The project does not have the 
potential to significantly conflict with applicable plans, policies, or regulations adopted for 
the purpose of reducing post construction air quality emissions. 
 

3. Congestion of idling cars - The environmental review found that the project will not degrade 
traffic operations below those acceptable in the City’s General Plan.  Therefore, the project 
impact is considered less than significant. 
 

4. Parking - The environmental review found that there will be adequate parking to 
accommodate the project. 
 

5. Removal of trees – The proposed project will increase the number of trees on the site.  
 
Currently, there are eight eucalyptus trees along the west property line and five trees along 
the north property line, which would be removed as part of the alley widening.  Exhibit H is 
the Planting Plan.  It shows eight trees along the west property line and five trees along the 
north property line.  Other existing trees remainder of the site would be removed and new 
trees planted.  The LMC requires one (1) tree per 300 square feet of landscape area, and of 
those, one (1) tree for every five single-row parking spaces.  There is approximately 8,744 
square feet of landscape area, which requires 29 trees.  Exhibit H shows 31 trees resulting in 
a net increase in trees on the site.  There are 27 parking spaces, which requires five trees and 
12 are provided. 
 

6. The above are infringements on rights to peace and quiet.  See Item 1 on noise. 
 

7. Lowering of property values as a result of infringements.  The project’s effect on property 
values has not been ascertained. 
 

8. CEQA conducted without the inclusion of neighbors.  - The Notice of Intent to adopt an 
MND was posted on the project site, in the public ROW in front of the site, at Lakewood 
City Hall, on the City website, at Bloomfield Park, at Mayfair Park, and at the County 
Clerk’s office, at least 20 days prior to the public hearing. 
 
Also, the CUP notice was posted on the City’s webpage, mailed to property owners within a 
300-foot radius of the subject property, posted at the subject site and in three public places on 



Thursday, June 22, 2017, pursuant to Section 9422, et seq., of the Lakewood Municipal Code 
and State Law. 
 

9. Given only two week notice of the public hearing. – See Item 8 above. 
 
Petition Heading 
 
1. Noise, unnecessary noises or sounds. – The environmental review found that project noise 

would be reduced to a less than significant level with implementation of the mitigation 
measures contained in the Environmental Checklist and Initial Study. 
 

2. Pollution (car fumes while idling, auto exhaust from smog test station, and have not been 
informed of the type and scope of the auto service). - The environmental review found that 
the project will not violate any air quality standard or contribute significantly to an existing 
or projected air quality violation.  The project will not result in excessive airborne dust 
during construction following implementation of the mitigation measures listed below.  The 
project does not have the potential to significantly conflict with applicable plans, policies, or 
regulations adopted for the purpose of reducing post construction air quality emissions. 
 

3. View and appearance.  - The Development Review Board reviewed DRB Case No. 8607 on 
January 25, 2017 for the proposed project and recommended approval of the project to the 
Planning and Environment Commission (PEC), of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow 
the installation and operation of an automated car wash in accordance with the provisions of 
LMC Section 9347.D.3. and subject to conditions which were incorporated into the PEC 
Resolution of Approval. 
 

4. Property values. - The project’s effect on property values has not been ascertained. 
 

5. We [the petitioners] have been happy to have McDonalds as neighbors and hope that you 
[the city] can find a similar business for this area. – Noted. 

 
PEC Minutes (new issue areas not addressed above) 
 
1. Mr. Pinette: There is no need for another carwash. – The number of carwashes in the trade 

area was not examined as a part of this project. 
 

2. Loretta Croom: How the applicant would minimize noise and light. – For noise, see Item 1 
under Pinette letter.  For light, a photometric survey was prepared for this project and found 
that that proposed exterior illumination to be in compliance with the Lakewood Municipal 
Code (see Appendix “C”).  The project will not create substantial light or glare, which would 
otherwise adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area. 





























!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

4254

4174

67
4

1

68
1

9

67
5

3
-6

5

69
03

-1
5

4111-21

42
47

69
1

9

41
6

9

41
5

1

41
6

3

70
00

41
5

7
42

41
4101

4126 4111

42
37

42
25

4253

4117

4134

4107

4124

70
1

3

4134

42
31

4180

4241

4231

4161

4114

70
10

4136

4127

4131

4121
4125

70
03

4142

4237

70
07

4202
4198

4143

4153

4159

4147

4118

4112

4102 4102 41034103

4165

4102 4105

41374202

41194118
4113

4119

4113

4118

41124112

41
6

44134

4102

4129

4112

4118

4115

4108

4124

4128

70
04

4148

410741074106

4148

4122

4149

4159

4213

4217

4133

41294128

4132

4144

4160

4138

4148

4154

4124

4218

4212

4206

4138

4123

4139

4128

4202

4135

4209

4123

4143

4129

4155

4139

4203

4160

4154

4144 4143

4132

4202 4203

4149

4207

4218

4108

4155

4206

42124213

4217

4158

4202

4125

4131

4108

4137

4121

42294208

4233

4154

4141

4219

4144

4122

4203

4109

4128

4134

4138

4148

4239

4212

4218

4207

4225

4213

4234

4208
4212

4224

4228

4218

4238

4161

4171

4151

4181

4191

4141

4145

4135

4187

4157

4177

4167

70
1

0

4166

4154

4194418841824176

4160

4172

41
5

4
41

5
8

41
5

0

41
7

0

4255

4228

4250

4218
4214

4234

4240

4208

4224

4244

70
1

4

4202

6700

N
IP

O
M

O
  A

V
E

O
S

T
R

O
M

  
A

V
E

M
O

N
O

G
R

A
M

  A
V

E

6900

QUIGLEY  AVE R
E

D
LI

N
E

  D
R

41
00

LO
S

C
O

YO
TE

S
DIA

G
O

NAL

CITY OF LONG BEACH

CARSON STREET

SITE

HEARTWELL PARK

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 948
6741 CARSON STREET
PARKCREST CARWASH

SUBJECT SITE

VICINITY MAP

±

C-3 (INTERMEDIATE COMMERCIAL)

R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL)

CITY OF LONG BEACH

SUBJECT SITE



CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 948
6741 CARSON STREET
PARKCREST CARWASH

AERIAL VIEW

±

SITE





















 
 

RESOLUTION NO.   -2017 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD APPROVING THE 
APPLICATION FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT CASE NO. 948 
FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A CARWASH FACILITY WITH 
COVERED OUTDOOR VACUUM STATIONS AND A CAR SERVICE 
BUILDING ON A PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6741 CARSON 
STREET, LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 

 
THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
DOES HEREBY FIND, RESOLVE AND DETERMINE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1. The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, 
having had submitted to it the application of Mr. Mario S. Torres of SRK Architects, 2254 S. 
Figueroa Street, Los Angeles, California 90007, representing the owner of an interest in the 
following described real property, requesting a Conditional Use Permit for the establishment of a 
carwash facility with covered outdoor vacuum stations and a car service building, pursuant to the 
provisions of Sections 9341.B, 9347.A, 9347.B.3, 9347.D.11, and 9490.1 of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code on that certain real property within the City of Lakewood described as a Portion 
of Lot 556 of Tract Map No. 17830 as per map recorded in Book 452, Pages 3-11 in the Office 
of the County Recorder of Los Angeles County, and more particularly described as 6741 Carson 
Street, Lakewood, California; all as shown in the attached minutes and report of the Planning and 
Environment Commission, attached hereto and made a part hereof as though set forth in full, the 
Planning and Environment Commission does hereby find and determine as provided in this 
Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2.  The Planning and Environment Commission finds that an Initial Study 
has been prepared for the proposed project pursuant to Section 15063 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, as amended.  A Mitigated Negative Declaration has been 
prepared for this project, pursuant to Section 15070, et sequitur, of the Guidelines.  The project 
was found to have no significant effect on the environment, after implementation of the 
mitigation measures contained in the Initial Study prepared for this project.  Therefore, said 
Mitigated Negative Declaration is hereby approved. 

 
SECTION 3. The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood does 

hereby report that a public hearing was held before the Planning and Environment Commission 
in respect to said application on the 6th day of July, 2017, and the Planning and Environment 
Commission does hereby find and determine that said application, subject to the conditions 
hereinafter specified, should be granted for the following reasons: 
 

A. The request is for approval of Conditional Use Permit No. 948 all as shown on 
Exhibits “A,” “B,” “C,” “D,” “E,” “F,” “G,” “H,” and “I.” 
 

B. The subject use will not to be in conflict with the goals of the General Plan, nor is the 
proposed use in conflict with the Commercial land use designation of the General Plan. 



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 2 - CUP No. 948 
 

C. The nature, condition, and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures 
have been considered, and it has been found that the industrial school will not adversely affect or 
is materially detrimental to adjacent uses, buildings, or structures provided that the conditions 
contained have been met and maintained. 
 

D. Carson Street and the adjacent public alley are adequate to serve the traffic generated 
by the site.  Thus, no adverse effect is anticipated on existing roads and circulation as a 
consequence of this application. 

 
E. The project will have 27 parking spaces including two ADA accessible parking 

spaces.  There will also be one 10’ x 25’ loading zone space near the northwest corner of the 
building.  The 16 spaces on the east side of the carwash building will be used as covered outdoor 
vacuum stations. 
 

F. Notification of a public hearing has been made, pursuant to Section 9422, et seq., of 
the Lakewood Municipal Code and State law. 
 

SECTION 4. The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, 
based upon the aforementioned findings and determinations, hereby grants the use as requested 
in Conditional Use Permit No. 948 provided the use is operated in compliance with the following 
conditions at all times: 

 
A. The conditions, unless otherwise specified herein, shall be complied with within upon 

the initial opening of a business on this site, and not thereafter violated or deviated from except 
where authorized by amendment to this Resolution adopted in accordance with the provisions of 
this Resolution and the Municipal Code.  The granting of said Conditional Use Permit and this 
Resolution, and any modification or change thereof, shall not be effective for any purpose until a 
certified copy of this Resolution (Exhibits excluded) has been recorded in the Office of the Los 
Angeles County Recorder.  The granting of said Amendment, subject to the conditions herein set 
forth, are binding on their heirs, assigns, and successors in interest of the applicant and their 
heirs, assigns, and successors in interest. 

 
B. The City shall require that all construction comply with SCAQMD regulations, 

including Rule 402 which specifies that there be no dust impacts off-site sufficient to cause a 
nuisance, and SCAQMD Rule 403, which restricts visible emissions from construction. 

 
C. Moisten soil prior to grading. 
 
D. Water exposed surfaces at least once daily to keep soil moist. 
 
E. Water exposed surfaces at least twice a day, or as often as needed, during very dry 

weather or periods of high wind in order to maintain a surface crust and prevent release of visible 
emissions from the construction site. 

 
F. Treat any area that will be exposed for extended periods with a soil conditioner to 

stabilize soil or temporarily plant with vegetation. 



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 3 - CUP No. 948 
 

G. Wash mud-covered tires and under carriages of trucks leaving construction sites. 
 
H. Provide for street sweeping, as needed, on adjacent roadways to remove dirt dropped 

by construction vehicles or mud which would otherwise be carried off by trucks departing 
project sites. 

 
I. Securely cover loads of dirt with a tight fitting tarp on any truck leaving the 

construction sites to dispose of excavated soil. 
 
J. Cease grading during periods when winds exceed 25 miles per hour. 
 
K. Provide for permanent sealing of all graded areas, as applicable, at the earliest 

practicable time after soil disturbance. 
 
L. Provide temporary fencing with windscreen material to control windborne dust.  Plant 

hedges or other plant buffers on any site where construction activities could expose neighboring 
residences and commercial sites to prolonged exposure to windblown dust. 

 
M. During grading, periodic monitoring shall be scheduled by a City Inspector or a City 

planner to verify compliance of measures of dust control. 
 
N. During grading, final inspection shall be scheduled by a City Inspector or a City 

planner to verify permanent sealing of all graded areas has been provided for and that hedges or 
other plant buffers are planted to avoid exposing neighboring residences to prolonged exposure 
to windblown dust. 

 
O. The applicant shall retain a qualified archaeologist who meets the Secretary of the 

Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards and who shall conduct an archaeological 
monitoring program during any earthmoving involving excavations into younger Quaternary 
Alluvial deposits. 

 
P. The archaeological monitoring program shall be conducted in a manner consistent 

with archaeological standards and, in this case, conducted on a full-time or part-time basis, at the 
discretion of the Lead Agency.  Should evidence of archaeological resources be uncovered, the 
archaeological monitoring program shall continue on a full-time basis until it is determined no 
more younger alluvium is being impacted. 

 
Q. If, at any time, evidence of human remains are uncovered during the development of 

this project, all activity shall cease immediately and the project contractor shall immediately 
notify the Los Angeles County Coroner’s Office of the find pursuant to State law.  The Los 
Angeles County Coroner shall be permitted to examine the find in situ.  If the remains are 
determined to be of Native American descent, the Native American Heritage Commission shall 
be contacted pursuant to Public Resources Code Section 5097.98 and the Most Likely 
Descendent (MLD) named.  In consultation with the MLD, City, Coroner, and archaeological 
consultant, the disposition of the remains will be determined. 

 



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 4 - CUP No. 948 
 

R. If evidence of Native American remains or resources are identified, a Native 
American Monitor of Gabrieleno descent shall be contacted and given the opportunity to be 
added to the remainder of the monitoring program. Discoveries which may be encountered may 
include, but not be limited to, dwelling sites, stone implements or other artifacts, animal bones, 
and human bones. 

 
S. If any archaeological sites are encountered during grading or construction of the 

project, all grading or construction efforts which would disturb these sites shall cease and an 
archaeologist shall be notified and provisions for recording and excavating the site shall be made 
in compliance with Section 15064.5 of the CEQA Guidelines, as amended. 

 
T. During excavation and grading activities of any future development project, if 

archaeological or paleontological resources are discovered, the project contractor shall stop all 
work and contact the City.  The applicant shall retain a qualified archaeologist or paleontologist 
and contact a representative of the Gabrieleno Band of Mission Indians – Kizh Nation to 
evaluate the significance of the finding and appropriate course of action.  Salvage operations 
requirements pursuant to Section 15064.5 of the CEQA Guidelines shall be followed.  If it is 
determined due to the types of deposits discovered that a Native American monitor is required, 
the Guidelines for Monitors/Consultants of Native American Cultural, Religious, and Burial 
Sites as established by the Native American Heritage Commission shall be followed. 

 
U. Comply with the recommendations of the geotechnical report contained in Appendix 

“E” of the Initial Study prepared for this project. 
 
V. Refrigerants shall be properly removed before an appliance is dropped off or 

collected for disposal at solid waste landfills, metal recyclers, or similar facilities. 
 
W. Demolition and renovation work that would disturb hazardous materials should be 

performed utilizing safe work practices for identified metals. 
 
X. Contractors engaged in disturbance of these materials should be notified of their 

potential content. 
 
Y. California certified abatement contractor must be used for the abatement of asbestos-

containing materials.  A project manual for the abatement design should also be generated prior 
to the planned abatement activities. 

 
Z. During all project site excavation and grading on‐site, construction contractors shall 

equip all construction equipment, fixed or mobile, with properly operating and maintained 
mufflers, consistent with manufacturer standards. 

 
AA. The contractor shall place all stationary construction equipment so that emitted 

noise is directed away from the noise sensitive receptors nearest the project site. 
 
BB. Equipment shall be shut off and not left to idle when not in use. 
 



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 5 - CUP No. 948 
 

CC. The contractor shall locate equipment staging in areas that will create the greatest 
distance between construction‐related noise sources and sensitive receptors nearest the project 
site during all project construction. 

 
DD. In order to minimize construction noise levels it is recommended that a temporary 

barrier, sufficient in height to block the line of sight between first and second story windows of 
adjacent single‐family detached residential dwelling units (as applicable) and construction 
equipment shall be placed along the northern and western property lines during project 
construction. 

 
EE. The western side of the car wash must be solid with no windows, holes or 

openings. 
 
FF. The Whisper Drying System or a drying system with a noise level of 80 dB(A) at 

the exit of the car wash shall be used. After installation, the noise level of the installed equipment 
shall be verified by an experienced acoustical professional utilizing a Type 1 or Type 2 precision 
noise meter.  Their findings shall be provided in a letter report and shall be submitted to the City 
of Lakewood Community Development Department prior to final inspection. 

 
GG. All vacuum equipment shall be housed in structures that can provide for a closed 

door condition. The vacuum systems shall be kept in rooms with no exterior facing windows.  
Vacuum hoses and hose ends are an exception to this requirement. 

 
HH. The openings of all rooftop vents associated with buildings that house car wash 

and/or vacuum equipment shall be slanted away from nearby residential land uses to the greatest 
degree possible. 

 
II. The permitted hours of operation for the carwash shall be Monday through 

Saturday from 7:30 AM to 8:00 PM or 30 minutes after dusk whichever comes first, and on 
Sundays from 8:00 AM to 8:00 PM or 30 minutes after dusk whichever comes first. 

 
JJ. The permitted hours of operation for the car service building shall be Monday 

through Saturday from 7:30 AM to 7:00 PM and on Sundays from 9:00 AM to 7:00 PM. 
 
KK. Parking shall be configured for and maintained with sufficient lighting to 

illuminate the appearance and conduct of all persons in parking areas.  All exterior lighting shall 
be designed and arranged so as not to reflect direct or indirect light upon abutting or adjacent 
properties, with a maximum light spill of point .5 foot candles at grade level. 

 
LL. Managers shall emphasize the importance of effective communication between 

the managers of the establishment regarding professional business practices. 
 
MM. Management shall have an ongoing liaison relationship with members of the Los 

Angeles County Sheriff's Department, so that communication may be easily facilitated if 
problems occur and to ensure a strong level of communication for crime prevention and problem 
solving efforts. 



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 6 - CUP No. 948 
 

 
NN. The carwash and car service buildings shall have working "state of the art" video 

surveillance system in place to assist Los Angeles County Sheriff's personnel in their criminal 
investigations.  The storage medium shall be secured in such a manner as to not to facilitate the 
easy removal from unauthorized personnel or employees under duress. 

 
OO. The carwash and car service buildings shall have a "state of the art" silent robbery 

alarm system in place to allow employees to promptly report crimes in progress, if they are 
safely able to do so. 

 
PP. Management shall ensure that no alcoholic beverages are allowed on the site and 

shall refuse services to any intoxicated person, or person who is under the influence of a 
controlled substance. 

 
QQ. This CUP shall be subject to a six-month review after the initial opening of the 

carwash facility to ensure that the facility has complied with the requirements contained in this 
Resolution and to allow input from the Sheriff's Department for any concerns that may arise. 

 
RR. Comply with the recommended conditions of approval for Development Review 

Board (DRB) Case No. 8607. 
 
SS. Five-foot alley dedications shall be provided along the site’s north and west 

property lines to comply with current City standards.  The dedicated alleys shall be improved and 
paved to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works. 

 
TT. The applicant shall sign a written statement stating that he has read, understands, 

and agrees to the conditions of the granting of this Conditional Use Permit within twenty (20) 
days of the adoption of the Resolution approving the same, or this approval shall become null 
and void. 

 
UU. This Conditional Use Permit may be modified or revoked by the City Council or 

the Planning and Environment Commission should they determine that the proposed uses or 
conditions under which it is being operated or maintained is detrimental to the public health, 
welfare or materially injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity or if the property is 
operated or maintained so as to constitute a public nuisance. 

 
VV. The applicant agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City, its officers, 

agents and employees, from any and all liability or claims that may be brought against the City 
arising out of its approval of this permit, or arising out of the operation of the business, save and 
except that caused by City’s active negligence. 

 
WW. By signing or orally accepting the terms and provisions of this permit, entered 

into the minutes of these proceedings, the Permittee acknowledges all of the conditions imposed 
and accepts this permit subject to those conditions with a full awareness that the violation of any 
of said permits could subject Permittee to further hearings before the Planning and Environment 
Commission on the issue of revocation or modification. 



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 7 - CUP No. 948 
 
 

SECTION 5. A certified copy of the excerpts of the minutes applicable to this case 
and this Resolution shall be delivered to the applicant. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 6th day of July, 2017, by the Planning and 
Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood voting as follows: 
 
 
AYES:   COMMISSIONERS: McKinnon, Stuckey, Manis 
NOES:   COMMISSIONERS: Samaniego 
ABSENT:  COMMISSIONERS: Quarto 
ABSTAIN:  COMMISSIONERS: 
 
 
 
   
 Linda Manis, Chairperson 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
Sonia Dias Southwell, AICP, Secretary 
  



Resolution No.  14–2017 - 8 - CUP No. 948 
 

 
 

STATEMENT OF ACCEPTANCE 
 
The foregoing Conditional Use Permit No. 948 and Resolution No.  14-2017 are hereby accepted 
and each and all conditions and provisions are accepted and each and all conditions and 
provisions are approved by and consented to by the undersigned Permittee, who expressly 
promises to perform and be bound by each of its items. 
 
 
 

___________________________________       
Signature 

 
                                                                      

 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Office Use Only 
 
Date received  _______________________                                            
 
Received by                                                      (Community Development Department) 
 



(DENIAL) 

 
 RESOLUTION NO.  -2017 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DENYING THE 
APPLICATION FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT CASE NO. 948 
FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A CARWASH FACILITY WITH 
COVERED OUTDOOR VACUUM STATIONS AND A CAR SERVICE 
BUILDING ON A PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6741 CARSON 
STREET, LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 

 
THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
DOES HEREBY FIND, RESOLVE AND DETERMINE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.     The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, 
having had submitted to it the application of Mr. Mario S. Torres of SRK Architects, 2254 S. 
Figueroa Street, Los Angeles, California 90007, representing the owner of an interest in the 
following described real property, requesting a Conditional Use Permit for the establishment of a 
carwash facility with covered outdoor vacuum stations and a car service building, pursuant to the 
provisions of Sections 9341.B, 9347.A, 9347.B.3, 9347.D.11, and 9490.1 of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code on that certain real property within the City of Lakewood described as a Portion 
of Lot 556 of Tract Map No. 17830 as per map recorded in Book 452, Pages 3-11 in the Office 
of the County Recorder of Los Angeles County, and more particularly described as 6741 Carson 
Street, Lakewood, California; all as shown in the attached minutes and report of the Planning and 
Environment Commission, attached hereto and made a part hereof as though set forth in full, the 
Planning and Environment Commission does hereby find and determine as provided in this 
Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2.     The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood 
does hereby report that a public hearing was held before the Planning and Environment 
Commission in respect to said application on the 6th day of July, 2017, and the Planning and 
Environment Commission does hereby find and determine that said application, subject to the 
conditions hereinafter specified, should be denied for the following reasons: 
 

 A. The proposed use is in conflict with the General Plan as follows:_____________. 
 
 B. The nature, condition and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures 
have been considered and it has been found that the proposed use will jeopardize, or adversely 
affect, or be detrimental to the public health, safety and welfare, or to the surrounding property 
and residences for the following reasons:_____________. 
 

C. The Applicant has failed to show that the proposed conditional use meets the 
principles and standards specified in Section 9401.A of the Lakewood Municipal Code, and 
Section _____________. 

 
D. (Here, set forth any additional applicable grounds for denying the application.). 



Resolution No.     -2017                         CUP 948 
   

2 
 

 
SECTION 3. A certified copy of the excerpts of the minutes applicable to this case and 

this Resolution shall be delivered to the applicant. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 6th day of July, 2017, by the Planning and 
Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood voting as follows: 
 
 
 

AYES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
NOES:  COMMISSIONERS:  
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:  
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:  

 
 
____________________________________

       Linda Manis, Chairperson 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Sonia Dias Southwell, AICP, Secretary 
 
 



CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO 948CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 948























Staff RecommendationStaff Recommendation

• Hold a Public Hearing

• Adopt the Resolution of Approval

• Approve the Mitigated Negative Declaration

































































*-,
Ert.

!1- CITY OF LAKEWOOD

lnternal Cash Control Form

Received from (-

;,.

r.-i
a_

:i.,

Addres

i: For

!.'
.: Cred

.-

':

- Ring
,:, here

it I i'liiiil l t rlirErlul

EfJ

5':', *l8til

Ck \oV,(
; s il-rj tJtJ



7126,2017 Car wash or not

My name is Arthur Pinette, lifelong resident on Quigley Avenue in Lakewood.

I am filing this appeal with the support of nineteen signed residents.

The neighbors on Ostrom and Quigley streets unanimously reject and protest

the establishment of a car wash fucility with 8 outdoor vacuum stations and a

car service building on the commercial zoned lot at 614L Carson street in
Lakewood.
We were given notice that if we challenged the results of the permit granting

meeting concerning the "Conditional Use Permit" granted on July 6th 2017 ,

that if we wish to appeal, we must describe the issues raised at the meeting and

deliver to the crty at or prior to the public hearing. The meeting took place and
the meeting minutes should show that four of the eight residents that attended
the meeting,spoke in rejection of the plan i.e. Permit. We have the support of
the rest of the bordering neighbors as shown on a petition signed by them
listing their addresses and listing their concerns:
Citing Noise, Fumes, Smells, Congestion of Idling cars, Parking, Removal of

trees as infringements on our rights to Peace and Quiet and the lowering of
Property Values as a result of the above infringements.
The environmental study of the plans were conducted without the inclusion of

the adjacent neighbors. We were given only two weeks notice of the public
hearing to meet and discuss our concerns. The permit was granted with only
the input of four neighbors after we were asked if the rest of us neighbors
attending had differing arguments. This is to state now that all of the neighbors
concur on the statements that the four that spoke presented.
It may now be apparent that a legal strategy is required, hence forth, this
appeal. Please be expedient on this appeal application.Thank you, sincerely,
with regards, the Lakewood residents on Quigley and Ostrom streets

AaruuP Prrcfre
{lZZ &v,6a6r Aue.
/rp<esool, C*i.

10tu3
cEu : i6z 6so L(6?O

/{oa€: d|z 425 t(?Z

\rt
t\rl

o\

c-
L
l-

N)o\

E?
O

.:

ii;

CJ

http://mail.lakeuroodcity.org/o,val?ae=ltsm&a=Qpen&t=lPM.Note&id=R9AA,/MCmV2n6eemOpdfrgDUGSkBwAbrniusBtiTS4(ZHT8XIEWx/qAMVa36AMbrn... 1/1































r We, the undersigned, oppose construction of a carwash/auto repair facility a|6741 Carson Street, Lakewood, CA ,

NAME ] ADDRESS

e

' 
Ll /2{ T{?etuor5 ,4 ue

et

A^

$'r,r\n

ot

6
l,*o vG \.F-g lrn LA Wq

L

3
otr

uolw
6

O( Lvv , U> 111f,
I

rh\3

I
.t
I

,(d.a)

s
f oh

a
, €u ,{ac J €trzn6 37 f a ?o ,<'K v ! {il* ./nuat ro o}

I
LEt4-is*tr/lr*-

F*

fra t01/J
,y'LY^

@-t lD &Seo %)W Qo/. y)4p_^Z.&tyl Ar!, Lytut r-C-

Kc-{'^
41w*/o<%7ts
La(nOoa s4qo)b

qo),5

CAUY
j7 os/-.* L,L-+*-./ cA Zo7/J

l)*n,vt ,2-6i,;*=-1 \)o6 AI,1b'-n Ayo. L?L4,^t\€), C-A 1D +13

o
inzll
hrr

Cb/) b L/ls) As*r",/^ LaK<vv.,ori gftQotB
tLe \2\t5.(zt{S

%irc, L,\\ka* "t . c0 Qd1l3

101,f,
fLu; [t. l' C*,:(t q. 7 5T b\.t ,. ("\ Ev -rn r'n c

6J[ocr. f,te . Glcer.LbD cA fott3
OOI a\3q075

wl ltt1t3

t(L fCr 2

na

qln
6te1

4,

(il1d I

-"1

-;1

r)
F]...t*

rili'i

t\)

(-arn-El

N)

E

-E-

[,rrJ r )

L

n I

o r+- t fo n*B*.r^ I e"l tflo

;fr-,aazs rdZr

v

1



We, the undersigned, oppose construction of a carwash/auto repair facility at 6741 Carson Street, Lakewood, CA

NAME ADDRESS

brryl*-* .fu*/T'

+d,

S\^Qr-

1
lvkrvivr Adilin=

7z- feZ( zl
4zrs
+73s

z,/4s
t'lLtl A,I

4 ;-t?
4(a;;

lvlo'o o3 l-a ru Lt-
LILbU

\t;s vI
ars? ZZ,no 4rA
ffi4esLltrs \!e\ry3rm (-,

\\w (u1 0qoa\.lra
U

W- AuE

'fil ? t'lp hiran Nd [tl,r,,-,o/
4 t\B f\o rro 1rc,.*- A\;-r=

t-Lu-lz*rz 4va

44.qL

V

lleca Ro-cha

arq

nnno/*>sttt y'

1 tta
zt t/5
-lv7

14gaDoaP
?1"nfr t1l 411L 4/ti* ^ ot D

AW Lgpyqd, rA EN17l5

5
Mar
A

++- Cu.bo,n

Ghuq
Ri

t
+I

e{
+ I O 3 l'\o no1 I am h-t e ' I.+&,c u;o/ Cf\ to tt7
Lf tol [4o n X1rn,r, frve . 1 lohnoooJ Ce q o? B

6+s 7 C-W"us rul ^!l- LWKg,,a.r, ,ao1tt
49rt aTM N',z l1<wal ' -

lzzt fYb,,r(rr-^ 4ru Lta,X, ofr /07/3
t*,

frrt

(/)
rrl-E

t\)

E

.N

-t

ii

-. ' : - rrl
(f

1

n

C zurtq

























: 'r'r.;EIVE-C

575?'17 SEP-7 p4:10

Septem@r 7,2O17

Dear Lakewood City Council

This letter is in regards to the canrash/auto shop that has been contemplated for
the okt McDonakl's b,uilding on Carson in Lakewood. \A/earethe owners of the
residence located at4163 QuigleyAvenue in Lakewood. Our streetbacks
up to the proposed carwash/auto shop, and our house directly faces the property. We
are writing this letter in opposition to such structure being built. Below are the reasons
in opposition:

1. Noise concern$: vacuum noise; loud music being blared by patrons
using the vacuums; loud air tools that would be used by mechanics working in the auto
shop; the noise emitting from the car wash equipment.

2. The traffic that would be generated coming through the alley and back
out to Los Coyotes and Carson, creating more congestion,to an already.very dangerous
and busy intersection.

3. The drawing of the homeless population around the alley area,
panhandling the patrons that would frequent the canrash during the day and sleeping in
the alley and wandering in the neighborhood that is directly adjacent
to the proposed canryash/auto shop,

4. The diminished air quality from the mass amounts of cars that would be
entering and exiting and running the entire time they are at said establishment. Also,
the testing of the cars that will be running while at the service area.

5. This establishment would be visible from our properties, taking away
the appeal of our residential neighborhood.

We ask that you take this request into consideration when deciding the fate of
the propefi in question.

Thank you,

Daniel Painter &

?T-**
\-



916ln17

Waldo Phillipson
4164 Quigley avenue
Lakewood,Calif.

90713

;-i i i1f - l, rt",n-'-f tr. u

5750 '17 SEP-7 p4:10

To the Lakewood city council,

My family and I live at the address above, our backyard face the lot that the mrwash

and car repair shop are to be constructed. My neighbors on both sides agree that there

will be noises much more than we experience now and when the restaurant was in

business. We dont want a new business that wi!! produce rew and louder noises next

to our home, we like to enioy quiet time in our backyard. We dont want that freedom

taken away by the intrusion of machine noise and vacuums and the car repair with air

wrenches , blow guns and other tools. The smog testing of carc produce exhaust we

don't want to be exposed to. Other chemicals used in auto repair make fumes alrd

unpleasant smells, some auto work like brakes, makes dust, it's alliust too close to our

homes. More tratfic in the alleys can cause more accidents, we Iive where the alley

furns the comer into the shops, allto often we here tires screeching frorn near misses

there. We think that the whole proiect shouH be walled off from the houses to protect

them from the noises the car wash and car repair and at least a portion of the east side

to protect us ftom the vacuuming noise. Wouldnt it be better to find a another type of

business that doesnt effect the residents, so close by ? Thanks for hearing my opinion.

Concerrred resident, Waldo Phillipson

I authorize Arthur Pinette to deliver this letter to city clerk to be received

and reoorded as a mafter of public record.
Signed,

date: q frfaory



To Lekewood Gity council, and all relevant bodies,

I cunently reside at 4174 Quigiey Ave, which includes approximately 60' of frontage
along a rear alley that is shared with 6741 Carson St, the proposed location of a car wash anc
car rEpair business.
Among mynad other issues, the issue of noise nuisance has been ongoing for the 6 years my
family and I have lived in this home. The daily deliveries by McDonalds semi trucks was audib
enough that we called lo inquire about noise ordinances, and I have no reason to expect that
the car wash and car repair noise will be any less audible or irritating, The extent of the noise
nuisanca will in fact be greater longer, more consistent hours ol oporation and mora point
sources of noise.

Lakewood prides itselt in being a family oriented community, but the wellbeing of
muttiple households is going to be diminished by the noise created by this car wash. The
deleterious effects of long tsm exposure to noise pollution is well docurnented, and not a
concern that a caring city ledership should ignore. I would strongly urg€ the council to
consider the impact of this development on the surrounding community" While the car wash
may be allnwable p€r current zoning. whether it is appropriate may be the more pressing
question. Please reiect the proposed proiect in favor of a more appropriate business type.

Sincercly,
Erin Pinette

W /tl w*
I give Arthur Pinette permission ts deliver this letter to the City Clerk to be received and
recorded as a matter of public record.

iTt
U

\rr

LN

(/)
FrlT

!

E
5

=









w
Dear Council Member Piazza:

Here is a copy of my note to Mayor DuBois.

I do hope that you will all seriously consider
the very real and sincere andgttrLthat the
local residents have towards the unnecessary,
unwanted, new business being considered!

We all feel that we should have had news
about it before it was even considered! (I
only received notice about the public review
a few days prior to the July 6ft meeting...we
don't go around reading'losted notices" on
properties For Sale buildings!) The For Sale
sign is still up...Hope that is good news!

Sept.3,2017

4125Los Coyotes Diag.
Lakewood, Ca. 907 13 -3342

Dear Mayor DuBois:

As a long-time owner of the property at4l74 Quigley Ave, I shall be
attending the meeting on Tues. Sept. 12 regarding the proposed Car Wash
at674l Carson Srea and your Council's response to our objection.

I, and other neighbors, do not want such a facihty there! Not only will it
increase noise and air pollution begfuming at 7:30AM and continuing'tntil
8:00PM or dusk, or whichever comes frst" but it will consume enonnous
amounts of water every hour of operation ! (There are much better uses . . . )

My main complaint however, is that the twentv-five trees now fundshing
good environmental anti-pollution protection will be totally destroyed to
facilitate the builder's service bays additional polluting 'services' !!

We already have a car wash at the Shell Station on Carson and Ios Coyotes,
and it is used even at 2:00AM, and as its nearest neighbor, I know how the
noise tavels even though the drive-through is enclosed! My frie,nds and
my tenant across the alley should 4ollhave to be subjected to a business
with only a negative neighborhood consensus.

Respectfrrlly submitted,

p*A 7lr,r-
Ms. Jean A. Haynes



PARKCREST
DEVELOPMENT

PARKGREST
CONSTRUGTIO N INC.
A REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY 2910 South Archibald Ave. Suite A - 350 Ontario, CA 91761

September 27,20L7

iir i'i-iii[D

Dear Mayor and City Council Members, 5 B 4 5 '17 oCI -2 n22.3

I will not be available for the October L0,20L7

daughter's White Coat Ceremony.

Heaiing asl will be in Boston attending my

I recently e-mailed each of you to establish a meeting time to discuss our Carwash and Automotive Use

Project on Carson near Los Coyotes Diagonal.

I have been involved in development for 40 years and I would like you to feel comfortable in reaching

out to me with any concerns you may have.

My contact information is as follows: E-mail Sehandv@msn.com and/or Cell Phone No. 552-881-5195 is

available for your use. Please note that I will make myself available to meet and to address any concerns
you may have regarding the project.

Lakewood staff and my design team have been working together for over a year to address Traffic,

Noise, Landscape and Safety Concerns in addition to other neighborhood concerns which have been

mitigated and met or exceed the requirements imposed on us by staff.

I look forward to discussing this project with you at your convenience to address any issues you may

have or suggestions you may wish to make.

I have also attached letters from Cities and Groups, wherein, some of our projects have been developed
and are currently in operation for your review.

Respectfully,

Andy G. Sehremelis



ir w*, ) Jir:i/n$":lCt' 00J0J

R

N
FOURl'll DlSl'Rl( s PS, vtsos

September 27,2011

To lVhom It lvlay Concem:

I am writingto you on behalf of Andy Sehremelis who has been a frie,nd of mine for over 15

years. I first met Andy at his restaurznt, Archibald's, in Chino Hills, CA. Since having meet
Arrdy, I have be€n impressed with his willingness to help out those in need, and those charities
that are helping those in his community. He is one of the most genenous individuals, and one of
the most generousl business ownerc that I have had the pleasure of knowing.

Andy is an intelligent and professional business owner who brings a lot to the communities
where his btsinesses aro located- His businesses prosper, in fact they do much better than
anticipated. Opeming a new business in your commrurity will not only be beneficial to those in
need though his generosrty and community involvement, but will also offer new employment
opportunities. These things always help local economies and cities to be able to provide more
services to the residents.

Andy is without a doubt one of the few individuals that I am witling to support in any advenfire
he begins, 6I know it will help benefit ttre communities he has chosen to invest in.

Sincerely,

Curt
Vice

Elagman

Board of Supertrisors
Bernardino County



- r't1 -,. !i* I

Itiatpr Pto fet l

ITTN]M

!e6a A.

lollnV. n

29fl4 Hrrn
lr€nffeq (A 925E6

Plgl€9',t6l2-6m
Fzxg'r.6?qbrw

To: TtrcCilyof Lablilood

Fr: l.letr R Ulllrter mayor d fftnfte GA

This &r seryes a a rcfrrere fur Hqest CqrtrucfbnlAn<fy
Sefrannls The qty d l{enfue ha hd the pleasue of tnig a
hrBttess Frtrer uith Parkerest Constrdirn Their rccent business

in liler&e (tOe fasbt gwtp tn$ !r Soutrern Canhrnia)
ild stroppilg oplirs b our over9l,(XX) G$.rents.

They, tu,o years agp, sbrted [i5
sEtion and AIIIPM store 6 uE[ m a full service

autunabd Ear rch. The cenEr ir sccessful as well m pleasing * they
confunred to our direct*xs as b the esthetics of the corsiructim. Ttey
rccen$ cornptaua addiq an &chbald's Resburant where they alhur our
NP(Xs to hold rneetings intheir pdvate eating aIea. They abo harc
andl€r pt$rct unlU smn adding medbal buildirgo and an Senb,r
luury livirB oorndex.

To r&, the City of frenihe has rcry high siandards built inb or buiHing
rc$rirwnents and codes tequiling fe hphest starerds for our business
partsters to adhee to ard Parltcrest fo[oled eacfi and eEry guid€rine-

On a politi=l ntr, I self-funded mycampaiyn for Mayorand tookZERCI
finenci:rl contibutirns ftom any buiEer, Oenrctoper, or corporations so th-s
rcference b hed on the aciual perfortnnce of Parkcrest lf you are
cqmilofug a proiectfom Mr. Sehrcrnelis's mmpeny rest assured !8, will
haue a quatty prcdrct and fiey wil be a grcat pafierilorthe Cityof

N.HI Vlfinbr
of ileoihe

29714 Haun Rd.
Itlenihe CA 92586
lilobib: 9'i9'28G231O
Office:951-6726717



\t

- ff

Towhttt lt rary comsm:

I em wietg b you an hhrf dAnff SgilGrEE utn h beGn a friand of
mirnhrovs ciltact yaert, hd( htpdrfRu*En haoPoln I hb lh$
IMrfit h ortHo, Gahr&. Simcttcn wetnc bcn uuf gd
tlnds md rrycilf lrc benrffigdgrady by hbg€nsclty ard
Inloircncrt$r s0iroots *U mn-prcm orgrr*mEon$

fu emple, Andf snatsors U*p*Es hr silhnB u,ho tmht
naieteathnc ard ffi gmd gra*s ad Seodarrca Fle &
rfrut$ol tardnhm, It*r*re &hny hgh sdtoofs tuo&ell Mn
x,l*fr t* ruffi frffiI qimcrt and w*hur"
UnhIt ar mmft il$ L trphg otr d*!an *d ffis b bG

sml*IUFu,&trln*.
AnOf LSfiil e dn[an dt]1e mo* gamm6 peoplo I lmoir, bcmuse I

h$o Harrsrmf trnegoorl crrse dilm. Euerl And beaides dl of
fiftt, lttthh#g b r *r* r$ffirrt
I sry trra Ufttrr frtl lccn&r bmrce they are factud and tuet

Sfmil.

Pauf l.mn

iffidonmb, Galibrnia

lGlO t{orth lIoudainAvrnue, PMB #436 Ontffio, Calibrnb Stfe
iloa p*l &. a tD( payEt algmsa - lD *r2ai0l3

t f



Ciry Counri!

Ciry t'lrll
14177 Frederick Sr.err
IlO. Box 8800i
Mor,:nc, \/.rller', CA 9255: -08i1 -(

Phonc' 951.413 3003
Fr-r: 95 I.4 I 3.3760
l.' tL it'. rnt fan!. Iu l ! m cl. tt-,

'4i&"

Sepilember 26, 2017

lik Btl F. Forrba
ltuthg e AdvethittO Cottulbrt
F€rtre Uanngortnt Gorsultilg. hc
15a00 Severyns Rod
Tustrr. CA U705

To vrhom ttis rray outoem at tre Crty of Ld(sirood,

It b nry pbffiJre to provide a l€tbr of rccomrnendation on bohelf d ha ornenr and
opefers d itlorcno Valhy Gar Wash. Since Sepbn$cr 2010 they have prcvided a
needed serub to llorcno Valley r€lrirlents and haw ben rrelu€d mernber of fie
hsiness ctrnmunl$.

As a htshees h good sfi.ndrng h tha Cfty of iliorerp Vallay, thcy have shown
ti€rrsely€s b hoE hph stardads ln their buslneas pradim. I hare personally bund
Morano Va[eU Car WLsh to pmvits a oomFfialtty en onvironment Additional[, I

h.ve not ever baan m* atrar€ of any comphints about their usa or businoss
pradices. As a matter of frct, the car rch b hrsy rnucrr of &e time dernoftgtretirg the
eftErd for sen he h Ute arta.

Furlhsrprc. it h fnpoil.nt b rne, as a membar of tra City Counci[ &at the busincss
srrntmlty oommuniiaEs ruet uh€rir if tlterc are any hr$es wih the Grty or h.sinass ln
gerrral- ttfifle I hare nd recshrcd any orphints, I do ]eceirc periodb conrmunirtion
tom them to loep lirps doqmruni:dion operu

ln closilrg, I rculd personalty lilce b rnake a pcitive lBcomrnendatbn on the behalf of
Feflise Managemeilt Comulting, lrrc.l iloreno Valley Car Wmh, I think they wouH
rrd(e a fine addilibn b &e ormunity of taleu,ood.

Oat,i, iJhrqucz
Cormd ilember, Disffict 3
Cty d lhrcno \ra[ey



OF C()MIVIERCE

September2q2(}1T

To Whom tt May C.oncem;

The Moreno Valby Chamber of Cornmerce has enioyed orrr a$ociation with Moreno Valley Car
lrrlash, lnc. fur the past 6 plus years as a Chamber m€mber.

Morcno Valhy Car Wash joined the chamber ard became an activate member. As the
opcratir€ communw resource center. it is a pleasure to promote and recommend Moreno
Valley Car \llash as the opportunity presents itself.

We look foruard to our continued retatiomhip with thc Moreno Valley Car Wash and their
seMe to the Moreno Valley communlty.

Sincerely,

Office Mana3er

m
12625 Frederlc* Street . Suite E-3. MorcnoV.lley. 04.92553-5253

offrce@moalchamber.org. u1e61r.*o*lchember.org. P. 951.697.4{tX . F. 951.697.099



belmont shore

:lll I I

Sept 19,2017

To whom it may concern:

Archibalds has been an outstanding business Belmont Shore for years. They
are very aetive tn our Belmont Shore Business Association (BSBA) and attend
our monthly meetings.

We have concerns like other business communities and Andy will always Iook
for a wayto solve problems and make our street better.

Ihow that Andy will maintain a clean and safe business in your community. It
is a pleasure to work with the Arehibald group and the employees he has
hired throughout the years.

Sincerely,

D6,D6P&il/
Dede Rmsi
Executive Director
BSBA

BELMONT SHORE BUSINESS ASSOCIATION

200 Nieto Are 2008 Long Beach CA 90803 562..f34.3066 belmontshore.org



tt

14000 City Ccntcr Drive
Chino llills, CA 91709

(9@) 36{-2600
September 25,2417 ttltwrt,cithilt& w
Sent via email: Bfenise@omail.com

To Whom it May Concern:

I am pleased to comment on my experience with Andy Sehremelis, owner of Archibald's
restaurant in Chino Hills.

Andy is a prime example of a strong local business partnership with the community. For
many years now Archibald's continues to be a strong supporter of our youth programs,

,the Chamber of Commerce, Chino Hills High School Sports, Men's and Women's prison
activities, Wounded Wanior project, American Cancer Society and so much more.

Andy becomes so involved in whatever community he is a business owner. And that is
what makes him such a strong community partner. Any City who could have one of his
businesses would be very fortunate. lf you wish further comments from me, please feel
free to callme at909-217-2282.

Sincerely,

c,** e*,*

Wil;f,no-'
Cynthia Moran
Council Member
City of Chino Hills

C,* C*,,.,t AttBennett . BrianJohsz . RayMarquez . CynthiaMoran . PeterJ.Rogers



September 22, 2017

To whom this may concern,

It is my immense please to recommend Archibald's in chino Hills Ca. For the past several years

Archibald's has been an outstanding supporter of Chino Hills High schools Academic and Athletic

programs. Archibald's entages themselves in our community and school programs and events and

always accommodating the needs of our students and athletes. Archibald's creativeness to bring

them in front of our community is without a doubt hands down acknowledged. lnvolved on Friday

nights with the Football program having Field Goal challenges where all parties are winners. School

Rally's, Saturday events, everyday ever time every need; they do more than we ask for. They

providinS unexpected lunches to teams and programs to show their support and connect with the
local community. Archibald's invested in its direct community and offers not only a place of Good

Eating but employment opportunities for the community it serves. This is what a community needs,

a business that provides and provides and suppdrts and supports. I have seen many Families work at
the Chino Hills Archibald's and am currently working with a student that is now the manager of the
same Archibald's.

ln closing I am not a professional Reference writer, actually this is my first. lt's with great gratitude I

say again, it is for Archibald's and can assure you that their business model will be very bright and

accepted in all communities it chooses to be in. I hope you get to share this same feeling.

Kind Regards,

CHUCK

Chuck Masad
President
Chino Hills High School FB Boosters
chuckmasad@yahoo.com
909-635-2867



ffi
@

September 15,2017

To whom it may concern:

Archibald's Restaurant has been a valued member of the Chino Hills community for l2 years. At the Chino
Valley Chamber of Commerce, we have had the pleasure of working with Archibald's on several occasions and
found them to be great corporate citizens and partners.

The restaurant has a spacious meeting room and generously allows us to use it to host events or meetings.
They have supported the Chamber through their membership and other contributions.

In addition to being good corporate citizens, neighbors and partners, the restaurant also serves excellent fbod
We believe any community would be fortunate to have Archibald's choose to move into their neighborhood.

Thank you for your consideration.

Jason Zara
Executive Director, Chino Valley Chamber of Commerce

Chino Valley Chamber of Commerce
13L50 Seventh Street, Chino CA 91710

www.chinova llevchamber.com
Phone: 909-627-6177 Fax:909-627-4180 email: jzara@chinovalleychamber.com



TERRA GOTTA MIDDLE SCHOOL
29291Lake St., Lake Elsinore CA 92530

951/674-0641 . FAX 9951/674-5191

A Galifornia Distinguished and
Excellence in Arts School

September 19,2017

Thank you to Archibald's Restaurant

Dear Bill Ferrise,

Thank you very much for the great support you continue to give to Terra Cotta Middle School in
Lake Elsinore Valley Unified School District.

Our students are awarded regularly with your contribution of a variety of incentives. You help
encourage our students to do their very best. This year we are pleased to be in the process of setting
up our Freedom Write/s assembly. You were able to coordinate a free event for our school that
would otherwise be very costly.

Again, we want to thank you and let you know how much we appreciate you!

Sincerely,

0, horh4
Dr. Kathy Nash',

{)un
Principal, Terra Cotta Middle School

Principal -Kathy Nash, Ed.D. Assistant Principal - Jomph Domlnguaz
$overllng Board - Susan E. Scoft . Juan Saucedo - Stan Crippen . Heidi Matthies Dodd . Harotd Stryker
Superintendent - Doug Kimberly, Ed.D.

LAKE ELSINORE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRIGT



9t2212017 Gmatl - Letter of Recommendation

f4 Smai$ Bill Ferrise <bferrise@gmail.com>

Letter of Recommendation

Lesa Sobek <lsobek@cityofmenifee.us>
To: Bill Fenise <bfenise@gmail.com>

September 21,2017

Fri, Sep 22,2017 at 5:05 AM

Dear Mr. Andy Schremelis,
I want to thank you for this opportunity to write a letter of recommendation.

To whom it may concern,
I first met Mr. Andy Schremelis several years ago as a planning commissioner when he had an AMiPM project come
before the Menifee City Planning Commission. l've continued a working relationship with this business developer as he's
continued to invest in the City of Menifee a new Archibalds restaurant and other upcoming projects. Mr. Schremelis and
his team have truly joined our Menifee family as a true partnership assisting in community charity events, making
donations to our schools, he exhibited his kindness and charity when he purchased a brand new much needed electric
wheelchair for a resident.
I was impressed to find out before his new Archibalds restiaurant was even open he became a major sponsor of the
Menifee Little League.

Mr. Schremelis has truly been a valued member of the Menifee Community and works cooperatively with the City to make
for a successful and well/planned project. His classy quality projects have been a wonderful asset to our neighborhoods.
How wonderful it would be for our communities if all business developers took Mr. Schremelis'example of truly investing
and working to make such positive differences.
lf you would like to reach me personally, l've provided my contact information.

Respectfully,
Lesa Sobek
Menifee City Coundlwoman, District 3
909-838-3774
L Sobe k@cityofm en i,'ee. u s

Sent from my iPad

On Sep '15,2017, at 12:34 PM, Bill Ferrise <bferrise@gmail.com> wrote:

lQuoted text hiddenl

hltps://mail.google.comlmatllulOl?ui=2&ik='|539007164&jsver=kceat7M83Kl.en.&view=pt&msg=1sea97aef2Sca6af&search=inbox&siml=1 
Seaglaetlic. 1t1



9126120',t7 Gmail - Avon 39

F,*f ffilmaitr Bill Ferrise <bferrise@gmail.com>

Avon 39

Thomas, Rosie@CDCR <Rosie.Thomas@cdcr.ca.gov>
To: Bill Fenise <bfenise@gmail.com>
Cc: Cynthia Moran <cmoran@chinohills.org>

Mon, Sep 25,2017 at 2:43 PM

Hello Mr. Fenise,

I wanted to reach out and say thank you on behalf of all the inmates and staff who participated in the Avon 29 cancer walk
for generous donation of water. The event was great and all the women enjoyed themselves as they walked for cancer. I

also wanted to ask if you could complete the donation slip I have attached so we may send you an official thank you letter
for your support. Again thank you and Cynthia for reaching out to use with assistance.

Rosie Thomas

Conectional Lieutenant

Administrative AssistanUPublic lnformation Ofiicer

Califomia lnstitution for Women

Work:(909) 606-4921

Cell: (909)270-6839

m Donation Form CDG g22.docx
17K

hitps://mail.google.c.omlmaillul0l?ui=2&ik=1539007164&jsver=EatL6uzdl9M.en.&view=pt&msq=15ebaffs2,112bf64&search=inharSsimt=t seheff62.r r2h ,l l4



--r4--'

ibil n Wnbr
MoW

MayorMTcrn
Disttit:t 2

Jolxr V, Dcovcr
Cotndfucrn,€t

Dlsttict 1

6lcg Altust
Cotmdlmqrfur

Disfr:t7

L€3a sob.d.
cour,r ft7',mtf,t

Di$r'xt3

r9ru ltrrn nEd
ti.nffcGr CA 9r5E6

96L67zSm
Fax 9'n.69384,

Septemb€r 26, 2017

Andy Sehremelis

Parkcrest CorEtruction lnc.

2910 5 Archibald Avc, A35O

Onta.b, CA 91761

m P.ft r€6t Constnrcdon hE

Mr. Selremelh:

As the lnterim Cfry Manager fo[ the city of Menifee, I would like to express our sincetc

gratitu& for Parl(cresl Constructlon lnc.'s commitment and in\,ohEment in the

community ar|d thc quality de\relopment proie.rs that you hav€ brouSht to our City. You

and your brsiness are a wekomd additbn to our boomirg City growth.

Parlcrest Constructlon lnc. is well known ,or rour guality Eojccts that Parkctest

Co'nstruction lnc. has developed in the Clty. These proiec8 have beautifiad our e\r€r

gmwinB City and the surrounding areas, Th€y have also contributed directly'to our local

economy by creatirE much needed employrnent opportunltles here ln Menifue. City Staff
has expressed great pleasurc working with Par&crest Construction lnc. to bring hlgh
quality developments into the City that match our vision of Menlfee's Future.

Agaln, thar* you fff your support with many community e\rents. Your commitment to the
local community has been commendable ard is a grcat asset to our City. Business€s that
partner with the communiu are intelral lo thb communit/s fabric, in that it strengthens

community pride, business developnen! and our orerall brend ld€ntity. We are proud to
confirm that Pa*crest Cons;tructirn lnc. is a \ralued asset to the community. Shoutd you

ever need ass'rstance in the Clty, please do not hesibte to contact me or my Staff.

Shcerely,

tomld E, Bradley

lnterlm City MahaSer



To Whom It May Concern,

I have known Andy Sehremelis and worked with him and his marketing stafffor over2
years now. He is a great gentleman, very creative, and tireless on any project he

undertakes. He is a family man rich with integrity, intelligence and dedication to all of his

businesses.

I worked together on many different projects for Andy. I was Executive Assistant tbr l0
years with the Menifee Chamber of Commerce; I first met him when he was Marketing
and Advertising his new Arco am/pm Gas Station in Menifee. Andy became very active
in the Menifee Valley Chamber, supporting our different events and sponsoring many
programs.

Andy is very community minded and supports many local athletic endeavors, Paloma
Valley High School, MSJC and several other youth organizations in Menifee.

I worked on both, the Grand Opening of the Arco am/pm station and on the recent Grand
Opening of his new Archibald's Restaurant in Menifee.

I truly admire this man and highly endorse him for any project, in any city in which he
becomes involved.

Sincerely,

Joan Ring
Sales Executive
Menifee Buzz Newspaper



Bmccs L.lw ConpoRATroN

5 B 6 I '17 oCT -4 q1g :28

v'I D
SancDiego Office:
489 1 Aacifu Wfrany Suite 1 04

San (Diego, U 92110

Iebpfrono: 619497-0021
tracsimib: 909-949-7 1 2 1

In[an[tEmpire Office:
99 East oC' 

Street, Suite 1 1 1

Opk"[, CrS 917E6

{ebpfioru: 909-949-7115
tracsimite : 909-94 9-7 1 2 1

<Pbase respon[ to: I nkn[ tEmpire offue BLC Eite6) 1E84.01

3 October 2017

Mayor and City Council
City of Lakewood
5050 Clark Avenue
Lakewood, CA907l2

Re: Requqst for Continuance of Appeal Hearing on Application for Conditional Use
Permit No. 948

Dear Mayor and City Council:

On behalf of the applicant and principal on the above-referenced matter, I am writing to
request a one-month continuance of the appeal hearing currently scheduled for October 1,0,2017.
The principal's representative, Andrew Sehremelis, and I have unbreakable scheduling conflicts and
cannot attend the hearing even though we believe that our presence is very important. Mr.
Sehremelis will be attending his daughter's graduation from graduate school back east, and I will be
traveling out of town for depositions. While I will also be traveling on October 24,he and I are both
available on November 14 or 28.

One ofthe architects working on the matter for the principal recently asked for a continuance
but reportedlywas told that the Lakewood Municipal Code ("LMC") does not allow continuances.
The architect was provided copies of LMC Sections 9403.01-9407.6 to substantiate the position
taken by the City. However, I reviewed those provisions and see nothing that prohibits a continuance
at the request of the app licant. To allqviate arlrfinanqial hardship on the City, the applicant is
willine to reimburse the City for the out-of-pocket costs of re-noticing the appeal hearing on a
convenient date. Under these circumstances, not continuing the hearing could constitute a denial of
my clients' due-process rights.

Please let me know as soon as possible in writing whether the City will accommodate my
clients and continue the appeal hearing to November 14 or 28. Thank you in advance for your
anticipated understanding and cooperation.

Sincerely,

BRIGGS LAW CORPORATION

q-ltW
Cory J. Briggs

&__x

ffi..'



 RESOLUTION NO. 2017- 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
DENYING THE APPEAL OF CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 948 AND 
UPHOLDING THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION’S 
APPROVAL OF A CARWASH FACILITY WITH COVERED OUTDOOR 
VACUUM STATIONS AND A CAR SERVICE BUILDING ON A PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 6741 CARSON STREET, LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA. 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES HEREBY FIND, RESOLVE AND 
DETERMINE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  The City Council finds that the Planning and Environment Commission, by 
Resolution No. 14-2017, approved an application for a Conditional Use Permit No. 948, for the 
establishment of a carwash facility with covered outdoor vacuum stations and a car service 
building located at 6741 Carson Street, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 9341.B, 9347.A, 
9347.B.3, 9347.D.11, and 9490.1 of the Lakewood Municipal Code, Lakewood, California, on 
July 6, 2017. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The City Council finds that Mr. Arthur Pinette, 4323 Quigley Avenue, 
Lakewood, California 90713, timely filed a written appeal of the Planning Commission decision 
with the City Council on July 26, 2017.  A copy of the written appeal is attached hereto and made 
a part hereof. 
 
 SECTION 3.  The City Council finds that, at its September 12, 2017 meeting, it 
considered the appeal of Arthur Pinette and voted to continue the hearing to conduct a hearing De 
Novo so that it may consider new and/or additional evidence as it relates to this application. 
 
 SECTION 4.  The City Council does hereby report that a public hearing De Novo was held 
before it in respect to said appeal on the 10th day of October, 2017, and the City Council does hereby 
find and determine that said appeal should be denied for the following reasons: 
 

A. The nature, conditions and development of adjacent uses, buildings and structures have 
been considered, and it is hereby found that the proposed use will not jeopardize or adversely affect or 
will not be detrimental to the public health, safety and welfare, or to the surrounding property and 
residences for the following reasons: 
 

1. The request is for approval of Conditional Use Permit No. 948 is based on Exhibits “A,” 
“B,” “C,” “D,” “E,” “F,” “G,” “H,” and “I.” 
 

2. The subject use will not to be in conflict with the goals of the General Plan, nor is the 
proposed use in conflict with the Commercial land use designation of the General Plan. 

 



Resolution No.  2017- 
Page 2 
 

3. The nature, condition, and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures have 
been considered, and it has been found the use will not adversely affect or is materially detrimental to 
adjacent uses, buildings, or structures provided that the conditions contained have been met and 
maintained. 
 

4. Carson Street and the adjacent public alley are adequate to serve the traffic generated by 
the site.  Thus, no adverse effect is anticipated on existing roads and circulation as a consequence of 
this application. 

 
5. The project will have 27 parking spaces including two ADA accessible parking spaces.  

There will also be one 10’ x 25’ loading zone space near the northwest corner of the building.  The 16 
spaces on the east side of the carwash building will be used as covered outdoor vacuum stations. 
 

6. Notification of a public hearing has been made, pursuant to Section 9422, et seq., of the 
Lakewood Municipal Code and State law. 

 
7. An Initial Study was prepared for the proposed project pursuant to Section 15063 of the 

California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, as amended, and a Mitigated Negative Declaration 
was prepared for this project, pursuant to Section 15070, et sequitur, of the Guidelines. The project 
was found to have no significant effect on the environment, after implementation of the mitigation 
measures contained in the Initial Study prepared for this project. 
 

B. The record does have substantial evidence supporting the decision of the Planning and 
Environment Commission. 

 
 ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 10th day of October, 2017, by the City Council of the 
City of Lakewood voting as follows: 
        
  AYES  NAYS ABSENT 
Council Member Croft       
Council Member Piazza       
Council Member Rogers       
Council Member Wood       
Mayor DuBois       
 
 
 
             
       Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
City Clerk 



 RESOLUTION NO. 2017- 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
APPROVING THE APPEAL OF CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 948 
AND DENYING THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION’S 
APPROVAL OF A CARWASH FACILITY WITH COVERED OUTDOOR 
VACUUM STATIONS AND A CAR SERVICE BUILDING ON A 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6741 CARSON STREET, LAKEWOOD, 
CALIFORNIA 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES HEREBY FIND, RESOLVE AND 
DETERMINE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  The City Council finds that the Planning and Environment Commission, by 
Resolution No. 14-2017, approved an application for a Conditional Use Permit No. 948, for the 
establishment of a carwash facility with covered outdoor vacuum stations and a car service 
building located at 6741 Carson Street, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 9341.B, 9347.A, 
9347.B.3, 9347.D.11, and 9490.1 of the Lakewood Municipal Code, Lakewood, California, on 
July 6, 2017. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The City Council finds that Mr. Arthur Pinette, 4323 Quigley Avenue, 
Lakewood, California 90713, timely filed a written appeal of the Planning Commission decision 
with the City Council on July 26, 2017.  A copy of the written appeal is attached hereto and made 
a part hereof. 
 
 SECTION 3.  The City Council finds that, at its September 12, 2017 meeting, it considered 
the appeal of Arthur Pinette and voted to continue the hearing to conduct a hearing De Novo so that it 
may consider new and/or additional evidence as it relates to this application.   
 
 SECTION 4.  The City Council does hereby report that a public hearing De Novo was held 
before it in respect to said appeal on the 10th day of October, 2017, and the City Council does hereby 
find and determine that said appeal should be approved for the following reasons: 
 

A. The nature, conditions and development of adjacent uses, buildings and structures have 
been considered, and it is hereby found that the proposed use will jeopardize or adversely affect or will 
be detrimental to the public health, safety and welfare, or to the surrounding property and residences 
for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposed use is in conflict with the General Plan as follows:_____________. 
 
2. The nature, condition and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures 

have been considered and it has been found that the proposed use will jeopardize, or adversely 



Resolution No. 2017- 
Page 2 
 
 
affect, or be detrimental to the public health, safety and welfare, or to the surrounding property 
and residences for the following reasons:_____________. 

 
3. The Applicant has failed to show that the proposed conditional use meets the 

principles and standards specified in Section 9401.A of the Lakewood Municipal Code, and 
Section _____________. 

 
4. (Here, set forth any additional applicable grounds for denying the application.). 

 
 

B. The record does not have substantial evidence supporting the decision of the Planning 
and Environment Commission. 

 
 
 ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 10th day of October, 2017, by the City Council of the 
City of Lakewood voting as follows: 
        
  AYES  NAYS ABSENT 
Council Member Croft       
Council Member Piazza       
Council Member Rogers       
Council Member Wood       
Mayor DuBois       
 
 
             
       Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
City Clerk 

 





 

1.2 

 COUNCIL AGENDA 
 October 10, 2017 
 
TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Rejection of Bids – Public Works Contract 17-06 
 Entry Gate Improvements to Existing Equestrian Center  
  
INTRODUCTION 
On October 2, 2017 the City Clerk received and opened three bids for installation of Entry Gate 
Improvements at The Existing Equestrian Center. All bids were in excess of what Staff expected.  
 
STATEMENT OF FACT 
The scope of work for this project consist of site demolition and site improvements including 
earthwork, concrete hardscape, automatic rolling gate, and other related improvements.  
 
Three contractors qualified to bid this project by attending a mandatory pre-bid conference; all three 
contractors purchased plans and specifications and submitted bid proposals. A bid summary is 
below: 
 

Noho Constructors $67,150 
The Stone Collector $69,500 
Minco Construction $87,000 

 
All three bids were substantially higher then staff expectations. Due to this, staff recommends all 
bids be rejected, and that the project be re-designed and re-bid.  
 
SUMMARY 
Bids have been received on Public Works Contract 17-06.  Staff recommends rejection of all 
bids, and rebid of the revised project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION   
That the City Council:  
 
(1) Reject all bids received for Public Works Contract 17-06.  
 
(2) Authorize staff to revise and rebid the project.  
 
 
Lisa Ann Rapp Thaddeus McCormack  
Director of Public Works City Manager 





1.3 

 COUNCIL AGENDA 
 October 10, 2017 
 
 
 
TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Date Change to General Municipal Elections 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
On September 1, 2015, Governor Brown signed into law Senate Bill 415 “Voter Participation,” which 
prohibits local governments, beginning January 1, 2018, from holding an election on any date other 
than on a statewide election date if doing so has resulted in voter turnout being at least 25% below 
the average turnout in that jurisdiction in the previous four statewide general elections.   The public 
policy behind SB 415 was to address waning civic engagement in politics as illustrated by declining 
voter turnout in Federal, state, and municipal elections.  The legislative analysis asserts that one major 
contributing factor to low voter turnout, the timing of elections, could be addressed by synchronizing 
municipal elections with statewide elections. 
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
The City of Lakewood general municipal elections are now held in March of odd-numbered years.  
Pursuant to the Elections Code, the City Council may increase or decrease any terms of office by not 
more than twelve months.  Provided that the City Council adopts a transition plan by January 1, 2018, 
it may synchronize with any statewide election through November 8, 2022.  The Elections Code 
requires that a City Council enacted ordinance to consolidate with a statewide election date be subject 
to approval by the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. 
 
The Registrar has recently unveiled a new voting system, with sufficient technical and physical 
capacity to accommodate the influx of consolidations with local districts and municipalities, however, 
the voting system is not anticipated to be available for use until 2020.  Registrar staff has advised that 
if the City Council adopts an ordinance to synchronize its general municipal elections with a statewide 
election date, it would evaluate the City’s electoral history including the number of candidates and 
ballot measures to determine whether its current voting system could accommodate the consolidation 
request and would then present its recommendation to the Board of Supervisors.  Registrar staff has 
stated that recent requests by municipalities and school districts have been approved for 
consolidation, noting that several of these requests were a result of lawsuit settlements or will become 
operative in 2020 to coincide with the launch of the new voting system. 
 
The Governor has recently signed SB568, which would shift all primary elections, including those for 
statewide, legislative and congressional offices, from June to March beginning with the presidential 
primary in 2020. 
 



Date Change to General Municipal Elections 
October 10, 2017 
Page 2 
 
 
A proposed ordinance would move the date of the City’s general municipal election to the first 
Tuesday after the first Monday in March of even-numbered years, to coincide with statewide general 
elections, commencing with the moving of the general municipal election presently scheduled for 
March 2021 to March 2022.  The terms of office which would have expired in March 2021 would 
instead expire in the same manner but after the occurrence of the general municipal election to be held 
in March 2022, and the terms of office which would have expired in March 2023 would instead expire 
in the same manner but after the occurrence of the general municipal election to be held in March 
2024.  Pursuant to the Elections Code, notice is required to be mailed informing all registered voters 
of the change in election dates and that, as a result of such change, the terms of office of City 
officeholders would be extended by not more than twelve months. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that the City Council hold a public hearing and introduce the proposed ordinance 
moving the general municipal elections to the first Tuesday after the first Monday in March of each 
even-numbered year beginning in March of 2021. 
 
 
Carol Flynn Jacoby Thaddeus McCormack 
Assistant City Manager City Manager 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2017-8 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD MOVING 
THE CITY’S GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS TO THE 
FIRST TUESDAY AFTER THE FIRST MONDAY IN MARCH 
OF EACH EVEN-NUMBERED YEAR BEGINNING IN 
MARCH OF 2021 

 
WHEREAS, City of Lakewood (the “City”) general municipal elections are now held in 

March of odd-numbered years, to elect five members of the City Council, with three members 
elected in one year and two members elected two years removed; and 

 
WHEREAS, the provisions of Senate Bill 415 (SB 415) compel the City to consolidate 

its general municipal elections with a statewide election date, not later than November, 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, Sections 1301 and 10403.5 of the California Elections Code authorize the 

City Council to reschedule its general municipal elections to increase or decrease any terms of 
office by not more than 12 months. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. Change of Election Dates.  Pursuant to Sections 1000 and 1301 of the 
California Elections Code, the City’s general municipal elections are hereby moved to the first 
Tuesday after the first Monday in March of even-numbered years, to coincide with statewide 
general elections, commencing with the moving of the general municipal election presently 
scheduled for March, 2021, to March, 2022. 
 
 SECTION 2. Adjustment to Terms of Office.  Pursuant to Section 1301 and 10403.5 of 
the California  Elections Code, the term of any elected City officeholder that would have expired 
in March, 2021, shall instead expire in the same manner, but after the occurrence of the general 
municipal election to be held in March, 2022, and the term of any elected City officeholder that 
would have expired in March, 2023, shall instead expire in the same manner, but after the 
occurrence of the general municipal election to be held in March, 2024. 
 
 SECTION 3. Section 1500 of the Lakewood Municipal Code is hereby amended to add 
the following additional paragraph to follow the existing language in said section: 
 
 “Beginning in 2021, the date of the general municipal election is changed to the first 
Tuesday after the first Monday in March of even-numbered years, with the first such change 
being that the election that otherwise would have been held on March 2, 2021, will instead be 
held on March 8, 2022.” 
 



Ordinance No. 2017-8 
Page 2 
 
 
 SECTION 4. Consolidated Elections.  Pursuant to Section 1301 and 10403.5 of the 
California Elections Code, the City hereby requests that the County of Los Angeles approve this 
Ordinance and allow for the consolidation of the City’s general municipal elections with 
statewide general elections to be conducted by the County in March of each even-numbered 
year, beginning with the election to be held in March, 2022.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to 
forward a copy of this Ordinance to the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors with a request 
that it be approved. 
 
 SECTION 5. Operative Date.  This Ordinance shall become operative upon approval by 
the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors. 
 
 SECTION 6. Notice to Voters.  Pursuant to Section 10403.5(e) of the California 
Elections Code, within 30 days after this Ordinance becomes operative, the City’s Elections 
Official shall cause notice to be mailed to all registered voters, informing the voters of the 
change in election dates made by this Ordinance, and that, as a result of such change, the terms 
of office of City officeholders will be extended by not more than 12 months. 
 

SECTION 7. The City Council hereby declares it would have passed this Ordinance  
sentence by sentence, paragraph by paragraph and section by section, and does hereby declare 
the provisions of this Ordinance are severable, and if for any reason any section of this 
Ordinance should be held invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining 
parts of this Ordinance. 
 

SECTION 8.  The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance.  The City 
Council hereby finds and determines there are no newspapers of general circulation both 
published and circulated within the City and, in compliance with Section 36933 of the 
Government Code, directs the City Clerk to cause said Ordinance within fifteen (15) days after 
its passage to be posted in at least three (3) public places within the City as established by 
Ordinance. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this ____ day of ___________, 2017, by the following 
roll call vote: 
 
  AYES  NAYS ABSENT 
Council Member Croft       
Council Member Piazza       
Council Member Rogers       
Council Member Wood       
Mayor DuBois       
 
 
 
             
       Mayor 



Ordinance No. 2017-8 
Page 3 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
City Clerk 
 





 



3.1 

 COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 10, 2017 

 
 
TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Master License Agreement for Telecommunications Wireless Facilities on Public 

Rights-of-Way 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
With the anticipated increase in receiving applications for small cell wireless sites on the public 
rights-of-way, staff desires to minimize regulatory proceedings while protecting and preserving 
City interests, including public safety, municipal operations, aesthetics and revenue 
enhancement.  A Master License Agreement would serve these objectives. 
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
In recent years, wireless providers have expanded network capacity by augmenting wireless 
towers with less conspicuous devices known as small cells.  These small cells are being deployed 
in increasing numbers and this trend is expected to continue for years as the demand for network 
capacity continues to grow.  While small cells can be mounted on buildings or in other locations 
such as parks, Ordinance 2017-6 encourages locating small cells on existing poles located in the 
rights-of-way.  The Master License Agreement authorizes and controls placement of small cells 
on City-owned poles.  The proposed master license approach has been adopted by several other 
California cities and is emerging as a new best practice for smaller and mid-sized cities like 
Lakewood who are receiving an increasing number of requests for access to municipal 
infrastructure in the rights-of-way.  A Master License Agreement would be made available to 
any interested wireless provider. 
 
The Master License Agreement would create an expedited process for locating small cells, and 
would not require a wireless provider to process a special permit for each proposed small cell or 
proposed group of small cells.  The Master License Agreement preparation payment will be 
established with each wireless provider in order to reimburse the City for the staff time 
associated with execution of the Agreement.  Once an Agreement is obtained, the provider would 
be eligible to request placement of a small cell on City-owned poles proposed by the carrier from 
time to time.  These requests would be processed on a pole-by-pole basis under a pole license.  
The City could reject a request for any legitimate reason, including potential interference with 
City functions, safety concerns, aesthetic concerns or other reasons.  If approved, the small cell 
would be designed and operated to satisfy a broad group of standard rules in the agreement. 
 
During the term of the agreement, the wireless provider would make payments to reimburse the 
City for staff time and would pay annual license fees for the use of each pole.  The amount of the 
annual license fee would be negotiated, but is expected to be consistent among the various 
Master License Agreements.  Master License Agreements would follow the form attached as 
Exhibit 1 and include administrative fees to recoup city costs that are indicated in Resolution No. 
2017-53. 



Council Agenda 
October 10, 2017 
Page 2 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that the City Council: 
 

1) Approve the proposed Master License for Wireless Facilities on City Poles in the Right 
of Way (Master License Agreement); 
 

2) Authorize the City Manager to execute Master License Agreements in a form approved 
by the City Attorney. 

 
 
Lisa Rapp     Thaddeus McCormack 
Director of Public Works    City Manager 
 
 
Attachments: 
Exhibit 1 – Master License Agreement 
 



 

 

 
 

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR  
WIRELESS FACILITIES ON CITY POLES IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY 

 
 

between 
 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD, A CALIFORNIA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
 

and 
 

[INSERT LICENSEE NAME], A [INSERT CORPORATE FORM] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective Date: [insert] 



 

 i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
1. GENERAL DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................... 2 

2. SCOPE OF LICENSE ........................................................................................... 5 

2.1. License Area ..................................................................................................... 5 

2.1.1. Pole License Issuance and Effect ............................................................ 5 

2.1.2. Limitations on License Areas ................................................................... 5 

2.2. Limitations on Licensee’s Interests ............................................................... 6 

2.2.1. Limited Interest Created ............................................................................ 6 

2.2.2. Limited Rights Created ............................................................................. 6 

2.2.3. No Impediment to Municipal Uses ........................................................... 6 

2.3. Diminutions in Light, Air and Signal .............................................................. 6 

2.4. License Area Condition ................................................................................... 6 

2.4.1. “As-Is and With All Faults” Condition ..................................................... 7 

2.4.2. Licensee’s Due Diligence .......................................................................... 7 

2.4.3. Certified Access Specialist Disclosure.................................................... 7 

3. TERM .................................................................................................................... 7 

3.1. Master License Term ....................................................................................... 7 

3.2. Pole License Term ........................................................................................... 7 

4. LICENSE FEE; OTHER PAYMENTS ................................................................... 8 

4.1. License Fees ..................................................................................................... 8 

4.1.1. Commencement Date ................................................................................ 8 

4.1.2. Acknowledgment Letter ............................................................................ 8 

4.1.3. License Fee Amount.................................................................................. 9 

4.1.4. Annual License Fee Adjustments ............................................................ 9 

4.1.5. License Fee Due Date................................................................................ 9 

4.2. Administrative Fees ......................................................................................... 9 

4.2.1. Master License Preparation Fee ............................................................... 9 

4.2.2. Pole License Processing Fee ................................................................... 9 

4.3. Late Charges .................................................................................................. 10 

4.4. Default Interest ............................................................................................... 10 

4.5. Additional Fees .............................................................................................. 10 

4.6. Payment Procedures ..................................................................................... 11 

4.7. Liquidated Charges and Fees ....................................................................... 11 



 

 ii 

5. USES ................................................................................................................... 11 

5.1. Permitted Use ................................................................................................. 11 

5.2. Prohibition on “Macro Cell” Uses ................................................................. 11 

5.3. Prohibition on Illegal Uses or Nuisances ..................................................... 12 

5.4. Signs or Advertisements ............................................................................... 12 

6. POLE LICENSES ................................................................................................ 12 

6.1. City Approval Required ................................................................................. 12 

6.2. Pre-Approved Designs and Locations ......................................................... 13 

6.3. Pole License Application ............................................................................... 13 

6.4. Pole License Application Review Procedures ............................................. 13 

6.4.1. Incomplete Pole License Applications .................................................. 13 

6.4.2. Required Changes to the Pole License Application ............................. 14 

6.4.3. Consultation with Other City Departments ........................................... 14 

6.4.4. Pole License Application Approval ........................................................ 14 

6.4.5. City’s Right to Disapprove ...................................................................... 15 

6.4.6. Federal and State Regulations Inapplicabl ............................................ 15 

6.4.7. Staff Augmentation Costs ....................................................................... 15 

7. EQUIPMENT INSTALLATION ............................................................................ 16 

7.1. Approved Plans and Equipment Specifications .......................................... 16 

7.1.1. Site Identification Required .................................................................... 16 

7.1.2. Changes Required for Regulatory Approvals ....................................... 16 

7.1.3. Corrections to Approved Plans .............................................................. 16 

7.2. Prior Regulatory Approvals Required .......................................................... 16 

7.3. Installation; Strict Compliance with Approved Plans ................................. 17 

7.3.1. Alterations to City’s Property ................................................................. 17 

7.3.2. Licensee’s Contractors ........................................................................... 17 

7.4. Labor and Materials Costs ............................................................................ 17 

7.5. Project Managers ........................................................................................... 18 

7.6. Coordination with the City ............................................................................. 19 

7.7. Fiber-Optic Cables ......................................................................................... 19 

7.8. Title to Licensee’s Equipment and Other Improvements ........................... 19 

7.9. Compliance with Prevailing Wage Policies.................................................. 19 

8. PUBLIC WORKS OPERATIONS ........................................................................ 20 

8.1. City’s Access to License Areas .................................................................... 20 



 

 iii 

8.2. Repairs, Maintenance and Alterations to Poles .......................................... 21 

8.3. Repairs, Maintenance and Alterations to License Areas ............................ 21 

8.4. Emergencies ................................................................................................... 21 

9. LICENSEE’S MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS .................................................. 22 

9.1. Damage to Poles ............................................................................................ 22 

9.1.1. Notice to the City ..................................................................................... 22 

9.1.2. Damage Caused by Licensee ................................................................. 22 

9.1.3. No Right to Repair ................................................................................... 22 

9.2. Equipment Maintenance ................................................................................ 22 

9.2.1. Generally .................................................................................................. 22 

9.2.2. Modifications ........................................................................................... 23 

9.3. Graffiti Abatement .......................................................................................... 23 

9.4. Standard of Work ........................................................................................... 23 

9.5. Inspections ..................................................................................................... 23 

10. LIENS .................................................................................................................. 24 

11. UTILITIES ........................................................................................................... 24 

12. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS ............................................................................ 25 

12.1. Possessory Interest Taxes ......................................................................... 25 

12.2. Licensee’s Tax Obligations ........................................................................ 25 

13. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS ............................................................................... 25 

13.1. Compliance with Current and Future Laws .............................................. 25 

13.2. Licensee’s Personnel ................................................................................. 26 

13.2.1. Personnel Training and Certification .................................................. 26 

13.2.2. Licensee’s Indemnification for Personal Injuries .............................. 26 

13.3. Compliance with CPUC GO 95 ................................................................... 26 

13.4. Compliance with Building and Electric Codes ......................................... 26 

13.5. Compliance with RF Exposure Regulations ............................................. 27 

14. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION ........................................................................... 27 

14.1. City’s Rights After Damage or Destruction .............................................. 27 

14.1.1. Election to Repair or Replace Damaged Pole .................................... 27 

14.1.2. Election to Remove Damaged Pole .................................................... 27 

14.1.3. Election to Remove Equipment from Damaged Pole ........................ 27 

14.2. Licensee’s Rights upon Termination ........................................................ 28 

14.3. Waiver of Statutory Rights ......................................................................... 28 



 

 iv 

15. CONDEMNATION ............................................................................................... 28 

15.1. Permanent Takings ..................................................................................... 28 

15.1.1. Termination ........................................................................................... 28 

15.1.2. Award .................................................................................................... 28 

15.1.3. No Statutory Right to Terminate ......................................................... 29 

15.2. Temporary Takings ..................................................................................... 29 

16. ASSIGNMENT AND OTHER TRANSFERS ....................................................... 29 

16.1. General Restriction ..................................................................................... 29 

16.2. Proposed Assignment Procedures ........................................................... 29 

16.2.1. Proposed Assignment Notice ............................................................. 29 

16.2.2. City Response ...................................................................................... 30 

16.3. Permitted Assignments .............................................................................. 30 

16.3.1. Definition ............................................................................................... 30 

16.3.2. Conditions............................................................................................. 30 

16.4. Effect of Assignment .................................................................................. 31 

16.5. Assumption by Transferee ......................................................................... 31 

16.6. Licensee’s Customers ................................................................................ 32 

17. DEFAULT ............................................................................................................ 32 

17.1. Events of Default by Licensee ................................................................... 32 

17.2. City’s Remedies .......................................................................................... 32 

17.2.1. License Continuation ........................................................................... 33 

17.2.2. Pole License Termination .................................................................... 33 

17.2.3. Master License Termination ................................................................ 33 

17.2.4. Default Fees .......................................................................................... 33 

17.3. Licensee’s Remedies ..................................................................................... 34 

17.4. Cumulative Rights and Remedies ................................................................. 34 

18. LICENSEE’S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS ............................................ 34 

19. INSURANCE ....................................................................................................... 35 

19.1. Licensee’s Insurance .................................................................................. 35 

19.1.1. Required Coverages ............................................................................ 35 

19.1.2. Required Endorsements ...................................................................... 35 

19.1.3. Cancellation Notices ............................................................................ 36 

19.1.4. Claims-Made Policies ........................................................................... 36 

19.1.5. General Aggregate Limit ...................................................................... 36 



 

 v 

19.1.6. Certificates ............................................................................................ 36 

19.1.7. Insurer Qualifications .......................................................................... 36 

19.1.8. Effective Dates ...................................................................................... 36 

19.1.9. Licensee’s Self-Insurance Alternative ................................................ 37 

19.1.10.  No Limitation on Indemnification Obligations ................................ 37 

19.1.11. Right to Terminate ............................................................................ 37 

19.2. City’s Insurance .......................................................................................... 37 

19.3. Subrogation Waiver .................................................................................... 37 

19.4. Contractors’ Bonds and Insurance ........................................................... 38 

20. LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY’S LIABILITY ........................................................ 38 

20.1. General Limitations on the City’s Liability ............................................... 38 

20.2. Consequential Damages ............................................................................ 38 

20.3. No Relocation Assistance .......................................................................... 39 

20.4. Non-Liability for City Officials, Employees and Agents .......................... 39 

20.5. Licensee’s Waiver ....................................................................................... 39 

21. RECORDS .......................................................................................................... 40 

21.1. Accounting Records ................................................................................... 40 

21.2. Estoppel Certificates .................................................................................. 40 

22. RULES AND REGULATIONS ............................................................................ 40 

23. SURETY BOND .................................................................................................. 40 

23.1. Amount ........................................................................................................ 40 

23.2. Replenishment of Surety Bond.................................................................. 41 

23.3. Application .................................................................................................. 41 

24. SURRENDER OF LICENSE AREA .................................................................... 41 

24.1. Surrender ..................................................................................................... 41 

24.2. Abandonment .............................................................................................. 41 

24.3. Holding Over ............................................................................................... 42 

25. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ................................................................................ 42 

25.1. Hazardous Materials in License Area ........................................................ 42 

25.2. Licensee’s Environmental Indemnity ........................................................ 42 

26. TERMINATION ................................................................................................... 43 

26.1. Termination for Failure to Obtain Regulatory Approvals ........................ 43 

26.2. Licensee’s Termination Rights .................................................................. 43 

26.2.1. Master License Termination Rights .................................................... 43 



 

 vi 

26.2.2. Pole License Termination Rights ........................................................ 44 

26.2.3. Termination Rights after Pole Replacement ...................................... 44 

26.3. City’s Absolute Right to Terminate Pole Licenses .................................. 44 

26.4. Licensee’s Rights after Termination ......................................................... 44 

27. INTERFERENCE ................................................................................................ 44 

27.1.  Licensee’s Obligation Not to Cause Interference .................................... 44 

27.2. Impairment Caused by Change in City Use .............................................. 45 

27.3. Impairment Caused by City Access .......................................................... 46 

28. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ...................................................................... 46 

28.1. Notices ......................................................................................................... 46 

28.2. Waiver; No Implied Waivers ....................................................................... 47 

28.3. Amendments ............................................................................................... 48 

28.4. Interpretation ............................................................................................... 48 

28.4.1. General .................................................................................................. 48 

28.4.2. Multi-party License ............................................................................... 48 

28.4.3.  Captions ................................................................................................ 48 

28.4.4. City Actions .......................................................................................... 48 

28.4.5. Words of Inclusion ............................................................................... 48 

28.4.6. Laws ...................................................................................................... 49 

28.5. Successors and Assigns ........................................................................... 49 

28.6. Brokers ........................................................................................................ 49 

28.7. Severability .................................................................................................. 49 

28.8. Governing Law; Venue ............................................................................... 49 

28.9. Time for Performance ................................................................................. 50 

28.10. Survival ..................................................................................................... 50 

28.11. Recording ................................................................................................. 50 

28.12. Counterparts ............................................................................................ 50 

28.13. Approval Authority .................................................................................. 50 

28.14. No Third-Party Beneficiaries .................................................................. 50 

EXHIBIT A .................................................................................................................... 53 

EXHIBIT A-1 ................................................................................................................. 55 

EXHIBIT A-2 ................................................................................................................. 56 

EXHIBIT A-3 ................................................................................................................. 57 

SCHEDULE A-4 ............................................................................................................ 58 



 

 vii 

EXHIBIT B .................................................................................................................... 60 

EXHIBIT C .................................................................................................................... 61 

 
 
 



 

 1 

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT 
FOR WIRELESS FACILITIES ON CITY POLES IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY 

 
This MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR WIRELESS FACILITIES ON CITY 

POLES IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY (“Master License”) dated [insert date] (the “Effective 
Date”) is between the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a chartered California municipal 
corporation (the “City”) and [insert licensee name], a [insert licensee corporate form] ( 
“Licensee”). This License may refer to the City and/or Licensee individually as a “Party” 
or collectively as the “Parties.” 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
A. WHEREAS, technology developments and demand for high-speed mobile data 

service and capacity has extended beyond the capabilities of traditional 
macrocell wireless communications facilities. To meet this demand, wireless 
providers have accelerated their small cell and distributed antenna system 
(“DAS”) deployments in the public right-of-way and the City has a clear incentive 
to develop public-private agreements that manage these accelerated 
deployments in a way that preserves local aesthetics and public health and 
safety while also deriving the benefits of these new technologies for the City’s 
residents to the greatest extent practicable; and 

 
B. WHEREAS, Section 253 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 

104-104, 110 Stat. 56, codified as 47 U.S.C. § 253, preserves the City’s authority 
to control access to and use the rights-of-way within the City’s jurisdictional 
boundaries, and to require reasonable compensation for such use on a 
competitively-neutral and nondiscriminatory basis so long as such compensation 
is disclosed; and 
 

C. WHEREAS, Licensee typically installs, maintains and operates its wireless 
communications facilities on existing vertical infrastructure in the public right-of-
way; and 
 

D. WHEREAS, the City owns as its personal property a substantial number of 
existing poles within the public right-of-way that are suitable for installing wireless 
communications facilities within the City’s jurisdiction and has a duty to derive 
appropriate value from the City’s property assets for the public good; and 

 
E. WHEREAS, Licensee desires to install, maintain and operate wireless 

communications facilities on the City’s poles in the public right-of-way in a 
manner consistent with the City’s regulatory authority and Licensee is willing to 
compensate the City for the right to use the City’s poles for wireless 
communications purposes; and 

 
F. WHEREAS, consistent with all applicable Laws, the City does not intend this 

Master License to grant the Licensee any exclusive right to use or occupy the 



 

 2 

public rights-of-way within the City’s territorial and/or jurisdictional boundaries, 
and Licensee expressly acknowledges that the City may in its sole discretion 
enter into similar or identical agreements with other entities, which include 
without limitation Licensee’s competitors; and 

 
G. WHEREAS, the City desires to authorize Licensee’s access to individual City-

owned Poles based on a comprehensive and uniform Master License according 
to the terms and conditions set forth in this Master License, any applicable Pole 
License, and pursuant to all the applicable permits issued by the City to protect 
public health and safety; and 
 

H. WHEREAS, on [insert date], the City Council of the City of Lakewood adopted 
Resolution No. [insert], which approved the form and material terms for a Master 
License Agreement for Wireless Facilities on City Poles in the Right-of-Way to be 
used in connection the licensing of Poles and other City-owned property for 
wireless communications facilities, and further delegated authority to the City 
Manager to enter into such agreements. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, for good, valuable and sufficient consideration received and 
acknowledged by the City and Licensee, the City and Licensee agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

1. GENERAL DEFINITIONS 
 
“Agent” means agent, employee, officer, contractor, subcontractor, and representative 
of a Party in relation to this Master License and the License Area. 
 
“Assignment” means any of the following: (a) a merger, acquisition, or other transfer of 
a controlling interest in Licensee, voluntarily or by operation of Law; (b) Licensee's sale, 
assignment, encumbrance, pledge, or other transfer of any part of its interest in or rights 
with respect to the License Area; and (c) any action by Licensee to permit any portion of 
the License Area to be occupied by anyone other than itself, including a sublicense. 
 
“Claim” mean any and all liabilities, losses, costs, claims, judgments, settlements, 
damages, liens, fines, penalties and expenses, whether direct or indirect. 
 
“Common Control” means two entities that are both Controlled by the same third 
entity. 
 
“Control” means (a) as to a corporation, the ownership of stock having the right to 
exercise more than 50% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the 
controlled corporation, issued and outstanding; or (b) as to partnerships and other forms 
of business associations, ownership of more than 50% of the beneficial interest and 
voting control of such association. 
 



 

 3 

“CPUC” means the California Public Utilities Commission established in the California 
Constitution, Article XII, Section 5, or it’s duly appointed successor agency. 
 
“EMF” means electromagnetic fields or radio frequency generally between 30 kHz and 
300 GHz in the electromagnetic spectrum range. 
 
“Environmental Laws” means any Law relating to industrial hygiene, environmental 
conditions, or Hazardous Materials. 
 
“Equipment” means antennas and any associated utility or equipment box, and battery 
backup, transmitters, receivers, radios, amplifiers, ancillary fiber-optic cables and wiring, 
and ancillary equipment for the transmission and reception of radio communication 
signals for voice and other data transmission, including the means and devices used to 
attach Equipment to, or adjacent to, a licensed City Pole, peripherals, and ancillary 
equipment and installations, including wiring, cabling, power feeds, vaults, pull boxes, 
pedestals and any approved signage attached to Equipment. 
 
“FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission or its duly appointed successor 
agency. 
 
“Hazardous Material” means any material that, because of its quantity, concentration, 
or physical or chemical characteristics, is at any time now or hereafter deemed by any 
Regulatory Agency to pose a present or potential hazard to human health, welfare, or 
safety or to the environment. Hazardous Material includes any material or substance 
defined as a “hazardous substance,” or “pollutant” or “contaminant” in the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 
(codified as 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.) or Section 25316 of the California Health & 
Safety Code; and any “hazardous waste” listed California Health & Safety Code Section 
25140; and petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof, natural gas or natural 
gas liquids. 
 
“Investigate and Remediate” means the undertaking of any activities to determine the 
nature and extent of Hazardous Material that may be located in, on, under or about the 
License Area or that has been, is being, or is in danger of being Released into the 
environment, and to clean up, remove, contain, treat, stabilize, monitor or otherwise 
control such Hazardous Material. 
 
“Invitee” means the client, customer, invitee, guest, tenant, subtenant, licensee, 
assignee and sublicensee of a Party in relation to the License Area. 
 
“Laws” means all present and future statutes, ordinances, codes, orders, regulations 
and implementing requirements and restrictions of federal, state, county and municipal 
authorities, whether foreseen or unforeseen, ordinary as well as extraordinary, as 
adopted or as amended at the time in question. 
 



 

 4 

“Licensee’s On-Call Representative” mean the person(s) assigned by Licensee to be 
on-call and available to the City regarding the operation of Licensee’s Equipment. Such 
person(s) shall be qualified and experienced in the operation of Equipment and shall be 
authorized to act on behalf of Licensee in any emergency in and in day-to-day 
operations of the Equipment. 
 
“Permitted Use” means Licensee’s installation, operation and maintenance of 
Equipment for the transmission and reception of wireless, cellular telephone and data 
and related communications equipment on License Areas. 
 
“Pole” means a street light pole, utility pole or other support structure located in the 
public right-of-way within the City and owned by the City. 
 
“Pole License” means the document in the form of Exhibit A that, when fully executed, 
incorporates the provisions of this Master License and authorizes Licensee to install, 
operate and maintain Equipment for the Permitted Use on City Poles identified in the 
Pole License. 
 
“Pole Location” means the geographic information identifying each City Pole on which 
Licensee is authorized to install, operate and maintain Equipment under Pole Licenses. 
Pole Locations will be identified in Exhibit A-1 to each Pole License. 
 
“Property” means any interest in real or personal property, including land, air and water 
areas, leasehold interests, possessory interests, easements, franchises and other 
appurtenances, public rights-of-way, physical works of improvements such as buildings, 
structures, infrastructure, utility and other facilities, and alterations, installations, fixtures, 
furnishings and additions to existing real property, personal property and improvements.  
 
“Regulatory Agency” means the local, regional, state or federal body with jurisdiction 
and responsibility for issuing Regulatory Approvals in accordance with applicable Laws. 
 
“Regulatory Approvals” means licenses, permits and other approvals necessary for 
Licensee to install, operate and maintain Equipment on the License Area. 
 
“Release” when used with respect to Hazardous Material includes any actual or 
imminent spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, 
escaping, leaching, dumping or disposing on, under or about the License Area, other 
City Property or the environment. 
 
“RF” means radio frequency or electromagnetic waves generally between 30 kHz and 
300 GHz in the electromagnetic spectrum range. 
 
“RF Compliance Report” means a report prepared and certified by an RF engineer 
acceptable to the City that certifies that the proposed facility, as well as any collocated 
facilities, will comply with applicable federal RF exposure standards and exposure limits. 
The RF report must include the actual frequency and power levels (in watts ERP) for all 



 

 5 

existing and proposed antennas at the site and exhibits that show the location and 
orientation of all transmitting antennas and the boundaries of areas with RF exposures 
in excess of the uncontrolled/general population limit (as that term is defined by the 
FCC) and also the boundaries of areas with RF exposures in excess of the 
controlled/occupational limit (as that term is defined by the FCC). Each such boundary 
shall be clearly marked and identified for every transmitting antenna at the project site. 
 
2. SCOPE OF LICENSE 
 

2.1. License Area 
 

2.1.1. Pole License Issuance and Effect 
 
Subject to the terms and conditions in this Master License, the City will issue to 
Licensee one or more Pole Licenses, which will grant Licensee a contractual privilege to 
use the space on the subject Pole approved for the Equipment, which includes any 
conduits, pull boxes or other City Property specifically identified in the Approved Plans 
attached to the Pole License (individually for each licensed Pole and collectively for all 
licensed Poles, the “License Area”). Any approved Pole License will become effective 
on the first day of the month following the date on which both the City and Licensee 
execute such Pole License. After the City approves a Pole License, the City will not 
license any space on the licensed Pole to any third party who desires to use the Pole for 
the Permitted Use. 
 

2.1.2. Limitations on License Areas 
 
This Master License applies to only Poles identified in final and fully executed Pole 
Licenses. This Master License does not authorize Licensee or any other persons or 
entities to enter on to or use any other City Property, except the License Areas specified 
in any Pole Licenses. Furthermore, neither this Master License nor any Pole License 
authorizes or confers any rights in Licensee or any other persons or entities to use any 
portions of the public rights-of-way, or any improvements or other personal property 
within the public rights-of-way owned by any third parties. Licensee expressly 
acknowledges and agrees that the City has the absolute right to deny for any or no 
reason, and will not be obligated to issue any Pole License or other license to Licensee 
for any purpose related to the following poles:  
 

(1) any decorative Pole, which includes any Pole or light standard with ornate 
features or characteristics designed or intended to enhance the 
appearance of the Pole or light standard; 

 
(2) any wood Pole; provided, however, that the City may, in its sole discretion 

and on a case-by-case basis, allow Licensee to replace, at Licensee’s 
sole cost and expense, an existing wood Pole with a steel or concrete 
Pole for purposes of installing, maintaining and operating Licensee’s 
Equipment. 



 

 6 

 
2.2. Limitations on Licensee’s Interests 

 
2.2.1. Limited Interest Created 

 
Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees that (1) Licensee does not have any 
rights to use or possess any interest or rights in any Pole for any purpose whatsoever 
until and unless the City issues a Pole License for such Pole; and (2) neither this Master 
License nor any Pole License issued pursuant to this Master License creates or will be 
deemed to create any leasehold, easement, franchise or any other possessory interest 
or real property interest whatsoever in the License Area. 
 

2.2.2. Limited Rights Created 
 
Any Pole License the City approves pursuant to this Master License grants to Licensee 
only a non-possessory and revocable license to enter on to and use the License Area 
for the Permitted Use. Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees that (1) neither 
this Master License or any Pole License will be coupled with an interest; (2) the City 
retains legal possession and control over all Poles for the City’s operations, which will 
be superior to Licensee’s interest at all times; (3) subject to the terms and conditions in 
this Master License, the City may terminate a Pole License in whole or in part at any 
time; (4) except as specifically provided otherwise in this Master License, the City may 
enter into any agreement with third parties in connection with use and occupancy of 
Poles and other City Property; and (5) neither this Master License nor any Pole License 
creates or will be deemed to create any partnership or joint venture between the City 
and Licensee. 
 

2.2.3. No Impediment to Municipal Uses 
 
Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Master License, neither this Master 
License nor any Pole License limits, alters or waives the City’s right to use any License 
Area in whole or in part as infrastructure established and maintained for the City’s and 
the public’s benefit. 
 

2.3. Diminutions in Light, Air and Signal 
 
In the event that any existing or future structure diminishes any light, air or signal 
propagation, transmission or reception, whether erected by the City or not, Licensee 
shall not be entitled to any reduction in any License Fee, Additional Fees or any other 
sums payable to the City under this Master License or any Pole License, the City shall 
have no liability to Licensee whatsoever and such diminution will not affect this Master 
License, any Pole License or Licensee’s obligations except as may be expressly 
provided in this Master License. 
 

2.4. License Area Condition 
 



 

 7 

2.4.1. “As-Is and With All Faults” Condition 
 
Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees to enter on to and use the License Area 
in its “as-is and with all faults” condition. The City makes no representations or 
warranties whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the License Area’s condition 
or suitability for Licensee’s use. Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees that 
neither the City nor its Agents have made, and the City expressly disclaims, any 
representations or warranties whatsoever, whether express or implied, with respect to 
the physical, structural or environmental condition of the License Area, the present or 
future suitability of the License Area for the Permitted Use or any other matter related to 
the License Area. 
 

2.4.2. Licensee’s Due Diligence 
 
Licensee expressly represents and warrants to the City that Licensee has conducted a 
reasonably diligent and independent investigation, either for itself or through an Agent 
selected by Licensee, into the License Area condition and suitability for Licensee’s 
intended use, and that Licensee relies solely on its due diligence for such determination. 
Licensee further expressly represents and warrants to the City that Licensee’s intended 
use is the Permitted Use as defined in Section 5 in this Master License. 
 

2.4.3. Certified Access Specialist Disclosure 
 
Pursuant to California Civil Code § 1938, and to the extent applicable to this Master 
License, the City expressly advises Licensee, and Licensee expressly acknowledges, 
that a Certified Access Specialist (as defined in California Civil Code § 55.53) has not 
inspected any License Area in whole or in part to determine whether it meets all 
applicable construction-related accessibility requirements. 
 
3. TERM 
 

3.1. Master License Term 
 
The term under this Master License (the “Term”) will commence on the Effective Date 
and will automatically expire 10 years from the Effective Date on [insert specific date] 
(the “Expiration Date”), unless earlier terminated in accordance with this Master 
License or as may be extended by the parties in a separate written agreement signed 
by both parties. 
 

3.2. Pole License Term 
 
The term under each Pole License will commence on the Commencement Date and will 
automatically expire on the Expiration Date, unless earlier terminated in accordance 
with this Master License or as may be extended by the parties in a separate written 
agreement signed by both parties. To determine the applicable License Fee for each 
Pole License, the minimum term will be one year from the Commencement Date (the 



 

 8 

“Minimum Term”). Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Master License, the 
Minimum Term will prevail over Licensee’s right to abate rent or terminate this Master 
License or any Pole License. All Pole Licenses will end on the Expiration Date or upon 
termination of this Master License, even if such expiration results in less than a one-
year term for any particular Pole License. 
 
4. LICENSE FEE; OTHER PAYMENTS 
 

4.1. License Fees 
 

4.1.1. Commencement Date 
 
Licensee shall pay an annual License Fee under each Pole License beginning on its 
“Commencement Date,” which will be the first day of the month after the date on which 
Licensee has obtained all Regulatory Approvals necessary for the Permitted Use on the 
License Area. The Parties define a “License Year” to mean any 12-month period (or 
shorter period in the event that a Pole License commences less than 12 months from 
the next July 1 or the Expiration Date) that begins on the Commencement Date for each 
Pole License. 
 

4.1.2. Acknowledgment Letter 
 
For each Pole License approved by the City pursuant to Section 6.4.4 (Pole License 
Application Approval), Licensee shall deliver to the City a letter in the form shown in 
Exhibit A-3 to the Pole License (the “Acknowledgment Letter”) within approximately 
10 business days after Licensee obtains all Regulatory Approvals necessary for the 
Permitted Use on any License Area. The parties intend the Acknowledgement Letter to: 
(a) confirm the Commencement Date; (b) tender or confirm payment by wire transfer of 
the License Fee for the first License Year; (c) provide the City with copies of all 
Regulatory Approvals issued by the City’s other departments and the Los Angeles 
County Department of Public Works for the Equipment on each licensed Pole; (d) 
confirm that Licensee has submitted all information required in Section 19 (Insurance) 
under this Master License and (e) in the event of the first Acknowledgement Letter, 
provide the Surety Bond. Upon written notice to Licensee, the City shall have the right to 
correct the Commencement Date stated in Licensee’s Acknowledgement Letter after 
the City examines the Regulatory Approvals if, in the City’s reasonable determination, 
the Commencement Date stated on the Acknowledgment Letter is incorrect or 
inaccurate. The City’s reasonable determination in connection with this Section 4.1.2 
will be final for all purposes under this Master License. The City will use reasonable 
efforts to deliver a countersigned Acknowledgement Letter to Licensee within 
approximately five business days after the City receives the partially executed 
Acknowledgment Letter with all required attachments and enclosures from Licensee. 
The fully executed Acknowledgment Letter will be Licensee’s notice to proceed with its 
installation. The date on which the City countersigns the Acknowledgement Letter will 
be the effective date for the subject Pole License. 
 



 

 9 

4.1.3. License Fee Amount 
 
Licensee shall pay to the City an annual fee at the rate specified in the License Fee 
Schedule as shown in Schedule A-4 attached to this Master License (the “License 
Fee”) for each executed Pole License. The License Fee Schedule will reflect the annual 
License Fee adjustments as provided in Section 4.1.4 (Annual License Fee 
Adjustments). Licensee shall pay each annual License Fee on or before July 1 of each 
year in advance without any prior demand, deduction, setoff or counterclaim for any 
reason, except to account for a partial year in the event that (1) the Commencement 
Date falls on a date other than July 1 (in which case, a prorated portion will be paid); (2) 
this Master License expires or terminates; or (3) any other abatement rights expressly 
granted in this Master License become effective. Any amounts for less than a full year 
or full month will be calculated based on a 360-day year and a 30-day month.  
 

4.1.4. Annual License Fee Adjustments 
 
Each year throughout the Term on July 1 (each an “Adjustment Date”), the License 
Fee will be increased 3% over the License Fee payable in the immediately previous 
year. The adjustment provided in this Section will be effective even if the first License 
Year was for less than a full calendar year. 
 

4.1.5. License Fee Due Date 
 
Licensee shall pay the License Fee for the first year at the same time Licensee delivers 
the Acknowledgement Letter without any deduction or setoff for any reason. Thereafter, 
Licensee shall pay the annual License Fee on or before July 1 in each year throughout 
the Term. As an illustration, and not a limitation, if the Commencement Date for a Pole 
License falls on January 1, then the License Fee due in the first License Year will be 
prorated 50% (to account for the six-month difference between January 1 and June 30) 
and will be due on the Commencement Date. The full License Fee for the second 
License Year, and each subsequent year thereafter, will be due on July 1. 
 

4.2. Administrative Fees 
 

4.2.1. Master License Preparation Fee 
 
At the time Licensee delivers to the City a partially executed counterpart to this Master 
License, Licensee shall pay to the City a nonrefundable administrative fee equal to Two 
Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($2,000.00) (the “Master License Preparation Fee”) to 
recoup the City’s costs to review and execute this Master License. The City will not be 
obligated to execute any Master License until the City receives the Master License 
Preparation Fee. The City’s execution of this Master License shall be its 
acknowledgment that Licensee has paid the full Master License Preparation Fee. 
 

4.2.2. Pole License Processing Fee 
 



 

 10 

At the time Licensee delivers to the City a Pole License Application, Licensee shall pay 
to the City a nonrefundable administrative fee equal to Five Hundred and 00/100 
Dollars ($500.00) (the “Pole License Processing Fee”). Licensee recognizes that the 
City will incur costs to review each Pole License Application, which may include without 
limitation staff time, legal fees, and expert fees. The parties further acknowledge that 
these costs may vary among and/or between various Pole License Applications due to 
circumstances particular to any given Pole, and that it would impracticable (if not 
impossible) to accurately predict such costs. Accordingly, the parties agree that the Pole 
License Processing Fee set forth in this Section represents a reasonable estimate of the 
City’s administrative costs to review each Pole in the typical Pole License Application. 
The parties further acknowledge that the Pole License Processing Fee is intended to 
cover the City’s administrative costs incurred in its proprietary capacity as the licensor 
and the Pole License Processing Fee does not substitute for or diminish the Licensee’s 
obligation to pay any regulatory permit fees required by the City’s departments. The City 
will not be obligated to commence its review for any Pole License Application until the 
City receives the Pole License Processing Fee. The parties to this Master License 
collectively refer to the Master License Preparation Fee and the Pole License 
Processing Fee as “Administrative Fees.” 
 

4.3. Late Charges 
 
In the event that Licensee fails to pay any License Fee, Additional Fee (as hereinafter 
defined), Administrative Fees or any other amount payable to the City within 10 days 
after Licensee’s receipt of written notice that such amounts are due and unpaid, such 
amounts will be subject to a late charge equal to 6% of unpaid amounts. 
 

4.4. Default Interest 
 
Any License Fees, Additional Fees, Administrative Fees and all other amounts payable 
to the City other than late charges will bear interest at 10% per annum from the due 
date when not paid within 10 days after due and payable to the City. Any sums received 
shall be first applied towards any interest, then to the late charge and lastly to principal 
amount owed. Any interest or late charge payments will not alone excuse or cure any 
default by Licensee. 
 

4.5. Additional Fees 
 
The parties to this Master License define “Additional Fees” to collectively mean any 
sums payable by Licensee to the City in its proprietary capacity as the licensor, which 
includes without limitation any late charges, default interest, costs in connection with a 
request for the City’s consent to an Assignment under Section 16.2 (Proposed 
Assignment Procedures) and Default Fees under Section 17.2.4; provided, however, 
that the term excludes any (1) License Fees; (2) Administrative Fees; (3) any other 
amounts payable to the City by Licensee in connection with the City’s review of Pole 
License Applications or coordinating and inspecting Equipment installed on the License 
Area; and (4) any payments made to the City in its regulatory capacity. 



 

 11 

 
4.6. Payment Procedures 

 
Licensee shall pay all License Fees, Additional Fees, Administrative Fees and all other 
amounts payable to the City in cash or other immediately available funds by (1) local 
check delivered to P.O. Box 220, Lakewood, California 90714 or (2) electronic wire 
transfer to an account specified by the City. Any payment made with a dishonored 
check will be deemed unpaid. The parties may change the payment address from time 
to time by written notice. 
 

4.7. Liquidated Charges and Fees 
 
The parties agree that the Additional Fees payable under this Master License represent 
a fair and reasonable estimate of the administrative costs that the City will incur in 
connection with the matters for which they are imposed and that the City’s right to 
impose the Additional Fees is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights it may 
have under this Master License. Furthermore: 
 

THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT THE CITY’S 
ACTUAL ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS AND OTHER DETRIMENT 
ARISING FROM LICENSEE DEFAULTS AND OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE 
MATTERS UNDER THIS MASTER LICENSE WOULD BE EXTREMELY 
DIFFICULT OR IMPRACTICABLE TO DETERMINE. BY PLACING HIS 
OR HER INITIALS BELOW, EACH PARTY’S AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PARTIES HAVE 
AGREED, AFTER A NEGOTIATION, ON THE AMOUNT OF THE 
ADDITIONAL FEES AS REASONABLE ESTIMATES OF THE CITY’S 
ADDITIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS AND OTHER DETRIMENT. 

 
Licensee ___________        City ___________  

 
5. USES 
 

5.1. Permitted Use 
 
Licensee may use the License Area solely for the installation, operation and 
maintenance of Equipment for transmission, reception and backhaul of wireless 
communications signals (the “Permitted Use”) in compliance with all applicable Laws 
and any conditions in any Regulatory Approvals and for no other use whatsoever 
without the City’s prior written consent, which the City may withhold in its sole and 
absolute discretion for any or no reason. 
 

5.2. Prohibition on “Macro Cell” Uses 
 
The City and Licensee intend this Master License and any Pole License to cover only 
“small cell” and/or distributed antenna system installations, as those terms are 



 

 12 

commonly understood to mean small, low-power, low-elevation, unobtrusive wireless 
facilities intended to cover relatively small geographic areas. Licensee expressly 
acknowledges and agrees that the Permitted Use under this Master License does not 
include the right to use any Pole as a support structure for a “macro cell” or a traditional 
wireless tower typically constructed on private property. 
 

5.3. Prohibition on Illegal Uses or Nuisances 
 
Licensee shall not use the License Area in whole or in part in any unlawful manner or 
for any illegal purpose. In addition, Licensee shall not use the License Area in whole or 
in part in any manner that constitutes a nuisance as determined by the City in its 
reasonable judgment and in accordance with the standards for a nuisance in the 
Lakewood Municipal Code provided, however, that the Permitted Use, subject to the 
terms and conditions of this Master License, shall not be deemed a nuisance. Licensee 
shall take all precautions to eliminate any nuisances or hazards in connection with its 
uses and activities on or about the License Area. 
 

5.4. Signs or Advertisements 
 
Licensee acknowledges and agrees that its rights under this Master License and any 
Pole License do not authorize Licensee to erect, post or maintain, or permit others to 
erect, post or maintain, any signs, notices, graphics or advertisements whatsoever on 
the License Area. Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to the City’s prior consent, 
Licensee may install non-commercial signs, labels, or notices required by applicable 
Law. 
 
6. POLE LICENSES 
 

6.1. City Approval Required 
 
Licensee shall not have any right to use the License Area in whole or in part for any 
purpose until and unless the City approves a Pole License. Subject to any express 
limitations in this Master License, the City will not be obligated to subordinate its 
municipal functions or proprietary interest in any manner whatsoever to Licensee’s 
interest under any Pole License. When the City considers whether to approve or 
disapprove any Pole License Application, the City may consider any matter that affects 
its municipal functions or proprietary interests, which include without limitation: (1) 
Licensee’s proposed plans and Equipment specifications; (2) compliance with any 
applicable Laws; (3) impacts on the City’s street light operations; (4) any potential 
hazards or unsafe conditions that could result from Licensee’s installation, operation or 
maintenance; (5) any potential visual or aesthetic impacts, which includes without 
limitation whether any alternative locations or configurations would be more 
aesthetically desirable or appropriate in the City’s reasonable discretion; (6) the 
additional load on the Pole the proposed Equipment would create; and (7) any 
municipal plans for the Pole or right-of-way in proximity to the Pole.  
 



 

 13 

 6.2. Pre-Approved Designs and Locations 
 
The parties agree that the installation configurations more particularly described and 
depicted in Exhibit B and/or the replacement poles in configurations more particularly 
described and depicted in Exhibit C (each a “Pre-Approved Design”) will be 
presumptively approvable by the City when proposed to be installed on Poles within 
preferred locations as described in Ordinance 2017-6, Section 7708, Site Location 
Guidelines.  The City shall not be permitted to deny a Pre-Approved Design based on 
its physical or aesthetic appearance, except to the extent that such aesthetic concern 
arises solely in connection with the proposed location in which the Pre-Approved Design 
would be situated. As an illustration and not a limitation, the City would be permitted to 
deny a Pre-Approved Design in a commercial area if proposed to be placed adjacent to 
a park or architecturally significant building. In the event that the City desires to 
disapprove any Pre-Approved Design within a Pole License Application, the City shall 
state its reasons for the denial in a written notice to Licensee. In the event that the City 
approves a replacement pole, Licensee shall transfer all right, title and interest in such 
replacement Pole to the City at the time Licensee completes the construction, and such 
replacement Pole will become City Property and remain City Property should Licensee 
vacate or abandon such License Area. 
 

6.3. Pole License Application 
 
Each Pole License Application must include: (1) two partially executed duplicate 
counterparts of a Pole License in the form attached as Exhibit A to this Master License, 
with fully completed Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2 attached to such partially executed 
Pole License; (2) the Pole License Processing Fee; and (3) a complete RF Compliance 
Report. 
 

6.4. Pole License Application Review Procedures 
 
The City will review each complete Pole License Application in a reasonably prompt 
manner, taking into account the nature and scope of each Pole License Application 
and/or the particular Poles requested in such Pole License Application, and in the 
chronological order (date and time) in which a complete Pole License Application is 
submitted or deemed submitted. Except as specified otherwise in this Master License, 
the City will not prioritize any application or licensee over any other application or 
licensee. Licensee acknowledges that (1) the City will not be obligated to prioritize Pole 
License Application review over its municipal functions; (2) the City’s staff and budget 
considerations will impact the City’s ability to review and process Pole License 
Applications; and (3) the City will not be obligated to act on any Pole License 
Application within any specific timeframe. 
 

6.4.1. Incomplete Pole License Applications 
 
The City will not be obligated to review or approve any incomplete Pole License 
Application. In the event that Licensee submits an incomplete Pole License Application, 



 

 14 

the City may suspend its review for that incomplete Pole License Application until 
Licensee delivers all required elements for a complete Pole License Application, 
provided, however, that the City shall endeavor to provide reasonably prompt notice that 
the Pole License Application is incomplete. In addition, the City may suspend all 
pending Pole License Application, whether complete or incomplete, reviews when 
Licensee fails to timely submit any Pole License Processing Fee. The date and time 
when Licensee submits the missing elements will be deemed the date and time that 
Licensee submitted the Pole License Application. 
 

6.4.2. Required Changes to the Pole License Application 
 
In the event that the City determines for any reason that the Permitted Use at any 
particular Pole Location would impede its municipal functions or otherwise negatively 
affects its proprietary interests, the City will provide notice to Licensee as soon as 
reasonably practicable. Licensee will have 14 days from such notice to change its Pole 
License Application without any impact on the Pole License Application’s priority relative 
to any other applications then under review or later received by the City. Any changes 
received after the 14-day period or any other changes Licensee may make to the Pole 
License Application will cause the date and time on which the application was submitted 
or deemed submitted to be changed to the date and time on which Licensee submitted 
the proposed changes. 
 

6.4.3. Consultation with Other City Departments 
 
The City may consult with other departments within the City to assess whether 
Licensee’s proposed Equipment poses any concerns, which includes without limitation 
any concerns about aesthetics, historic or environmental impacts, traffic control, 
pedestrian access and general right-of-way management. Licensee acknowledges that 
any consultation with any other City departments in accordance with this Section 6.3.3 
and any actions or failures to act by the City that may result from such consultations 
would be in the City’s proprietary capacity as the Pole owner and not an exercise of the 
City’s regulatory authority. 
 

6.4.4. Pole License Application Approval 
 
In the event that the City approves a Pole License Application, the City will return one 
fully executed Pole License to Licensee. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that the 
City’s decision to approve or disapprove any Pole License Application is not, and will 
not be deemed to be, a regulatory determination subject to any administrative appeal, 
but is an exercise of the City’s proprietary authority over its Poles as its personal 
property. In the event that Licensee fails to commence construction pursuant to the Pole 
License within one year from the date the City fully executes the Acknowledgment 
Letter, the Pole License shall automatically expire unless the City Manager grants a 
written extension that may not exceed one additional year. Licensee shall not be entitled 
to any refund for any fees, which include without limitation the License Fee, paid in 
connection with a Pole License that expires pursuant to this Section 6.3.4. Nothing in 



 

 15 

this Section 6.3.4 is intended to prohibit or prevent Licensee from submitting a new Pole 
License Application for the same or substantially the same Poles as those covered 
under a Pole License that expired pursuant to this Section 6.3.4. 
 

6.4.5. City’s Right to Disapprove 
 
Licensee acknowledges that the City reserves the absolute right to disapprove any Pole 
License Application in whole or in part when the City determines in its sole judgment 
that the subject Pole Location or proposed Equipment would interfere with the City’s 
municipal functions or proprietary interests or create a hazardous or unsafe condition. In 
addition, Licensee acknowledges that the City reserves the absolute right to disapprove 
any license within a Pole License Application when the subject Pole would involve 
above-ground equipment (other than the antennas, ancillary cables and wires, and any 
required electric meter) in a residential district or in close proximity to a residential use. 
The City will cite with specificity the particular reason for denial. 
 

6.4.6. Federal and State Regulations Inapplicable 
 
Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees that all requirements, limitations or other 
restrictions in any Laws applicable to the City in its regulatory capacity (which may 
include without limitation 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7); 47 U.S.C. § 253; 47 U.S.C. § 1455; 47 
C.F.R. § 1.40001; California Public Utilities Code §§ 7901 or 7901.1; California 
Government Code §§ 50030, 65850.6, 65964 or 65964.1; and any judicial or 
administrative interpretations in connection with any such Laws) do not apply to the 
City’s review or determination in connection with any Pole License Application 
submitted pursuant to this Master License. Without any limitation on the generality of 
the preceding sentence, and for only the purposes in this Master License and any Pole 
License, the City and Licensee expressly acknowledge and agree that any Equipment 
installed pursuant to this Master License or any Pole License will not be considered or 
interpreted as “personal wireless service facilities” as defined in 47 U.S.C. § 
332(c)(7)(C)(ii), and any Pole or replacement Pole on which such Equipment is installed 
will not be considered or interpreted as a “tower” or a “base station” as used in 47 
U.S.C. § 1455 or 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.40001 et seq. 
 
 6.4.7. Staff Augmentation Costs 
 
The City may from time-to-time hire independent contractors with expertise acceptable 
to the City in the subject matter of this Master License and any Pole License to assist 
the City review and process Pole License Applications in expedited manner. Licensee 
shall reimburse the City for all actual costs incurred by the City in connection with such 
independent contractors within 10 days after Licensee receives the City’s demand for 
payment, together with copies of invoices or other evidence to document the costs 
incurred. When the City elects to retain such independent contractor(s) for services in 
connection with a Pole License Application, the City shall notify Licensee before the City 
incurs any costs and Licensee shall have two (2) business days to withdraw the Pole 
License Application without any liability to reimburse the City for costs incurred by the 



 

 16 

independent contractor(s) in connection with the withdrawn Pole License Application. If 
Licensee does not withdraw the Pole License Application within said two-day period, 
Licensee will be deemed to have consented to the obligation to reimburse the City as 
provided in this Section 6.4.7. 
 
7. EQUIPMENT INSTALLATION 
 

7.1. Approved Plans and Equipment Specifications 
 
Licensee must submit detailed plans and equipment specifications as Exhibit A-2 to any 
Pole License Application, which must include without limitation all equipment, mounts, 
hardware, utilities, cables, conduits, signage, concealment elements and other 
improvements proposed in connection with the License Area. Licensee acknowledges 
that Exhibit A-2 to any approved Pole License will be deemed to be the “Approved 
Plans” and that Licensee will be permitted to install only the Equipment and other 
improvements shown on such Approved Plans. 
 

7.1.1. Site Identification Required 
 
Subject to applicable Laws, on each licensed Pole, Licensee must install one 
identification plate in strict compliance with the size, material, form and substance as 
shown on the Approved Plans. The identification plate must include Licensee’s 
corporate name and telephone number at which Licensee’s On-Call Representative can 
be reached at all times (24 hours per day and 7 days per week). Licensee must replace 
the identification plate in the event that any information on such plate changes. 
 

7.1.2. Changes Required for Regulatory Approvals 
 
Licensee may amend previously Approved Plans when such changes are required to 
obtain or maintain compliance with other Regulatory Approvals necessary to install the 
Equipment. Any such changes will require the City’s prior written approval. The City will 
provide notice of its decision to Licensee in accordance with Section 28.1 (Notices). 
 

7.1.3. Corrections to Approved Plans 
 
Licensee shall have the obligation to correct any errors or omissions in any Approved 
Plans and related Regulatory Approvals. Licensee shall immediately send written notice 
to the City in the event that Licensee discovers any such defects. Any Approved Plans 
and/or amendments to Approved Plans by the City will not release or excuse Licensee’s 
obligations under this Section 7.1.3. 
 

7.2. Prior Regulatory Approvals Required 
 
Licensee shall not commence any work at the License Area until Licensee obtains all 
necessary Regulatory Approvals, which includes without limitation an Encroachment 
Permit from the Los Angeles County Department of Public Works and any other permit 



 

 17 

obtained through any other City department, and tenders full and complete copies of 
each Regulatory Approval to the City. Fees associated with any necessary Regulatory 
Approvals shall be the responsibility of the Licensee. The City’s consent or refusal to 
consent to any Pole License issued by the City in its proprietary capacity as the Pole 
owner will not be deemed to be any approval or denial in connection with any 
Regulatory Approval issued by the City in its regulatory capacity as a municipal 
government. 
 

7.3. Installation; Strict Compliance with Approved Plans 
 
Licensee shall not commence any work at the License Area until the City provides 
Licensee with the Acknowledgement Letter or an equivalent letter to confirm the 
Commencement Date. Licensee shall perform all work in connection with the License 
Area in strict compliance with the Approved Plans and in a diligent, skillful and 
workmanlike manner. All installed Equipment must be high quality, safe, fire resistant, 
modern in design and attractive in appearance, all as approved by the City. After any 
work at the License Area concludes, Licensee shall restore the License Area and any 
other City Property to the condition that existed immediately prior to the work 
commenced.  Licensee shall duly notify City when installation is complete. 
 

7.3.1. Alterations to City’s Property 
 
Licensee shall not remove, damage or in any manner alter any City Property without 
prior written consent from the City and any other City agencies with jurisdiction over the 
subject City Property. The City may withhold its consent in its sole and absolute 
discretion, and may reasonably condition its consent in each instance based on scope 
and nature of the proposed alterations. Licensee shall immediately notify the City if any 
removal, damage or other alteration occurs to City Property for any reason and through 
any cause. 
 

7.3.2. Licensee’s Contractors 
 
Licensee shall use only qualified and trained persons and appropriately licensed 
contractors for all work performed on or about the License Area. Licensee shall give the 
City at least ten (10) days’ prior written notice of commencement of any construction or 
installation on any part of the License Area except or minor and routine repair and 
maintenance of Licensee’s Equipment. At least five (5) business days before any work 
commences on or about the License Area, Licensee shall provide the City with: (1) a 
schedule with all activities to be performed in connection with the work; and (2) a list 
with all the names, contractor’s license numbers and business addresses for all 
contractors who will perform the work. 
 

7.4. Labor and Materials Costs 
 
Licensee shall be responsible for all direct and indirect costs (labor, materials, and 
overhead) in connection with designing, purchasing and installing all Equipment in 



 

 18 

accordance with the Approved Plans and all applicable Laws. Licensee shall also bear 
all costs to obtain and maintain all Regulatory Approvals required in connection with the 
installation, which includes without limitation all direct and indirect costs to comply with 
any approval conditions or mitigation measures that arise from Licensee’s proposed 
installation. Licensee shall timely pay for all labor, materials, Equipment and all 
professional services related to the Permitted Use or furnished to the License Area at 
Licensee’s direction or for Licensee’s benefit. 
 

7.5. Project Managers 
 
The City and Licensee each designate the person listed in this Section 7.5 as its project 
manager to coordinate Licensee’s Equipment design and installation, and serve as each 
party’s respective primary contact person for all design, engineering, construction and 
installation issues that may arise between the parties in connection with this Master 
License. 
 
 City’s Project Manager: 
 

Name: _________________________ 
Title: _________________________ 
Phone: _________________________ 
Email: _________________________ 
Address: _________________________ 

 _________________________ 
 _________________________ 
 
 Licensee’s Project Manager: 
 

Name: _________________________ 
Title: _________________________ 
Phone: _________________________ 
Email: _________________________ 
Address: _________________________ 

 _________________________ 
 _________________________ 
 
Licensee acknowledges that the City’s project manager is not exclusively assigned to 
this Master License, and that the City’s project manager may not always be immediately 
available to Licensee or its project manager. Licensee further acknowledges that the 
authority delegated by the City to the City’s project manager is limited to the 
administration of this Master License, any Pole License Applications and any approved 
Pole Licenses. The parties’ respective project managers will have no obligation to 
perform any term or covenant to be performed by the other party under this Master 
License. Notices to the parties’ respective project managers alone will not be deemed 
effective notice for any purpose under this Master License. The Parties may designate a 
new project manager from time-to-time by written notice to the other Party. 



 

 19 

 
7.6. Coordination with the City 

 
Licensee must coordinate all its installation, construction and other work on or about the 
License Area with the City so as to avoid any interference (physical, electronic or 
otherwise) with any existing utilities, substructures, facilities, City Property and the City’s 
municipal operations.  
 

7.7. Fiber-Optic Cables 
 
In the event that Licensee’s Equipment on the License Area includes any fiber-optic 
cables owned by Licensee, Licensee shall, as partial consideration paid to the City for 
this Master License, grant the City a license to use six strands in any fiber-optic cable 
that Licensee owns at each licensed Pole. Such license shall be automatically effective 
upon Licensee’s installation of any fiber-optic cables owned by Licensee on the License 
Area, and Licensee shall designate and mark six fiber strands in any conduit that serves 
the License Area for the City’s use at the time it installs such fiber-optic cables. 
Licensee further agrees that, at the time this Master License expires or terminates, 
Licensee shall transfer to the City title and ownership of any fiber stands that the City 
uses or desires to use by quitclaim or bill for sale at no cost to Licensee. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the obligations under this Section 7.7 do not apply to Licensee 
when Licensee either does not use fiber optic cables or when Licensee does not own 
the fiber optic cables used (e.g., in circumstances where Licensee procures fiber-based 
telecommunications services from a local common carrier unrelated to Licensee). 
 

7.8. Title to Licensee’s Equipment and Other Improvements 
 
Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Master License, all Equipment and 
other improvements installed, constructed or placed on or about the License Area by 
Licensee or its Agents or Invitees will be and remain at all times Licensee’s personal 
property. All structural improvements (including, without limitation, hand holes, pull 
boxes, ground-mounted cabinets and pedestals) to any Pole, any replacement Pole and 
any underground fiber optic cables, all as approved by the City and shown in the 
Approved Plans, will become City Property and remain should Licensee vacate or 
abandon such License Area, unless the City elects in a written notice to Licensee that it 
does not wish to take title to such structural improvements, in which case Licensee shall 
remove such improvements at its sole cost and in a manner acceptable to City, and 
shall restore all affected areas by such removal to a condition compliant with all 
applicable Laws. Subject to Section 24 (Surrender of License Area), Licensee may 
remove its Equipment from the License Area at any time after 30 days’ written notice to 
the City. 
 
 7.9. Compliance with Prevailing Wage Policies 
 
The services to be provided under the Master License or Pole License are or may be 
subject to prevailing wage rate payment as set forth in California Labor Code Section 



 

 20 

1771. Accordingly, to the extent that such services are subject to the prevailing wage 
rate payment requirements, Licensee shall comply with all California Labor Code 
requirements pertaining to “public works,” including the payment of prevailing wages in 
connection with the services to be provided hereunder (collectively, “Prevailing Wage 
Policies”). Licensee shall submit, upon request by the City, certified copies of payroll 
records to the City and shall make such records available to the City for inspection and 
copying during regular business hours at a location within the City of Concord. 
 
Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold the City harmless and its officers, officials, 
employees, volunteers, agents and representatives (collectively, “Indemnitees”) from 
and against any and all present and future liabilities, obligations, orders, claims, 
damages, fines, penalties and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs) 
(collectively, “Claims”) arising out of or in any way connected with Licensee’s obligation 
to comply with all laws with respect to the work of improvements or Prevailing Wage 
Policies, including all Claims that may be made by contractors, subcontractors or other 
third party claimants pursuant to Labor Code sections 1726 and 1781, as amended and 
added by Senate Bill 966.  
 
Licensee hereby waives, releases and discharges forever the Indemnitees from any and 
all present and future Claims arising out of or in any way connected with Licensee’s 
obligation to comply with all laws with respect to the work of improvements and 
Prevailing Wage Policies. Licensee is aware of and familiar with the provisions of 
California Civil Code Section 1542 which provides as follows: 
 

“A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not 
know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the 
release, which if known by him must have materially affected his or her 
settlement with the debtor.” 

 
As such relates to the Master License and Pole License, Licensee hereby waives and 
relinquishes all rights and benefits which it may have under California Civil Code 
Section 1542.  The obligations of Licensee under this Section 3.B shall survive the 
termination of this Master License or Pole License. 
 
8. PUBLIC WORKS OPERATIONS 
 

8.1. City’s Access to License Areas 
 
Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Master License, the City and its Agents 
have the right to access any License Area in whole or in part at any time without notice 
for any purpose. The City will not be liable in any manner whatsoever, and Licensee 
expressly waives any Claims for inconvenience, disturbance, lost business, nuisance or 
other damages that may arise from the City’s or its Agents’ access to the License Area, 
which includes any Equipment removed in an emergency or other exigent 
circumstances pursuant to Section 8.4 (Emergencies), except to the extent that the 
damage arises directly and exclusively from the gross negligence or willful misconduct 



 

 21 

of the City or its Agents and not contributed to by the acts, omissions or negligence of 
Licensee, its Agents or Invitees. The City will not be liable in any manner whatsoever, 
and Licensee expressly waives any Claims for inconvenience, disturbance, lost 
business, nuisance or other damages that may arise from the City’s or its Agents’ gross 
negligence or willful misconduct and not contributed to by Licensee’s or its Agents’ or 
Invitees’ acts, omissions or negligence. 
 

8.2. Repairs, Maintenance and Alterations to Poles 
 
The City and/or the City’s Public Works Department will: (1) maintain and repair Poles 
as needed, in its sole judgment, for its street light operations and other municipal 
functions; and (2) correct any immediately hazardous condition. Except as provided in 
Section 26 (Termination), and excluding conditions that arise from the City’s or its 
Agents’ gross negligence or willful misconduct, neither any City work on any Pole nor 
any condition on any Pole will: (1) entitle Licensee to any damages; (2) excuse or 
reduce any obligation by Licensee to pay any License Fees or Additional Fees or 
perform any covenant under this Master License; or (3) constitute or be construed as a 
constructive termination of this Master License or any Pole License.  
 

8.3. Repairs, Maintenance and Alterations to License Areas 
 
The City may, at any time, alter, add to, repair, remove from and/or improve the License 
Area in whole or in part for any operational purpose, which includes without limitation 
maintenance and improvements in connection with street light services and compliance 
with Laws; provided, however, (1) the City makes a good-faith effort to provide advance 
notice to Licensee’s On-Call Representative as soon as reasonably practicable; (2) the 
City allows Licensee’s representative to observe the City’s work; and (3) the City takes 
reasonable steps not to disrupt Licensee’s ordinary operations on the License Area. The 
provisions in this Section 8.3 will not be construed to allow Licensee’s ordinary 
operations to impede or delay the City’s authority and ability to make changes to the 
License Areas necessary to maintain street light services.  
 

8.4. Emergencies 
 
In emergencies, the City’s work will take precedence over Licensee’s operations, which 
includes without limitation any Equipment operated on the License Area, and the City 
may access the License Area in whole or in part as the City deems necessary in its sole 
determination and in accordance with this Section 8.4, whether the City has notified 
Licensee of such emergency or other exigent circumstances or not. When safe and 
practicable, the City will notify Licensee of any emergency or other exigent 
circumstances that requires the City to remove or replace any Pole and will allow 
Licensee to remove its Equipment before the City removes or replaces the Pole; 
provided, however, that the City will remove the Equipment from the Pole when in the 
City’s sole determination it would (1) be unsafe or not practicable to wait for Licensee to 
perform the work; (2) cause significant delay; or (3) otherwise threaten or compromise 
public safety or public services. The City will remove any Equipment with reasonable 



 

 22 

care and store the Equipment for retrieval by Licensee and the City will provide notice 
as soon as reasonably practicable after such emergency, but in no event later than 24 
hours after the emergency. Licensee shall have the right to reinstall such removed 
Equipment or equivalent Equipment at Licensee’s sole expense on the repaired or 
replaced Pole and in accordance with Section 7 (Equipment Installation). The City’s 
removal of Licensee’s Equipment in emergencies or other exigent circumstances will 
not be deemed to be a forcible or unlawful entry onto the License Area or any 
interference with Licensee’s contractual privilege to use the License Area.  
 
9. LICENSEE’S MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS 
 

9.1. Damage to Poles 
 

9.1.1. Notice to the City 
 
Licensee agrees to give the City notice of the need for any repair to a Pole promptly 
after Licensee discovers any damage from any cause. Licensee’s agreement to provide 
notice is not an assumption of liability for any life-threatening or hazardous conditions 
unless caused by the acts, omissions or negligence of Licensee or its Agents or 
Invitees. Failure to provide such notice will be a material default under this Master 
License. 
 

9.1.2. Damage Caused by Licensee 
 
In the event that any use or maintenance by Licensee or its Agents or Invitees cause 
any damage to any Pole, Licensee must notify City and repair such damage within 30 
days after the City provides a notice to Licensee that describes such damage. Damage 
repairs need to be done in accordance with the City’s standard of care and to the City’s 
satisfaction. Such 30-day cure period may be extended to a date certain if the City 
agrees the cure reasonably requires more time. In the event that Licensee fails to timely 
cure the damage, the City may repair the damage at Licensee’s expense. Licensee will 
reimburse the City for all costs incurred to repair such damage within 10 days after 
Licensee receives the City’s demand for payment, together with copies of invoices or 
other evidence to document the costs incurred.  
 

9.1.3. No Right to Repair 
 
Absent notice from the City with a demand to repair any damage to a Pole, Licensee is 
not authorized to make any repairs to any Pole. Licensee expressly waives all rights it 
may have under any applicable Laws to make repairs at the City’s expense. 
 

9.2. Equipment Maintenance 
 

9.2.1. Generally 
 



 

 23 

Licensee shall, at its sole cost and expense, install, maintain and promptly repair any 
damage to any Equipment installed on the License Area whenever repair or 
maintenance may be required, subject to the City’s prior approval if required under 
Section 7 (Equipment Installation). Licensee is not required to seek the City’s prior 
approval for any Equipment repair, maintenance, replacement or other installation on 
the License Area when such Equipment is shown on the Approved Plans. Licensee 
must obtain the City’s prior written approval for any Equipment repair, maintenance, 
replacement or other installation that involves larger, different or additional Equipment 
than shown on the Approved Plans. Licensee expressly acknowledges that Section 
6409(a) of the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 (codified at 47 
U.S.C. § 1455) does not apply to this Master License or any Pole License because the 
City is granting them in its proprietary capacity as the owner of the City Poles. Any work 
on Licensee’s Equipment installed on Poles that is authorized or permitted under 
this Subsection is subject to Licensee obtaining any required Regulatory Approvals. 
 

9.2.2. Modifications 
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Master License, modifications to any 
pole attachment shall not be subject to the City’s prior consent only when (i) such 
modification to the attachment involves only substitution of internal components, and 
does not result in any change to the external appearance, dimensions, or weight of the 
attachment, as approved by the City; or (ii) such modification involves replacement of the 
attachment with an attachment that is the same, or smaller in weight and dimensions, 
and substantially similar in appearance from publicly accessible spaces as the 
approved attachment. Prior to performing any modification under this Section 9.2.2, 
Licensee will obtain all Regulatory Approvals required for the modification and provide 
the City with notice prior to commencing any work in connection with the modification. 
 

9.3. Graffiti Abatement 
 
Licensee’s repair and maintenance obligation includes the removal of any graffiti from 
the License Area within 48 hours after the City notifies Licensee of said graffiti. 
 

9.4. Standard of Work 
 
All work performed by or for Licensee under this Section 9 shall be: (1) at Licensee’s 
sole cost and expense; (2) performed only qualified and trained persons and 
appropriately licensed contractors; (3) performed in a manner and with equipment and 
materials that will not interfere with or impair the City’s operations; and (4) compliant 
with all applicable Laws; and (5) performed solely by Licensee or Licensee’s Agents and 
not by Licensee’s Invitees. 
 
 9.5. Inspections 
 
At least once in every License Year, Licensee shall perform an inspection of all 
Equipment and, within 30 business days after the inspection, submit a written report to 



 

 24 

the City on the condition of such Equipment that includes, without limitation, any 
identified concerns and corrective action taken or planned to be taken. In the event that 
Licensee’s inspection reveals any maintenance concerns in connection with any Pole or 
any other City Property, Licensee shall promptly notify the City. Licensee shall provide 
the City with at least 30 days’ prior written notice before it commences any inspection. 
Licensee shall permit any City employee or third-party consultant to observe any 
inspection activities and make reasonable accommodations as needed to facilitate such 
observations; provided that any third-party consultant will be required to agree to a 
reasonable confidentiality agreement as may be requested by Licensee. In the event 
that Licensee, its Agents or Invitees notice any maintenance concerns with respect to 
any Pole or other City Property, Licensee shall promptly notify the City. 
 
10. LIENS 
 
Licensee shall keep the License Area free and clear from any and all liens in connection 
with any work performed, material furnished or obligations incurred by or for Licensee. 
Licensee shall inform each and every contractor and material supplier that provides any 
work, service, equipment or material to Licensee in any way connected with Licensee’s 
use of the License Area that the License Area is public property and is not subject to 
mechanics’ liens or stop notices for Equipment or other materials or services provided 
for Licensee’s Equipment. If Licensee does not cause the release of lien of a 
mechanic’s lien or stop notice by any contractor, service provider or equipment or 
material supplier purporting to attach to the License Area or other City Property within 
30 days after notice or discovery of the lien, the City will have the right, but not the 
obligation, to cause the same to be released by any means it deems proper, including 
payment of the Claim giving rise to such lien. Licensee must reimburse the City for all 
expenses it incurs in connection with any such lien (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees) within 10 days following receipt of the City’s demand together with copies of 
invoices or other evidence to document the costs incurred. Licensee shall give the City 
at least 10 days’ prior notice of commencement of any construction or installation on 
any part of the License Area except for minor and routine repair and maintenance of 
Licensee’s Equipment. Licensee shall not create, permit, or suffer any other 
encumbrances affecting any portion of the License Area. 
 
11. UTILITIES 
 
Licensee shall be responsible to secure its own utility services for its Permitted Use and 
shall not be permitted to use or submeter from any electrical service provided to the City 
on any Pole. The City may, in its sole and absolute discretion, permit Licensee to 
connect to or submeter from any electrical service provided to the City on any Pole not 
subject to a flat rate from the City’s electrical service provider. Licensee shall timely pay 
when due all charges for all utilities furnished to its Equipment. Any permitted 
interconnection between the City’s and Licensee’s electrical facilities shall be 
accomplished in compliance with all applicable Laws and all utility service providers’ 
policies for such interconnection. 
 



 

 25 

12. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS 
 

12.1. Possessory Interest Taxes 
 
Licensee understands and acknowledges that this Master License may create a 
possessory interest subject to taxation and that Licensee will be required to pay any 
such possessory interest taxes. Licensee further understands and acknowledges that 
any sublicense or assignment permitted under this Master License and any exercised 
options to renew or extend this Master License may constitute a change in ownership 
for taxation purposes and therefore result in a revaluation for any possessory interest 
created under this Master License. 
 

12.2. Licensee’s Tax Obligations 
 
Licensee agrees to pay when due and prior to delinquency any and all taxes, 
assessments, charges, excises and exactions whatsoever, including without limitation 
any possessory interest taxes, that arise from or in connection with Licensee’s use 
within the License Area or Licensee’s Equipment that may be imposed on Licensee 
under Law. Licensee shall not allow or suffer any lien for any taxes assessments, 
charges, excises or exactions whatsoever to be imposed on the License Area or 
Licensee’s Equipment. In the event that the City receives any tax or assessment notices 
on or in connection with the License Area or Licensee’s Equipment, the City shall 
promptly (but in no event later than 30 days after receipt) forward the same, together 
with reasonably sufficient written documentation that details any increases in the 
taxable or assessable amount attributable to Licensee’s Equipment. 
 
13. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 

13.1. Compliance with Current and Future Laws 
 
Licensee shall install, operate and maintain the Equipment, and shall perform all work in 
connection with such installation, operation and maintenance, in strict compliance with 
all applicable Laws and all conditions in any Regulatory Approvals issued in connection 
with the Equipment or its installation and operation on any Pole. The parties agree that 
Licensee’s obligation to comply with all Laws is a material part of the bargained-for 
consideration under this Master License, irrespective of the degree to which such 
compliance may interfere with Licensee’s use or enjoyment of the License Area, the 
likelihood that the parties contemplated the particular Law involved and whether the 
Law involved is related to Licensee’s particular use of the License Area. No occurrence 
or situation arising during the Term arising under any current or future Law, whether 
foreseen or unforeseen and however extraordinary, will relieve Licensee from its 
obligations under this Master License or give Licensee any right to terminate this Master 
License or any Pole License in whole or in part or to otherwise seek redress against the 
City. Licensee waives any rights under any current or future Laws to terminate this 
Master License or any Pole License, to receive any abatement, diminution, reduction or 



 

 26 

suspension of payment of License Fees, or to compel the City to make any repairs to 
comply with any such Laws, on account of any such occurrence or situation. 
 

13.2. Licensee’s Personnel 
 

13.2.1. Personnel Training and Certification 
 
Licensee shall ensure that all persons who install, operate or maintain the Equipment 
are appropriately trained and licensed by the California State Contractors Licensing 
Board as required under applicable CPUC rules and regulations. Licensee shall ensure 
that such persons are trained in and observe all safety requirements established by the 
City, the CPUC and the California Division of Occupational Safety and Health, 
Department of Industrial Relations, or its duly appointed successor agency, which 
includes without limitation site orientation, tag-out and lock-out de-energization rules, 
ladder and lift restrictions and track and street right-of-way safety requirements.  
 

13.2.2. Licensee’s Indemnification for Personal Injuries 
 
Licensee acknowledges that (1) the City has delegated to Licensee control over the 
License Area at any time in which Licensee or its Agents are installing, operating or 
maintaining the Equipment; and (2) the City is not a co-employer of any employee of 
Licensee or any employee of Licensee’s Agents, and the City shall not be liable for any 
Claim by Licensee’s or its Agent’s employee(s). Licensee agrees to fully indemnify, 
defend and hold the City harmless in the same manner as provided in Section 18 
(Licensee’s Indemnification Obligations) against any Claim by any employee of 
Licensee or its Agents that arises in connection with Licensee’s or its Agents’ access, 
uses or other activities on or about the License Area. 
 

13.3. Compliance with CPUC GO 95 
 
Licensee shall conduct all activities on the License Area in accordance with CPUC 
General Order 95 and the rules and other requirements enacted by the CPUC under 
that General Order, as applicable and as amended. 
 

13.4. Compliance with Building and Electric Codes 
 
Licensee shall conduct all activities on the License Area in accordance with the 
requirements of all applicable codes and regulations related to building and construction 
safety, which includes without limitation the California Building Code, the California 
Electric Code, National Electric Safety Code IEEE C2 (the “NESC”) and any applicable 
local building electrical code, as those codes exist now or may be amended in the 
future. To the extent that CPUC General Order 95 does not address cellular telephone 
antenna installations on Poles carrying electrical lines, Licensee shall apply applicable 
provisions of the NESC, with particular attention to paragraphs 224, 235C, 235F, 238, 
239 and 239H and sections 22, 41 and 44. Where any conflict exists between the 
California Building Code, the NESC, the California Electric Code, any local code and 



 

 27 

CPUC General Order 128, the more stringent requirements will apply, as determined by 
the City. 
 

13.5. Compliance with RF Exposure Regulations 
 
Licensee’s obligation to comply with all Laws includes all Laws related to maximum 
permissible exposure to RF or EMF emissions on or about the License Area, which 
includes all applicable FCC standards, whether such RF or EMF emissions or exposure 
results from Licensee’s Equipment alone or from the cumulative effect of Licensee’s 
Equipment added to all other existing sources as of the date of the RF Compliance 
Report on or near the License Area. Licensee must provide to the City an RF 
Compliance Report for each proposed Pole on which the Licensee desires to install or 
operate its Equipment. If not provided earlier, Licensee must submit the RF Compliance 
Report to the City with the applicable Pole License Application. 
 
14. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION 
 

14.1. City’s Rights After Damage or Destruction 
 
In the event the License Area in whole or in part becomes damaged due to any cause, 
the City (1) will have no obligation whatsoever to repair or replace the damaged License 
Area; and (2) may, in the City’s sole and absolute discretion, elect to take any of the 
following actions: 
 

14.1.1. Election to Repair or Replace Damaged Pole 
 
Within 30 days after the date on which the City discovers damage or destruction of a 
Pole licensed to Licensee, the City will give Licensee notice of the City’s decision 
whether to repair or replace the damaged Pole and its good faith estimate of the amount 
of time the City will need to complete the work. If the City cannot complete the work 
within 30 days after the date that the City specifies in its notice, or if the City elects not 
to perform the work, then Licensee will have the right to terminate the affected Pole 
License on 30 days’ notice to the City. In addition, Licensee shall at all times keep at 
least one (1) replacement pole in stock with the City’s designated street light 
maintenance contractor at a location designated by the City. 
 

14.1.2. Election to Remove Damaged Pole 
 
If the City elects to remove, rather than repair or replace, a damaged Pole licensed to 
Licensee, then the applicable Pole License will automatically terminate on the last day 
of the month in which the removal occurs. 
 

14.1.3. Election to Remove Equipment from Damaged Pole 
 
If the acts of third parties or an act of nature or other force majeure circumstance 
outside the control of Licensee or its Agents or Invitees destroys or damages any Pole 



 

 28 

to such an extent that, in the City’s reasonable determination after consultation with 
Licensee, the Equipment on the Pole cannot be operated, the City may decide to 
terminate the affected Pole License on 30 days’ written notice to Licensee and require 
Licensee to remove the Equipment from the damaged Pole before the termination date 
specified in the City’s notice. Notwithstanding anything in this Master License or any 
Pole License to the contrary, the City will have the right to remove any damaged Pole 
when deemed necessary, in the City’s sole determination, to protect the public or 
property from imminent (whether threatened or actual) harm. 
 

14.2. Licensee’s Rights upon Termination 
 
After the City terminates a Pole License pursuant to Section 14.1 (City’s Rights After 
Damage or Destruction), the City will: (1) refund any pre-paid License Fee in connection 
with the terminated Pole License on a pro-rata basis determined by the number of 
months left in the current License Year at the time such termination occurs, subject to 
the Minimum Term as defined in Section 3.2 (Pole License Term) in this Master 
License; and (2) prioritize Licensee’s Pole License Application for one replacement 
Pole. 
 

14.3. Waiver of Statutory Rights 
 
The parties understand, acknowledge and agree that this Master License fully governs 
their rights and obligations in the event that any licensed Poles become damaged or 
destroyed, and, to the extent applicable, the City and Licensee each hereby waives and 
releases the provisions in California Civil Code §§ 1932(2) and 1933(4) or any similar 
Laws. 
 
15. CONDEMNATION 
 

15.1. Permanent Takings 
 
In the event that any entity with the power to condemn permanently takes any License 
Area in whole or in part, or in the event that the City transfers any License Area in whole 
or in part to such entity in lieu of eminent domain, the following provisions will apply: 
  

15.1.1. Termination 
 
Any affected Pole License will automatically terminate as to the part taken or transferred 
on the date the permanent taking or transfer occurs, and the License Fee under the 
affected Pole License will be ratably reduced to account for the reduction in License 
Area. 
 

15.1.2. Award 
 
The City will be entitled to any award paid or made in connection with the taking or any 
sums paid in lieu of such taking. Licensee will have no Claim against the City for the 



 

 29 

value of any unexpired Term of any Pole License or otherwise except that Licensee 
may claim any portion of the award that is specifically allocable to Licensee’s loss or 
damage to Licensee’s Equipment. 
 

15.1.3. No Statutory Right to Terminate 
 
The parties understand, acknowledge and agree that this Section 15.1 (Permanent 
Takings) is intended to fully govern the parties’ rights and obligations in the event of a 
permanent taking. Licensee and the City each hereby waives and releases any right to 
terminate this Master License in whole or in part under California Code of Civil 
Procedure §§ 1265.120 and 1265.130 and under any similar Laws to the extent 
applicable to this Master License. 
 

15.2. Temporary Takings 
 
Any taking that affects any License Area in whole or in part for less than 90 days will 
have no effect on the affected Pole License, except that Licensee will be entitled to a 
pro-rata abatement in the applicable License Fee to the extent that such temporary 
taking materially impairs Licensee’s use of the License Area. Furthermore, in the event 
that the City receives an award, if any, in connection with such temporary taking, 
Licensee will receive the portion from the award that represents compensation for the 
use or occupancy of the License Area during the Term but not to exceed the License 
Fees and Additional Fees payable by Licensee for the period of the taking, and the City 
will retain the balance of the award. 
 
16. ASSIGNMENT AND OTHER TRANSFERS 
 

16.1. General Restriction 
 
Except as specifically provided in Section 16.3 (Permitted Assignments), Licensee shall 
not directly or indirectly assign its interests or rights, whether in whole or in part, in 
connection with this Master License, any Pole License or the License Area without the 
City’s prior written consent. The City shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to any 
proposed Assignment; provided, however, that the parties acknowledge that the City 
may reasonably withhold its consent to any proposed Assignment at any time in which 
any monetary or other material default by Licensee under this Master License remains 
uncured. 
 

16.2. Proposed Assignment Procedures 
 

16.2.1. Proposed Assignment Notice 
 
Other than with respect to a Permitted Assignment, in the event that Licensee desires to 
assign its interests or rights, whether in whole or in part, in connection with this Master 
License, any Pole License or the License Area, Licensee shall first send written notice 
(the “Proposed Assignment Notice”) to the City, which states in detail the proposed 



 

 30 

terms and conditions for the Assignment and financial information sufficient to show that 
the proposed assignee (the “Proposed Assignee”)  has a demonstrated ability to 
perform all the obligations of Licensee under this Master License and any Pole License 
issued hereunder. In addition, upon a written request from the City, Licensee or the 
Proposed Assignee shall provide additional information, which includes without 
limitation financial statements, business track records, references and other information 
about the Proposed Assignee that the City reasonably requires to fully evaluate 
Licensee’s request and render an informed decision. In the event that Licensee does 
not provide all the such information simultaneously with the Proposed Assignment 
Notice, the Proposed Assignment Notice shall not be deemed effective until Licensee 
delivers all such information as the City may reasonably require. 
 

16.2.2. City Response 
 
The City shall approve or disapprove any request for consent to an Assignment within 
30 days after the City receives a complete Proposed Assignment Notice, or 30 days 
after the deemed-effective date if Licensee delivers an incomplete Proposed 
Assignment Notice as described in Section 16.2.1 (Proposed Assignment Notice) (in 
either case, the “Assignment Response Period”). The City shall not unreasonably 
withhold approval if the Proposed Assignee has a demonstrated ability to perform all the 
obligations of Licensee under this Master License and any Pole License issued 
hereunder. If the City fails to respond within the Assignment Response Period, the 
request for consent will be deemed disapproved. If the City delivers to Licensee written 
consent to the proposed Assignment, then Licensee shall have 100 days from such 
written consent to complete the Assignment. The City’s consent will be deemed revoked 
if Licensee fails to complete the proposed Assignment within the 100-day period; 
provided, however, that the 100-day period may be extended to a date certain in a 
written agreement, which the City shall not unreasonably refuse. 
 

16.3. Permitted Assignments 
 

16.3.1. Definition 
 
The City agrees that Licensee will be permitted to enter into an Assignment of this 
Master License and Pole Licenses issued under it (a “Permitted Assignment”), without 
the City’s prior consent but with notice to the City as provided below, to: (i) Licensee’s 
parent; (ii) Licensee’s subsidiary; (iii) an entity that acquires all or substantially all of 
Licensee’s assets in the market in which the License Area is located (as the market is 
defined by the FCC under an order or directive of the FCC; (iv) an entity that acquires 
Licensee by a change of stock ownership or partnership interest; or (v) an entity that 
Controls Licensee, is Controlled by Licensee or that, with Licensee, is under the 
Common Control of a third party. 
 

16.3.2. Conditions 
 



 

 31 

A Permitted Assignment is subject to all the following conditions: (a) the Assignee uses 
the License Area only for the Permitted Use and holds all Regulatory Approvals 
necessary to lawfully install, operate, and maintain Equipment on the License Area; (b) 
Licensee provides the City with notice 30 days before the effective date of Permitted 
Assignment, stating the contact information for the proposed Assignee and providing 
financial information establishing that the proposed Assignee meets the qualifications in 
Section 16.2.1; and (c) Licensee is in good standing under this Master License. 
 

16.4. Effect of Assignment 
 
No Assignment by Licensee, consent to Assignment by the City, or Permitted 
Assignment under Section 16.3 (Permitted Assignments) to any Assignee or other third 
party will relieve Licensee of any obligation on its part under this Master License, until 
and unless the Assignee signs a written agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to 
the City to unconditionally assume all Licensee’s obligations under this Master License 
and any Pole License issued hereunder. Any Assignment that is not in compliance with 
this Section 16 will be void and be a material default by Licensee under this Master 
License without a requirement for notice and a right to cure. The City’s acceptance of 
any License Fee, Additional Fee, or other payments from a proposed Assignee will not 
be deemed to be the City’s consent to such Assignment, recognition of any Assignee, or 
waiver of any failure of Licensee or other transferor to comply with this Section 16. 
 

16.5. Assumption by Transferee 
 
Each Assignee shall assume all obligations of Licensee under this Master License and 
each assigned Pole License and will be and remain liable jointly and severally with 
Licensee for all obligations to be performed by Licensee until and unless the Assignee 
signs a written agreement, in a form reasonably acceptable to the City, to 
unconditionally assume all Licensee’s obligations under this Master License and any 
Pole License issued hereunder. No Assignment will be binding on the City unless 
Licensee or the Assignee delivers to the City evidence satisfactory to the City that the 
Assignee has obtained all required Regulatory Approvals necessary to install, maintain, 
and operate the Equipment and any other associated improvements or personal 
property, a copy of the Assignment agreement (or other document reasonably 
satisfactory to the City in the event of a Permitted Assignment under Section 16.3 
(Permitted Assignments)), and an instrument in recordable form that contains a 
covenant of assumption by such Assignee satisfactory in substance and form to the 
City, consistent with the requirements of this Article. However, the failure or refusal of 
an Assignee to execute such instrument of assumption will not release such Assignee 
from its liability as set forth in this Section. Except for a Permitted Assignment as 
provided in Section 16.3 (Permitted Assignments), Licensee shall reimburse the City on 
demand for any reasonable costs that the City incurs in connection with any proposed 
Assignment, including the costs of investigating the acceptability of the proposed 
Assignee and legal costs incurred in connection with considering any requested 
consent. The City agrees that its right to reimbursement under this Section during the 



 

 32 

Term will be limited to Two Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($2,000.00) for each 
request. 
 

16.6. Licensee’s Customers 
 
Licensee may provide capacity to Licensee’s customers using, or permit such 
customers to use, the Equipment installed by Licensee without the City’s consent 
required in this Section; provided, however, that: (1) Licensee remains solely 
responsible for such Equipment and (2) such use by Licensee or Licensee’s customers 
does not involve any physical changes to the Equipment other than changes permitted 
under Section 9.2.2 (Modifications). In any other case, Licensee may provide capacity 
to Licensee’s customers using, or permit such customers to use, the Equipment 
installed by Licensee upon prior written notice to the City that: (a) identifies the 
customer who will be using the Equipment and the location(s) where such use will 
occur; and (b) includes the appropriate annual fee for the additional carrier as specified 
in Schedule A-4, prorated to account for any partial year. Thereafter, Licensee shall pay 
the additional carrier fee each year in the same manner as the License Fee so long as 
the additional carrier continues to use the Equipment. Notwithstanding anything in this 
Master License to the contrary, Licensee shall not be required to pay any additional fee 
to allow Licensee’s customers to use wireline Equipment for data transport, backhaul or 
similar services. 
 
17. DEFAULT 
 

17.1. Events of Default by Licensee 
 
Any of the following will constitute an event of default by Licensee under this Master 
License and any Pole Licenses issued under it: (1) Licensee fails to pay any sums due 
to the City within 10 days after notice from the City; (2) Licensee fails to perform or 
comply with any other obligation or representation made under this Master License, if 
the failure continues for 30 days after the date of notice from the City, or, if such default 
is not capable of cure within the 30-day period, Licensee fails to promptly undertake 
action to cure such default within such 30-day period and thereafter fails to use its best 
efforts to complete such cure within 60 days after the City’s notice; (3) Licensee, except 
where otherwise permitted under this Master License, removes its Equipment or 
abandons the License Area for a continuous period of more than 60 days, such that the 
License Area is longer being used for the Permitted Use; or (4) any of the following 
occurs: (i) the appointment of a receiver due to Licensee’s insolvency to take 
possession of all or substantially all of the assets of Licensee; (ii) an assignment by 
Licensee for the benefit of creditors; or (iii) any action taken by or against Licensee 
under any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, moratorium, or other debtor relief 
Laws, if any such receiver, assignment, or action is not released, discharged, 
dismissed, or vacated within 60 days. 
 

17.2. City’s Remedies 
 



 

 33 

In addition to all other rights and remedies available to the City at law or in equity, 
the City will have the following remedies following the occurrence of an event of default 
by Licensee. 
 

17.2.1. License Continuation 
 
Without prejudice to its right to other remedies, the City may continue this Master 
License and applicable Pole Licenses in effect, with the right to enforce all of its rights 
and remedies, including the right to payment of License Fees, Additional Fees, and 
other charges as they become due. 
 

17.2.2. Pole License Termination 
 
If a default specific to one or more Pole Licenses is not cured by Licensee within the 
applicable cure period, if any, specified in Section 17.1 (Events of Default by Licensee), 
the City may terminate each Pole License in default. 
 

17.2.3. Master License Termination 
 
If Licensee’s default is of such a serious nature in the City’s sole judgment that the 
default materially affects the purposes of this Master License, the City may terminate 
this Master License in whole or in part. Termination of this Master License in whole will 
terminate all Pole Licenses issued under it automatically and without the need for any 
further action by the City. In either case, the City will deliver notice to Licensee providing 
30-days’ notice of termination and specify whether the termination affects the entire 
Master License or only certain Pole Licenses in the notice. The City will specify the 
amount of time Licensee will have to remove its Equipment from any affected City Pole, 
which will be at least 30 days after the date of the City’s notice for up to 50% of licensed 
City Poles and an additional 30 days for more than 51% of licensed City Poles. If 
Licensee does not remove its Equipment within the specified period, the City will be 
entitled to remove Licensee’s Equipment from the City Pole. The City will have the right 
to make any terminated portion of the License Area available for license to other parties 
as of the effective date of the termination, even if Licensee’s Equipment is still on the 
Pole. 
 

17.2.4. Default Fees 
 
Without limiting the City’s other rights and remedies under this Master License, the City 
may require Licensee to pay Additional Fees for the City’s administrative cost in 
providing notice or performing inspections for the events described below (each, a 
“Default Fee”) by giving notice of the City’s demand that Licensee cure the default and 
specifying the cure period. The Default Fee for the initial notice from the City will be due 
and payable to the City 10 days after delivery of notice to Licensee. In addition, if 
Licensee fails to cure the condition within the cure period set forth in the initial notice, 
and the City then delivers to Licensee a follow-up notice requesting compliance, then 
the Default Fee for the follow-up notice will be due and payable to the City 10 days after 



 

 34 

delivery of the follow-up notice to Licensee. Default Fees will apply to any of the 
following events: (1) Licensee constructs or installs any alteration or improvement 
without the City’s prior approval as required by Section 6 (Pole Licenses), Section 7 
(Equipment Installation), or Section 7.3.1 (Alterations to City’s Property) of this Master 
License; (2) Licensee fails to cure damage required by Section 9 (Licensee’s 
Maintenance Obligations) on a timely basis; (3) Licensee fails to notify the City, through 
its project manager, before accessing the License Area or following the plan approval 
procedures as set forth in Section 7 (Equipment Installation); or (4) Licensee fails to 
provide evidence of the required bonds and insurance coverage described in Section 19 
(Insurance) on a timely basis. 
 

17.3. Licensee’s Remedies 
 
Licensee’s sole remedy for the City’s breach or threatened breach of this Master 
License or any Pole License issued under it will be an action for damages, subject to 
Section 20 (Limitations on City’s Liability). 
 

17.4. Cumulative Rights and Remedies 
 
All rights and remedies under this Master License are cumulative, except as otherwise 
provided. 
 
18. LICENSEE’S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS 
 
To the maximum extent permitted by applicable Laws, Licensee, for itself and its 
successors and assigns, shall indemnify, defend, protect and hold the City, its Agents, 
Invitees and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns (the 
“Indemnified Parties”), harmless from and against any and all liabilities, losses, costs, 
claims, judgments, settlements, damages, liens, fines, penalties and expenses, whether 
direct or indirect, (each, a “Claim”) incurred in connection with or arising in whole or in 
part from: (1) death or personal injury to any person or property damage or other loss 
that occurred on or about the License Area or arises in connection with Licensee’s or its 
Agents’ or Invitees’ authorized or unauthorized uses on or about the License Area; (2) 
any failure or refusal by Licensee to observe or perform any term, covenant or condition 
in this Master License to be observed or performed on Licensee’s part; (3) Licensee’s or 
its Agents’ or Invitees’ uses or occupancy, or manner of use or occupancy, of the 
License Area; (4) any exposure to RF emissions or EMFs from Licensee’s Equipment or 
uses on or about the License Area; (5) the License Area condition or any occurrence on 
or about the License Area attributable to the events described in clauses (1), (2), (3) or 
(4) in this Section 18; or (6) any act, omission or negligence of Licensee, its Agents or 
Invitees in, on or about the License Area; all whether any negligence may be attributed 
to the Indemnified Parties or not, and all whether liability without fault is imposed or 
sought to be imposed on the Indemnified Parties, but except to the extent that such 
Claim(s) arise from the Indemnified Parties’ willful misconduct or gross negligence. 
Licensee’s obligations under this Section 18 includes, without limitation, reasonable 
fees, costs and expenses for attorneys, consultants and experts, and the City’s costs to 



 

 35 

investigate any Claim. Licensee specifically acknowledges and agrees that it has an 
immediate and independent obligation to defend the Indemnified Parties from any Claim 
that actually or potentially falls within this Section 18, even when the allegations in such 
Claim are groundless, fraudulent or false, and which obligation arises at the time the 
Indemnified Parties tender such Claim to Licensee and continues at all times until such 
Claim’s final resolution. Licensee’s obligations under this Section 18 will survive the 
expiration or termination of this Master License. 
 
19. INSURANCE 
 

19.1. Licensee’s Insurance 
 
As a condition to issuance of any Pole License, Licensee must provide proof of 
compliance with the insurance requirements in this Section except to the extent the 
City’s Risk Manager agrees otherwise.  
 

19.1.1. Required Coverages 
 
Licensee shall procure and keep in effect at all times during the Term, at Licensee’s 
cost, insurance in the following amounts and coverages: (1) Commercial General 
Liability insurance (including premises operations; explosion, collapse and underground 
hazard; broad form property damage; products/completed operations; contractual 
liability; independent contractors; personal injury) with limits of at least $2 million 
combined single limit for each occurrence and $4 million aggregate; (2) Worker’s 
Compensation Insurance per California statutory limits with Employer’s Liability Limits 
not less than $1 million each accident or disease; (3) Commercial Automobile Liability 
Insurance with limit not less than $2 million each occurrence combined single limit for 
bodily injury and property damage, including owned and non-owned and hired vehicles. 
If Licensee maintains higher limits than the minimums shown above, the City requires 
and shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits maintained by Licensee. Any 
available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and 
coverage shall be available to the City. 
 

19.1.2. Required Endorsements 
 
Commercial General Liability Insurance and Commercial Automotive Liability Insurance 
policies must contain the following endorsements: (1) name the City, its officers, agents, 
employees and volunteers as additional insureds; (2) that such policies are primary 
insurance to any other insurance available to the additional insureds with respect to any 
Claims that arise in connection with this Master License; (3) that such insurance applied 
separately to each insured against whom a Claim is made or brought; (4) that such 
policies provide for the severability of interests and that an act or omission of one of the 
named insureds that would void or otherwise reduce coverage shall not void or 
otherwise reduce coverage as to any other named insured; and (5) that such policies 
shall afford coverage for all Claims based on acts, omissions, injury or damage that 
occurred or arose (or the onset occurred or arose) in whole or in part during the policy 



 

 36 

period. Additional Insured Endorsement shall not exclude products/completed 
operations. 
 

19.1.3. Cancellation Notices 
 
All insurance policies required to be maintained by Licensee under this Master License 
shall be endorsed to provide written notice of cancellation for any reason, including 
without limitation intent not to renew or reduce coverage to both Licensee and the City. 
In the event that Licensee receives a notice of intent to cancel or notice of cancellation 
for any coverage required under this Master License, Licensee shall forward such notice 
to the City within one business day and promptly take action to prevent cancellation, 
reinstate cancelled coverage or obtain coverage from a different insurer qualified under 
Section 19.1.7. 
 

19.1.4. Claims-Made Policies 
 
In the event that any required insurance under this Master License is provided under a 
claims-made form, Licensee shall continuously maintain such coverage throughout the 
Term and, without lapse, for three years after this Master License expires or terminates, 
to the effect that, should any event during the Term give rise to a Claim brought after 
this Master License expires or terminates, such Claims will be covered under Licensee’s 
claims-made policies. 
 

19.1.5. General Aggregate Limit 
 
The general aggregate limit for any required insurance under this Master License must 
be double the per-occurrence or Claims limits specified in Section 19.1 when coverage 
includes a general annual aggregate limit or provides that Claims investigation or legal 
defense costs will be included in such general annual aggregate limit. 
 

19.1.6. Certificates 
 
On or before the Effective Date, Licensee shall deliver to the City all insurance 
certificates and additional insured endorsements from Licensee’s insurance providers in 
a form satisfactory to the City that evidences all the required coverages under this 
Master License, together with complete copies of all policies. In addition, Licensee shall 
promptly deliver to the City all certificates and policies after Licensee receives a request 
from the City. 
 

19.1.7. Insurer Qualifications 
 
Licensee’s insurance providers must be licensed to do business in California and must 
meet or exceed an A.M. Best’s Key Rating A-VII or its equivalent. 
 

19.1.8. Effective Dates 
 



 

 37 

The City shall not authorize Licensee to install any Equipment on any Pole until and 
unless all insurance coverages required to be carried by Licensee under this Master 
License have been obtained. Licensee shall ensure that all insurance coverages 
required to be carried by Licensee under this Master License remain in effect at all time 
until all Equipment has been removed from the License Area. The requirements in this 
Section 19.1.8 (Effective Dates) shall survive the expiration or termination of this Master 
License. 
 

19.1.9. Licensee’s Self-Insurance Alternative 
 
Licensee shall not be permitted to meet its insurance obligations under this Master 
License through self-insurance without prior written consent from the City, which the 
City may withhold in its sole discretion for any or no reason. In the event that the City 
consents to allow Licensee to self-insure as an alternative insurance program, such 
consent will not be deemed an amendment or implied waiver to any other requirement 
in this Master License. Any amendment to any insurance requirement must be in a 
separate written agreement signed by both parties. 
 

19.1.10.  No Limitation on Indemnification Obligations 
 
Licensee’s insurance obligations under this Section 19 in no way relieves or decreases 
Licensee’s liability under Section 18 (Licensee’s Indemnification Obligations) or any 
other provision in this Master License. 
 

19.1.11. Right to Terminate 
 
The City may elect, in its sole and absolute discretion, to terminate this Master License 
on written notice to Licensee if Licensee allows any required insurance coverage to 
lapse and does not reinstate the lapsed insurance coverage within three days after 
Licensee receives such written notice. 
 

19.2. City’s Insurance 
 
Licensee acknowledges that the City self-insures against casualty, property damage 
and public liability risks. The City agrees to maintain an adequate program of self-
insurance for public liability risks during the Term and will not be required to carry any 
third party insurance with respect to the License Area or otherwise. 
 

19.3. Subrogation Waiver 
 
The City and Licensee each hereby waives any right of recovery against the other 
party for any loss or damage sustained by such other party with respect to the License 
Area or any portion thereof or the contents of the same or any operation therein, 
whether or not such loss is caused by the fault or negligence of such other party, to the 
extent such loss or damage is covered by insurance obtained by the waiving party 
under this Master License or is actually covered by insurance obtained by the waiving 



 

 38 

party. Each waiving party agrees to cause its insurers to issue appropriate waiver of 
subrogation rights endorsements to all required policies relating to the License Area, but 
the failure to obtain any such endorsement will not affect the waivers in this Section. 
 

19.4. Contractors’ Bonds and Insurance 
 
Licensee shall require its contractors that install, maintain, repair, replace or otherwise 
perform any work on or about the License Area: (1) to provide bonds to guarantee the 
performance of the work and the payment of subcontractors and suppliers for any 
installation of Equipment, and (2) to have and maintain insurance of the same coverage 
and amounts as required of Licensee.  The City shall be named an additional insured 
and the same required endorsements and cancellation notices will be required. 
 
20. LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY’S LIABILITY 
 

20.1. General Limitations on the City’s Liability 
 
The City is not responsible or liable to Licensee for, and Licensee hereby waives all 
Claims against the City and its Agents and releases the City and its Agents from, all 
Claims from any cause (except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of the City or its Agents), including acts or omissions of persons using the 
sidewalk or street adjoining or adjacent to or connected with the License Area; utility 
interruption; theft; burst, stopped or leaking water, gas, sewer or steam pipes; or gas, 
fire, oil, or electricity in, flood, or vehicle collision on or about the License Area or other 
City Property. 
 

20.2. Consequential Damages 
 
Licensee expressly acknowledges and agrees that the License Fees and Additional 
Fees payable under this Master License do not take into account any potential liability of 
the City for consequential or incidental damages. The City would not be willing to enter 
into this Master License or issue any Pole Licenses in the absence of a complete waiver 
of liability, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, for consequential or incidental 
damages due to the acts or omissions of the City or its Agents, and Licensee expressly 
assumes the risk with respect thereto. Accordingly, without limiting any Indemnification 
obligations of Licensee or other waivers contained in this Master License and as a 
material part of the consideration for this Master License, the parties agree that neither 
party will be liable to the other in connection with this Master License or any Pole 
License for any consequential, special, indirect or incidental or punitive damages 
(including lost revenues, loss of equipment, interference, interruption or loss of service, 
or loss of data, inconvenience, disturbance, lost business, nuisance or other damages) 
for any cause of action, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, even if the party was or 
should have been aware of the possibility of these damages, whether under theory of 
contract, tort (including negligence), strict liability or otherwise. 
 



 

 39 

20.3. No Relocation Assistance 
 
This Master License creates no right in Licensee to receive any relocation assistance or 
payment for any reason under the California Relocation Assistance Law (Cal. Gov. 
Code §§ 7260 et seq.), the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property 
Acquisition Policies Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 4601 et seq.) or similar Law upon any termination 
of occupancy except as provided in Section 15 (Condemnation). To the extent that any 
relocation law may apply, Licensee waives, releases and relinquishes forever any and 
all Claims that it may have against the City for any compensation from the City except 
as specifically provided in this Master License upon termination of its occupancy of all or 
any part of the License Area. 
 

20.4. Non-Liability for City Officials, Employees and Agents 
 
No elective or appointive board, agency, member, officer, employee or other Agent 
of the City will be personally liable to Licensee, its successors and 
assigns, in the event of any default or breach by the City or for any amount which may 
become due to Licensee, its successors and assigns, or for any obligation of the City 
under this Master License. 
 

20.5. Licensee’s Waiver 
 
Licensee acknowledges the City’s rights under this Section and waives 
any Claims arising from the exercise of its rights. In connection with the preceding 
sentence and releases and waivers under Section 8.1 (City’s Access to License Areas), 
Section 9.1.3 (No Right to Repair), Section 13.1 (Compliance with Current and Future 
Laws), Section 14.1.1 (Election to Repair or Replace Damaged Pole), Section 15.1.3 
(No Statutory Right to Terminate), Section 19.3 (Subrogation Waiver), Section 20.1 
(General Limitations on City’s Liability), Section 20.2 (Consequential Damages), Section 
20.3 (No Relocation Assistance), Section 23.3 (Application) and any other waiver by 
Licensee under this Master License, Licensee acknowledges that it is familiar with 
section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads: 
 

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE 
CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR 
HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF 
KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS 
OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR. 

 
Licensee realizes and acknowledges that the waivers and releases contained in this 
Master License include all known and unknown, disclosed and undisclosed, and 
anticipated and unanticipated Claims. Licensee affirms that it has agreed to enter into 
this Master License in light of this realization and, being fully aware of this situation, it 
nevertheless intends to waive the benefit of California Civil Code section 1542 and any 
similar Law. The releases and waivers contained in this Master License will survive its 
expiration or earlier termination. 



 

 40 

 
21. RECORDS 
 

21.1. Accounting Records 
 
Licensee shall maintain throughout the Term and for at least four years after this Master 
Agreement expires or terminates the following records in physical format at Licensee’s 
place of business within the State of California and in an electronic format: (1) site 
identification and location for all Poles under active Pole Licenses; (2) the amount and 
payment date for all License Fees paid to the City pursuant to this Master License; (3) 
all Regulatory Approvals issued in connection with the Equipment on Poles; and (4) all 
correspondence with the City in connection with any matter covered under this Master 
License. The City, or its designee, will have the right to inspect and audit Licensee’s 
records at Licensee’s place of business during regular business hours on 10 days’ 
notice to Licensee. 
 

21.2. Estoppel Certificates 
 
Licensee, at any time and from time-to-time on not less than 30 days’ notice from the 
City, shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the City or its designee, a certificate of 
Licensee stating: (a) that Licensee has accepted the License Area (or, if Licensee has 
not done so, that Licensee has not accepted all or any part of the License Area and 
specifying the applicable portions of the License Area and reasons for non-acceptance); 
(b) the Commencement Dates of any Pole Licenses then in effect; (c) the Effective Date 
and Expiration Date of this Master License; (d) that this Master License and Pole 
Licenses are unmodified and in full force and effect or, if modified, the manner in which 
they are modified; (e) whether any defenses then exist against the enforcement of any 
of Licensee’s obligations under this Master License (and if so, specifying the same); (f) 
whether any of the City’s obligations under this Master License are outstanding (and if 
so, identifying any City obligations that Licensee believes that the City has failed to 
meet); (g) the dates, if any, to which the License Fees and Additional Fees have been 
paid; and (h) any other information that may be reasonably required by any such 
persons. 
 
22. RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 
At all times throughout the Term, Licensee shall faithfully comply with any and all 
reasonable rules, regulations and instructions that the City may from time-to-time 
establish and/or amend with respect to the License Area. 
 
23. SURETY BOND 
 

23.1. Amount 
 
At the time Licensee tenders to the City the first Acknowledgement Letter, Licensee 
must also furnish to the City a bond in the amount of Seventy Five Thousand and 



 

 41 

00/100 Dollars ($75,000.00) (the “Surety Bond”) as security to provide recourse for the 
City (at its option) in the event of a default by Licensee in the performance of any 
obligations under this Master License. 
 

23.2. Replenishment of Surety Bond 
 
In the event that the City applies or uses the Surety Bond in whole or in part to cure any 
default by Licensee under this Master License or any Pole License, Licensee shall 
replenish the Surety Bond in the amount and on the date specified in a written notice to 
Licensee. The City may, in the City’s reasonable judgment, require Licensee to increase 
the Surety Bond amount from time-to-time when the City determines that Licensee’s 
past acts or omissions in connection with the License Area warrants additional security. 
 

23.3. Application 
 
Licensee agrees that the City may use the Surety Bond in whole or in part to remedy 
any damage to the License Area caused by Licensee, its Agents or Invitees or any 
failure by Licensee to perform any term, covenant or condition in this Master License or 
any Pole License (including without limitation any failure to pay any License Fee or 
other sums due under this Master License or any Pole License either before or after any 
default). In the event that the City uses the Surety Bond in whole or in part, the City will 
not be deemed to have waived any rights under this Master License, or legal or 
equitable rights whatsoever. Licensee expressly waives any rights it may have under 
California Civil Code section 1950.7 or any similar Law and agrees that the City may 
retain from the Surety Bond any portion reasonably necessary to compensate the City 
for any foreseeable or unforeseeable loss or damage caused by Licensee’s, its Agents’ 
or Invitee’s acts or omissions. 
 
 
24. SURRENDER OF LICENSE AREA 
 

24.1. Surrender 
 
No later than 30 days after the Expiration Date or other termination of this Master 
License or any Pole License, Licensee shall peaceably remove its Equipment from the 
applicable portion of the License Area and surrender it to the City in good order and 
condition, normal wear and tear excepted, free of debris and hazards, and free and 
clear of all liens and encumbrances. Immediately before the Expiration Date or other 
termination of this Master License, Licensee shall remove all of Licensee's Equipment 
except for any fiber optic cable to which the City will obtain title under Section 7.8 (Title 
to Licensee’s Equipment and Other Improvements) and repair any damage resulting 
from the removal. Licensee’s obligations under this Section 24.1 will survive the 
Expiration Date or other termination of this Master License. 
 

24.2. Abandonment 
 



 

 42 

At its option, the City may deem any items of Licensee’s Equipment that remain on a 
City Pole or otherwise on the License Area or other City Property more than 30 days 
after the Expiration Date of this Master License to be abandoned and in such case the 
City may dispose of the abandoned Equipment in any lawful manner after expiration of 
a 60-day period initiated by the City’s notice to Licensee to remove the Equipment. 
Licensee agrees that California Civil Code sections 1980 et seq. and similar provisions 
of the Civil Code addressing abandoned property by residential or commercial tenants 
do not apply to any abandoned Equipment. 
 

24.3. Holding Over 
 
Any holding over after the Expiration Date with the express consent of the City will be 
construed to automatically extend the Term of this Master License for a period of one 
License Year at a License Fee equal to 150% of the License Fee in effect immediately 
before the Expiration Date, and the Master License otherwise will be on its express 
terms and conditions. Any holding over without the City’s consent will be a default by 
Licensee and entitle the City to exercise any or all of its remedies, even if the City elects 
to accept one or more payments of License Fees, Additional Fees or other amounts 
payable to the City from Licensee after the Expiration Date. 
 
25. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 

25.1. Hazardous Materials in License Area 
 
Licensee covenants and agrees that neither Licensee nor any of its Agents or Invitees 
shall cause or permit any Hazardous Material to be brought upon, kept, used, stored, 
generated, disposed of or Released in, on, under or about the License Area or any 
other part of City Property, or transported to or from any City Property in violation of 
Environmental Laws, except that Licensee may use small quantities of Hazardous 
Materials as needed for routine operation, cleaning and maintenance of Licensee’s 
Equipment that are customarily used for routine operation, cleaning and maintenance of 
such equipment and so long as all such Hazardous Materials are contained, handled 
and used in compliance with Environmental Laws. Licensee shall immediately notify the 
City if and when Licensee learns or has reason to believe any Release of Hazardous 
Material has occurred in, on, under or about the License Area or other City Property. 
 

25.2. Licensee’s Environmental Indemnity 
 
If Licensee breaches any of its obligations contained in this Section, or if any act, 
omission, or negligence of Licensee or any of its Agents or Invitees results in any 
contamination of the License Area or other City Property, or in a Release of Hazardous 
Material from, on, about, in or beneath any part of the License Area or other City 
Property, or the violation of any Environmental Law, then Licensee, on behalf of itself 
and its successors and assigns, shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, 
including its Agents, and their respective successors and assigns from and against any 
and all Claims (including damages for decrease in value of the License Area or other 



 

 43 

City Property, the loss or restriction of the use of usable space in the License Area or 
other City Property and sums paid in settlement of Claims, attorneys’ fees, consultants’ 
fees, and experts’ fees and related costs) arising during or after the Term of this Master 
License relating to such Release or violation of Environmental Laws; provided, however, 
Licensee shall not be liable for any Claims to the extent such Release was caused by 
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the City or its Agents. Licensee’s 
Indemnification obligation includes costs incurred in connection with any activities 
required to Investigate and Remediate any Hazardous Material brought onto the 
License Area or other City Property by Licensee or any of its Agents or Invitees and to 
restore the License Area or other City Property to its condition prior to Licensee’s 
introduction of such Hazardous Material or to correct any violation of Environmental 
Laws. Licensee specifically acknowledges and agrees that it has an immediate and 
independent obligation to defend the City and the other Indemnified Parties from any 
Claim that actually or potentially falls within this Indemnity provision even if the 
allegations supporting the Claim are or may be groundless, fraudulent, or false, which 
obligation arises at the time such Claim is tendered to Licensee by the Indemnified 
Party and continues until the Claim is finally resolved. Without limiting the foregoing, if 
Licensee or any of its Agents or Invitees causes the Release of any Hazardous Material 
on, about, in, or beneath the License Area or other City Property, then in any such event 
Licensee shall, immediately, at no expense to any Indemnified Party, take any and all 
necessary actions to return the License Area or other City Property, as applicable, to 
the condition existing prior to the Release of any such Hazardous Materials on the 
License Area or other City Property or otherwise abate the Release in accordance with 
all Environmental Laws, except to the extent such Release was caused by the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of the City or its Agents. Licensee shall afford the City a 
full opportunity to participate in any discussions with Regulatory Agencies regarding any 
settlement agreement, cleanup or abatement agreement, consent decree or other 
compromise or proceeding involving Hazardous Material. 
 
26. TERMINATION 
 

26.1. Termination for Failure to Obtain Regulatory Approvals 
 
In the event that Licensee cannot obtain all Regulatory Approvals required for any Pole 
License after six months from the subject Pole License effective date, then either the 
City or Licensee may terminate that Pole License on 60 days’ notice to the other party 
delivered within 10 days after said six-month period elapses. The parties agree that the 
Commencement Date will be deemed to have not occurred for any Pole License 
terminated under this section, and Licensee will have no obligation to pay the applicable 
License Fee for that Pole License. 
 

26.2. Licensee’s Termination Rights 
 

26.2.1. Master License Termination Rights 
 



 

 44 

Licensee may, in Licensee’s sole discretion, terminate this Master License on five (5) 
year’s written notice to the City at any time after the Effective Date. Termination of this 
Master License in whole will terminate all Pole Licenses issued under it automatically. 
 

26.2.2. Pole License Termination Rights 
 
Licensee may, in Licensee’s sole discretion, terminate any Pole License on 90 days’ 
written notice to the City at any time after 12 months from the subject Pole License 
Commencement Date so long as Licensee is not in default with respect to the subject 
Pole License. 
 

26.2.3. Termination Rights after Pole Replacement 
 
In the event that the City exercises its absolute right to replace any Pole, the City shall 
make a reasonable effort to provide Licensee with at least 60 days’ notice. The City’s 
failure to provide at least 60 days’ notice prior to any Pole replacement shall not affect 
the City’s rights under this Master License. Within 90 days after Licensee receives 
notice from the City, Licensee may elect to either (1) install Licensee’s Equipment on 
the replacement Pole at Licensee’s sole cost and expense or (2) terminate the 
applicable Pole License as to the replacement Pole. 
 

26.3. City’s Absolute Right to Terminate Pole Licenses 
 
The City has the absolute right to terminate any or all Pole Licenses on 30 days’ written 
notice to Licensee when the City determines, in the City’s sole discretion, that 
Licensee’s continued use of the License Area materially and adversely affects or 
threatens public health and safety, constitutes a nuisance, materially interferes with the 
City’s municipal functions or requires the City to maintain a Pole no longer necessary for 
the City’s purposes. 
 

26.4. Licensee’s Rights after Termination 
 
In the event that the City terminates any Pole License for reasons unrelated to 
Licensee’s failure to perform its obligations under this Master License, the City shall 
refund any pre-paid Licensee Fee on a pro-rata basis, and Licensee shall not have any 
further liability for the License Fee. In addition, the City shall prioritize Licensee’s Pole 
License Application for any Pole License to replace the terminated Pole License; 
provided, however, that (1) the City shall prioritize only as many Pole License 
Applications as Pole Licenses terminated by the City and (2) the City’s prioritization will 
not affect Licensee’s obligations under this Master License. 
 
27. INTERFERENCE 
 

27.1.  Licensee’s Obligation Not to Cause Interference 
 



 

 45 

Licensee will not operate or maintain its Equipment in a manner that interferes with or 
impairs other communication (radio, telephone and other transmission or reception) or 
computer equipment lawfully used by any person, including the City or any of its Agents. 
Such interference will be an event of default under this Master License by Licensee, and 
upon notice from the City, Licensee shall be responsible for eliminating such 
interference promptly and at no cost to the City. Licensee will be required to use its best 
efforts to remedy and cure such interference with, or impairment of, City operations. If 
Licensee does not cure the default promptly, the parties acknowledge that continuing 
interference may cause irreparable injury and, therefore, the City will have the right to 
bring an action against Licensee to enjoin such interference or to terminate all Pole 
Licenses where the Equipment is causing interference or impairment, at the City’s 
election. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Master License, City agrees that 
City will use reasonable efforts to allow City Invitees to install only such equipment that 
is of the type and frequency which will not cause interference to the Equipment actually 
installed by Licensee. This limitation does not apply to equipment installed by the City 
for the City’s use in carrying out its municipal functions. In the event that Licensee 
discovers any such interference caused by a City Invitee, the City shall reasonably 
cooperate with Licensee to identify the source and mitigate the interference; provided, 
however, that the City’s cooperation shall not obligate the City to change, alter or power 
off any City-owned or controlled equipment used for public health and safety or other 
municipal functions. The parties acknowledge that the Licensee possesses technical 
expertise that puts Licensee in the best position to identify and mitigate interference 
sources, and Licensee shall be primarily responsible for identification and mitigation 
work. 
 

27.2. Impairment Caused by Change in City Use 
 
Subject to City’s obligations under Section 27.1 of this Master License, if any change in 
the nature of the City’s use of the License Area during the Term results in measurable 
material adverse impairment to Licensee’s normal operation of its Equipment making it 
necessary to alter the Equipment to mitigate the adverse effect, Licensee shall notify the 
City and provide evidence of the claimed impairment. Upon receipt of such notice, the 
City will have the right to make its own reasonable determination and, if it agrees with 
Licensee, investigate whether it can reasonably and economically mitigate that 
interference. The City will provide notice to Licensee of the City’s determination within 
15 days of receiving Licensee’s notice hereunder.  
 
If the City determines in its sole discretion that mitigation is feasible and can be 
achieved for a reasonable cost in the City’s reasonable judgment, the City’s notice will 
specify when the City will mitigate the adverse effect. The City’s mitigation will effect a 
cure, and the City will not be liable to Licensee in any other way or be required to take 
any other measures with respect to the Equipment.  
 
If the City determines in its sole discretion that mitigation is not feasible or cannot be 
achieved for a reasonable cost in the City’s reasonable judgment, Licensee may elect 
either to: (1) terminate the Pole License as to the affected City Pole and receive a 



 

 46 

ratable reduction in the License Fee; or (2) take steps itself at its own cost to mitigate 
the adverse effect and continue to operate the Equipment on the City Pole, and receive 
from the City a waiver of the License Fee for the first six months of the following License 
Year under the affected Pole License to offset the cost of mitigation.  
 
Licensee agrees that the City’s temporary and partial abatement or waiver of the 
License Fee under this Section 27.2 will be the only compensation due to Licensee for 
costs incurred or otherwise arising from the adverse effect as liquidated damages fully 
compensating Licensee for all Claims that may arise or be related to the adverse 
effects. Under no circumstances may the City be required to alter its operations at the 
identified City Pole or provide a replacement City Pole to Licensee. 
 

27.3. Impairment Caused by City Access 
 
Licensee agrees that it will not be entitled to any abatement of License Fees if the City 
exercises its rights of access under Section 8.1 (City Access to License Area) unless 
the City’s activities cause Licensee to be unable to operate Equipment on the License 
Area for its permitted use for a period of more than 10 days, in which case, subject to 
proof, License Fees will be abated ratably for the entire period that Licensee is unable 
to operate any Equipment on any affected City Pole. 
 
28. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

28.1. Notices 
 
Except as may be specifically provided otherwise in this Master License, all notices, 
demands or other correspondence required to be given under this Master License must 
written and delivered through (1) an established national courier service that maintains 
delivery records and confirmations; (2) hand delivery; or (3) certified or registered U.S. 
Mail with prepaid postage and return receipt requested, and addressed as follows: 
 

TO CITY: _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 Telephone: [insert] 
 Facsimile: [insert] 
 Email: [insert] 
 

with a copy to: _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 Telephone: [insert] 
 Facsimile: [insert] 
 Email: [insert] 



 

 47 

 
TO LICENSEE: _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 Telephone: [insert] 
 Facsimile: [insert] 
 Email: [insert] 

 
with a copy to: _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 _____________________________ 
 Telephone: [insert] 
 Facsimile: [insert] 
 Email: [insert] 

 
All notices under this Master License will be deemed to have been delivered: (i) five 
days after deposit if delivered by first class mail; (ii) two days after deposit if delivered 
by certified mail; (iii) the date delivery is made by personal delivery or overnight delivery; 
or (iv) the date an attempt to make delivery fails because a party has failed to provide 
notice of a change of address or refuses to accept delivery. Telephone, facsimile and 
email information are provided for convenience and for couriers who may require such 
information, and any notice given solely through electronic means will not be deemed to 
be effective notice. Any copies required to be given constitute an administrative step 
and not actual notice. The parties may change the notice addresses above from time-to-
time through written notice to the addresses above or the then-current notice address. 
 

28.2. Waiver; No Implied Waivers 
 
No failure by either party to insist upon the strict performance of any obligation of the 
other under this Master License or to exercise any right, power or remedy arising out of 
a breach thereof, irrespective of the length of time for which such failure continues, will 
constitute a waiver of such breach. No acceptance by the City or any its Agent of full or 
partial payment of License Fees or Additional Fees during the continuance of any such 
breach will constitute a waiver of such breach or of the City’s right to demand material 
compliance with such term, covenant or condition, or operate as a waiver of any 
requirement of this Master License. No express waiver by either party of any default or 
the performance of any provision hereof will affect any other default or performance, or 
cover any other period of time, other than the default, performance or period of time 
specified in such express waiver. One or more waivers of a default or the performance 
of any provision hereof by either party will not be deemed to be a waiver of a 
subsequent default or performance. The City’s consent given in any instance under the 
terms of this Master License will not relieve Licensee of any obligation to secure the 
City’s consent in any other or future instance under the terms of this Master License. 
 



 

 48 

28.3. Amendments 
 
No part of this Master License (including all Pole Licenses) may be changed, waived, 
discharged or terminated orally, nor may any breach thereof be waived, altered or 
modified, except by a written instrument signed by both parties. 
 

28.4. Interpretation 
 
The following rules of interpretation apply to this Master License. 
 

28.4.1. General 
 
Whenever required by the context, the singular includes the plural and vice versa; the 
masculine gender includes the feminine or neuter genders and vice versa; and defined 
terms encompass all correlating forms of the terms (e.g., the definition of “indemnify” 
applies to “indemnity,” “indemnification,” etc.). 
 

28.4.2. Multi-party License 
 
In the event that the City provides consent, which the City may withhold for any or no 
reason, to enter into this Master License with more than one Licensee, the obligations 
and liabilities under this Master License imposed on Licensee will be joint and several 
among them. 
 

28.4.3.  Captions 
 
The captions preceding the sections of this Master License and in the table of contents 
have been inserted for convenience of reference and such captions in no way define or 
limit the scope or intent of any provision of this Master License. 
 

28.4.4. City Actions 
 
All approvals, consents or other determinations permitted or required by the City under 
this Master License will be made by or through the Public Works Director/City Engineer 
or his or her designee, unless otherwise provided in this Master License or by the City 
Charter, Municipal Code or any City ordinance. 
 

28.4.5. Words of Inclusion 
 
The use of the term “including,” “such as,” or words of similar import when following any 
general or specific term, statement or matter may not be construed to limit the term, 
statement or matter to the stated terms, statements or matters, whether or not language 
of non-limitation, such as “including, but not limited to” and “including without limitation” 
are used. Rather, the stated term, statement or matter will be interpreted to refer to all 
other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest scope of the term, 
statement or matter. 



 

 49 

 
28.4.6. Laws 

 
References to all “Laws,” including specific statutes, relating to the rights and 
obligations of either party mean the Laws in effect on the Effective Date and as they are 
amended, replaced, supplemented, clarified, corrected or superseded at any time while 
any obligations under this Master License or any Pole License are outstanding, whether 
or not foreseen or contemplated by the parties. 
 

28.5. Successors and Assigns 
 
The terms, covenants and conditions contained in this Master License bind and inure to 
the benefit of the City and Licensee and, except as otherwise provided herein, their 
successors and assigns. 
 

28.6. Brokers 
 
Neither party has had any contact or dealings regarding the license of the License Area, 
or any communication in connection therewith, through any licensed real estate broker 
or other person who could claim a right to a commission or finder’s fee in connection 
with the license contemplated herein (“Broker”), whose commission, if any is due, is to 
be paid pursuant to a separate written agreement between such Broker and the party 
through which such Broker contracted. In the event that any Broker perfects a claim for 
a commission or finder’s fee based upon any such contact, dealings or communication, 
Licensee shall indemnify the City from all Claims brought by the Broker. This Section 
will survive expiration or earlier termination of this Master License. 
 

28.7. Severability 
 
If any provision of this Master License or the application thereof to any person, entity or 
circumstance is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Master License, or the 
application of such provision to persons, entities or circumstances other than those as 
to which it is invalid or unenforceable, will not be affected thereby, and each provision of 
this Master License will be valid and be enforced to the full extent permitted by Law, 
except to the extent that enforcement of this Master License without the invalidated 
provision would be unreasonable or inequitable under all the circumstances or would 
frustrate a fundamental purpose of this Master License. 
 

28.8. Governing Law; Venue 
 
This Master License must be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the 
State of California and the City Charter, without regard to the principles of conflicts of 
law. This Master License is made, entered and will be performed in the City of 
Lakewood, County of Los Angeles, State of California. Any action concerning this 
Master License must be brought and heard in Superior Court for the County of Los 
Angeles. 



 

 50 

 
28.9. Time for Performance 

 
Provisions in this Master License relating to number of days mean calendar days, 
unless otherwise specified. “Business day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday 
or a bank or City holiday. If the last day of any period to give notice, reply to a notice, or 
to undertake any other action occurs on a day that is not a business day, then the last 
day for undertaking the action or giving or replying to the notice will be the next 
succeeding business day. Time is of the essence with respect to all provisions of this 
Master License in which a definite time for performance is specified. 
 

28.10. Survival 
 
Expiration or earlier termination of this Master License will not affect the right of either 
party to enforce any and all Indemnities and representations and warranties given or 
made to the other party under this Master License, or any provision of this Master 
License that expressly survives termination. 
 

28.11. Recording 
 
Licensee acknowledges and agrees that Licensee shall not have the right to record this 
Master License, any Pole License or any memorandum or short form of any of them in 
the Official Records of the County of Los Angeles. 
 

28.12. Counterparts 
 
This Master License may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will 
be deemed an original, but all of which taken together will be one and the same 
instrument. 
 

28.13. Approval Authority 
 
Each person signing this Master License and any Pole License on behalf of the City and 
Licensee, respectively, warrants and represents that: (i) he or she has the full right, 
power and capacity to act on behalf of the City and Licensee, respectively, and has the 
authority to bind the City and Licensee, respectively, to the performance of its 
obligations under those agreements without the subsequent approval or consent of any 
other person or entity; (ii) each of the City and Licensee, respectively, is a duly 
authorized and existing entity; (iii) Licensee is qualified to do business in California; and 
(iv) each of the City and Licensee, respectively, has full right and authority to enter into 
this Master License and Pole Licenses. Upon the City’s request, Licensee shall provide 
the City with evidence reasonably satisfactory to the City confirming the representations 
and warranties above. 
 

28.14. No Third-Party Beneficiaries 
 



 

 51 

Neither this Master License nor any Pole License is intended to (and shall not be 
construed to) give any third party, which includes without limitation Licensee’s 
customers or any other third-party beneficiaries, any right, title or interest in this Master 
License, any Pole License or the real or personal property(ies) that may be affected by 
the same. 

 
[END OF MASTER LICENSE – SIGNATURES APPEAR ON NEXT PAGE] 



 

 52 

The City and Licensee executed this Master License as of the date last written below: 
 
THE CITY: LICENSEE: 
 
City of Lakewood, [insert licensee name], 
a California municipal corporation a [insert licensee’s corporate form] 
 
By:  __________________________ By:  __________________________ 
 
Its: City Manager Its: __________________________ 
 
Date: __________________________ Date: __________________________ 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
By: __________________________ 
 [name] 
 City Attorney 
 
Date: __________________________ 
 
 
APPROVED BY CITY COUNCIL  
RESOLUTION No. [insert] 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By: __________________________ 
 [name] 
 City Clerk 
 
Date: __________________________ 
 
 
 

[END OF SIGNATURE – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES APPEAR ON NEXT PAGE] 
 



 

  

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF POLE LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 

POLE LICENSE NO. [INSERT NUMBER IN CONSECUTIVE ORDER] 
 

Pursuant to that certain Master License between the City of Lakewood, a California 
chartered municipal corporation (the “City”) and [insert licensee’s corporate form], a 
[insert licensee’s corporate form] (“Licensee”), Licensee submits to the City two partially 
executed counterparts of this Pole License, together with all the following materials 
listed below, as its Pole License Application in accordance with Section 6 under the 
Master License: 
 

1. Exhibit A-1, which designates all Pole Locations that Licensee seeks to be 
included in the License Area under this Pole License; 

 
2. Exhibit A-2, which includes complete, detailed and final plans and specifications 

for all Licensee’s Equipment to be installed in the License Area, subject to 
Regulatory Approvals; 

 
3. a Pole License Processing Fee equal to $500.00; 

 
4. an RF Compliance Report, if not previously provided; 

 
Licensee acknowledges that: (1) this Pole License will not be effective until the City 
returns a fully executed copy to Licensee; (2) the City may require Licensee to 
supplement the Administrative Fee on conditions specified in Section 4.3 under the 
Master License; (3) Licensee will not have the right to access or install Equipment on 
the License Area until after Licensee has: (a) submitted a complete Acknowledgment 
Letter to the City with all information and funds required, which includes the applicable 
License Fee specified in Schedule A-4; (b) submitted insurance information to the City 
as specified in Exhibit A-3; and (c) the City has provided notice to proceed by returning 
to Licensee a countersigned copy of the Acknowledgment Letter. 
 
This Pole License is executed and effective on the last date written below and, upon full 
execution will be the City’s authorization for the City to begin its review of the Pole 
Locations and plans and specifications proposed in this Pole License application. 
 
THE CITY: LICENSEE: 
 
City of Lakewood, [insert licensee name], 
a California municipal corporation a [insert licensee’s corporate form] 
 
By:  __________________________ By:  __________________________ 
 
Its: __________________________ Its: __________________________ 



 

  

 
Date: __________________________ Date: __________________________



 

  

EXHIBIT A-1 
 

POLE LOCATIONS / LICENSE AREA 
 

Pole License No. ___ 
 

[Licensee to list all proposed Pole Locations requested in this Pole License Application] 
 



 

  

EXHIBIT A-2 
 

LICENSEE’S PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

Pole License No. ___ 
 

[Licensee to attach all plans and specifications for all Equipment proposed to be 
installed at all proposed Pole Locations] 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT A-3 
 

FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT LETTER 
 

[Licensee to complete and submit with Pole License Application] 
 
[insert date] 
 
[insert addressee information] 
 
 RE: Pole License No. ___ 
 
Dear City Manager: 
 
This letter will confirm the following: (1) that Licensee has obtained all the Regulatory 
Approvals required for the Permitted Use under this Pole License, copies of which are 
attached to this letter, as specified below; and (2) the Commencement Date of this Pole 
License is [insert date], which is the first day of the month after Licensee obtained all 
Regulatory Approvals. 
 
This letter also confirms that Licensee has submitted all required insurance information 
to the City. A check for the full License Fee for the first License Year of this Pole 
License is attached. If this is Licensee’s first Acknowledgment Letter under the Master 
License, the required Surety Bond is also attached. 
 
Please acknowledge the City’s receipt of this letter and the items listed below, and issue 
the City’s approval for Licensee to begin installation of Equipment on the License Area 
by signing and returning a copy of this letter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
__________________________ 
[insert name] 
[insert title] 
 
Enc. 
[ ] [insert all Regulatory Approvals issued by the City] 
[ ] Insurance certificates 
[ ] Contractor's bonds and insurance certificates 
[ ] Surety Bond 
[ ] First License Year's License Fee 
 



 

 

 
SCHEDULE A-4 

 
LICENSE FEE AND DEFAULT FEE SCHEDULE 

 
Pole License No. ___ 

 
LICENSE FEE SCHEDULE 

annual License 
Fee per 

licensed Pole 
1 Carrier 2 Carriers 3 Carriers 

2017 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2018 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2019 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2020 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2021 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2022 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2023 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2024 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2025 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2026 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

2027 $[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

$[insert 
amount] 

 
DEFAULT FEE SCHEDULE 

VIOLATION INITIAL NOTICE EACH FOLLOW-UP 
NOTICE 

unauthorized installations $350 $400 
failure to make required 
repairs 

$300 $350 

access violations $300 $350 
insurance violations $300 $350 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PRE-APPROVED DESIGNS ON EXISTING POLES 
 

[City and Licensee to negotiate and agree on Pre-Approved Designs and include 
detailed equipment specifications and drawings in this Exhibit B] 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 

PRE-APPROVED DESIGNS ON REPLACEMENT POLES 
 

[City and Licensee to negotiate and agree on Pre-Approved Designs and include 
detailed equipment specifications and drawings in this Exhibit B] 

 





3.2 

 COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 10, 2017 

 
 
TO: The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Support of Taking Back Our Community Coalition 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Assembly Bill 109, Proposition 47, and Proposition 57 have reshaped the approach to public 
safety issues in the State of California.  While the measures have certainly resulted in the desired 
outcome sought by California’s criminal justice system, the cumulative effect of these legislative 
actions have also had significant adverse effects resulting in public safety challenges.  Most 
notably, municipalities across California are reporting increases in property and violent crime 
that law enforcement believe is related to the legislative changes that have been enacted over the 
past several years.  
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
At the October 25, 2016 meeting, the City Council adopted and approved Resolution 
No. 2016-65, which declared support for accountability in criminal prosecution and sentencing in 
California.  The main tenets of that resolution were included in the City of Whittier’s efforts to 
bring forth a resolution asking the League of California Cities to initiate and facilitate further 
discussion between the Governor, the State Legislature, and other key public safety stakeholders 
regarding the recent legislative changes that have been made to California’s criminal justice 
system.  That resolution, which includes Lakewood’s concurrence, was approved by the League 
General Assembly at their annual conference in September. 
 
The city manager was approached by the City of Monrovia regarding the Taking Back Our 
Community Coalition.  Taking Back Our Community is a new coalition of California cities and 
agencies (21 as of this writing – list attached) advocating for the State to engage in further 
discussions to identify solutions for addressing the unintended consequences of changes made to 
California’s criminal justice system through the enactment of Assembly Bill 109, Proposition 47, 
and Proposition 57.  The Coalition is led by the Cities of Arcadia, Glendora, and Monrovia, with 
Monrovia acting as the lead administrative agency.  
 
The formation of the Taking Back Our Community Coalition represents positive steps to 
mitigate the emerging public safety issues related to changes to California’s overall criminal 
justice system.  The Coalition is quickly growing to include many cities in our region looking to 
be part of a positive solution.  All members of the Coalition pay a fee of $1,500 per year and 
funds are available in this year’s budget.  The funds raised will be used to coordinate the 
development of an overall public education and outreach campaign.  Lead Coalition members are 
still determining the appropriate structure on how to effectively coordinate with other Coalition 
members and in managing the budget. 



Council Agenda 
October 10, 2017 
Page 2 

 
If approved, the City Council Public Safety Committee will be involved in the process by 
reviewing the issues and solutions that emerge from this Coalition, specifically how it applies to 
public safety in Lakewood and the following Coalition objectives: 
 

 To raise public awareness of why crime is increasing in our State 
 To provide a consistent message surrounding the facts and impacts of Assembly Bill 109, 

Proposition 47, and Proposition 57 
 To advocate for State legislative changes to improve law enforcement's ability to respond 

to crime 
 
The benefits of becoming a Coalition member include: 
 

 Official Taking Back Our Community branding will include the City’s logo 
 Infographic video summarizing the issue along with impactful video stories told by 

community members impacted by crime increasing 
 In-depth legislative tracking and analysis related to proposed State legislation 
 Access to customizable outreach material to share with community members, including: 

o Informational Brochure 
o Comprehensive Fact Sheet on AB 109, Prop 47, and Prop 57 
o Sample Letter to State Lawmakers 

 Opportunity to regularly meet with regional members and guest speakers to further the 
Coalition’s objectives 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the City Council approve the agreement with the City of Monrovia and adopt the resolution 
to join the Taking Back Our Community Coalition. 
 
 
Carol Flynn Jacoby    Thaddeus McCormack 
Assistant City Manager    City Manager 



Taking Back Our Community Coalition Members 
 
Alhambra 
Arcadia 
Claremont 
Covina 
Duarte 
Glendora 
Irwindale 
La Canada Flintridge 
La Verne 
Monrovia 
Monterey Park 
Pasadena 
Pomona 
San Marino 
Sierra Madre 
Temple City 
West Covina 
Whittier 
San Gabriel Valley Council of Governments 
California Police Chiefs 
Association of Deputy District Attorneys 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-56 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD TO JOIN THE TAKING BACK OUR 
COMMUNITY COALITION FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
ESTABLISHING A UNIFIED MESSAGE TO ADVOCATE FOR 
COMMON SENSE CHANGES TO CALIFORNIA’S CRIMINAL 
JUSTICE SYSTEM THAT ADDRESS THE PUBLIC SAFETY 
IMPACTS RESULTING FROM ASSEMBLY BILL 109, 
PROPOSITION 47, AND PROPOSITION 57 

 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES RESOLVE AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 

WHEREAS, Coalition members agree that recent State legislative changes – namely 
Assembly Bill 109, Proposition 47, and Proposition 57 – made some changes to California’s 
criminal justice system that were needed and necessary; and 
 

WHEREAS, Assembly Bill 109, Proposition 47, and Proposition 57, have had negative 
public safety impacts that have affected cities, counties, and other public safety organizations 
throughout California; and 
 

WHEREAS, through a collaborative effort, the Coalition seeks to advocate for common 
sense legislative solutions that will enhance the criminal justice system in California more 
equitably. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Taking Back Our Community Coalition Members agree as 
follows:  
 

1. The City of Monrovia shall act as the lead agency with respect to the administration of 
the Coalition, and shall act as treasurer for the Coalition, responsible for the collection of fees 
from Coalition members and the payment of costs incurred on behalf of the Coalition; and 

 
2. In order to achieve the objectives of the Coalition, each Member agrees to pay one 

thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00) on an annual basis to the lead agency as long as the 
Member wishes to remain in the Coalition.  

 
3. Each Member shall designate one or more representatives to be an active participant in 

Coalition meetings, and facilitate the exchange and dissemination of information to further the 
Coalition’s objectives. 
 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the City of Lakewood does hereby join the Taking Back Our 
Community Coalition as of October 10, 2017, as authorized by the signer below. 



Resolution No. 2017-56 
Page 2 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 10TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2017. 

 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
City Attorney 





 

 



jmayberr
Typewritten Text
LHSA-1







 


	RI-1, Minutes
	RI-2, Personnel Transactions
	RI-3, Register of Demands
	RI-4, Wireless Telecommunications Fees
	RI-5, Agreement with Tyler Technologies Inc. "MUNIS"
	RI-6, Affirming Budgeted Projects - RMRA
	1.1, Review of PEC Decision on CUP 948, 6741 Carson Street
	1.2, Award of Bid for PW 2017-6, Entry Gate Improvements - Equestrian Center
	1.3, Ordinance No. 2017-8, Pertaining to Date of General Municipal Election
	3.1, Master License Agreement for Telecommunications Wireless Facilities on Public Right-of-Way
	3.2, Support of Taking Back Our Community Coalition
	LHSA-1, Register of Demands



